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Recording of Meeting and Disclaimer 

Please note every Ordinary Council Meeting (other than items deemed confidential under 
section 89(2) of the Local Government Act 1989) is being recorded and streamed live on 
Whitehorse City Council’s website in accordance with Council's Live Streaming and Recording 
of Meetings Policy. A copy of the policy can also be viewed on Council’s website.  

The recording will be archived and made publicly available on Council's website within 48 
hours after the meeting on www.whitehorse.vic.gov.au for a period of three years (or as 
otherwise agreed to by Council).  

Live streaming allows everyone to watch and listen to the meeting in real time, giving you 
greater access to Council debate and decision making and encouraging openness and 
transparency.  
All care is taken to maintain your privacy; however, as a visitor in the public gallery, your 
presence may be recorded. By remaining in the public gallery, it is understood your consent is 

given if your image is inadvertently broadcast.  

Opinions expressed or statements made by individual persons during a meeting are not the 
opinions or statements of Whitehorse City Council. Council therefore accepts no liability for any 
defamatory remarks that are made during a meeting. 
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AGENDA 

1 PRAYER 
 

1a Prayer for Council 

We give thanks, O God, for the Men and Women of the past whose generous 
devotion to the common good has been the making of our City. 

Grant that our own generation may build worthily on the foundations they have 
laid. 

Direct our minds that all we plan and determine, is for the wellbeing of our City.  

Amen. 

 

1b Aboriginal Reconciliation Statement 

“In the spirit of reconciliation, Whitehorse City Council acknowledges the 
Wurundjeri people as the traditional custodians of the land we are meeting on.  
We pay our respects to their Elders past and present.” 

2 WELCOME AND APOLOGIES   

3 DISCLOSURE OF CONFLICT OF INTERESTS 

4 CONFIRMATION OF MINUTES OF PREVIOUS MEETINGS 

Minutes of the Ordinary Council Meeting 25 November 2019 and Confidential 
Ordinary Council Meeting 25 November 2019. 

RECOMMENDATION 

That the minutes of the Ordinary Council Meeting 25 November 2019 and 
Confidential Ordinary Council Meeting 25 November 2019 having been 
circulated now be confirmed. 

  

5 RESPONSES TO QUESTIONS 
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6 NOTICES OF MOTION 

6.1 Notice of Motion No 127: Cr Cutts 
 

That Council approves and allocates $15,000 from the 2019/2020 
Council Budget to the Heatherdale Tennis Club, as part contribution to 
the construction of a $65,000 deck/viewing platform/entertainment area 
to assist in revitalising the club.  

 

6.2 Notice of Motion No 128: Cr Davenport 
 

That Council: 

1. Notes Council’s resolution dated 15 March 2010 which specifies 
that 60 percent of the predicted new Open Space Contributions 
received annually be held within the Open Space Reserve for the 
purpose of acquiring open space and committed as opportunities 
arise; 

2. Notes that the Open Space Reserve balance is significantly higher 
that the amounts forecast within Whitehorse Open Space Strategy 

3. Seeks a report from Council Officers which outiline the impact of 
changing open space acquisitions to 40 percent of the Open Space 
Contributions with the balance to be utilised to upgrade existing 
open space.  

  

7 PETITIONS   

8 URGENT BUSINESS 
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9 COUNCIL REPORTS 

9.1 CITY DEVELOPMENT  

Strategic Planning   

9.1.1 Amendment C216 Exhibition Results: 42 - 48 Glenburnie Road, 
Mitcham 

FILE NUMBER: 19/262070 

ATTACHMENT  

 
SUMMARY 

This report provides Council with the results of exhibition of Planning Scheme Amendment 
C216whse (C216) to apply a Heritage Overlay (HO296) to the land at 42-48 Glenburnie 
Road, Mitcham. 

The Amendment was exhibited from 26 September to 28 October 2019. A total of fourteen 
submissions were received during the exhibition period, all of which were supportive of the 
amendment. No objecting submissions were received. 

The subject property was identified as being of potential heritage significance in past 
heritage assessments and was identified as requiring further heritage investigation when 
funding became available. 

The report outlines the engagement methods used during exhibition of the Amendment and 
recommends that Council adopt the Amendment and request the Minister for Planning 
approve planning scheme amendment C216. 
 
RECOMMENDATION 

That Council: 

1. Adopt Amendment C216 to the Whitehorse Planning Scheme as shown in 
Attachment 1 in accordance with Section 29(1) of the Planning and Environment 
Act 1987. 

2. Submit the adopted amendment to the Minister for Planning for approval in 
accordance with Section 31(1) of the Planning and Environment Act 1987. 

 
BACKGROUND 

The property at 42-48 Glenburnie Road, Mitcham was originally identified as having 
potential heritage significance in the City of Whitehorse Heritage Review 2001 (Vol 4), but 
no assessment was undertaken at that time. In 2003, Council's Heritage Advisor at the time 
undertook a preliminary inspection of the house and found that "although the building 
appears to be in good condition, it is not of sufficient significance to be included in the 
heritage overlay. It does not display any features of distinction, and there are other 
representative examples of such houses already in the Heritage Overlay. Historical research 
may reveal that this residence is important historically. (S. Westbrooke, 3 April 2003)." 

However, the Whitehorse Heritage Review 2012 (in Schedule 1) confirmed the potential 
heritage significance of the property  and gave it a preliminary 'B' grading, indicating that it 
was considered worthy of more detailed assessment. At the time of the review, only those 
buildings graded 'A' were able to be assessed due to budget constraints. No further funding 
was allocated in the intervening time and accordingly, B-graded places are only investigated 
on an "as needs" basis. 
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On 7 November 2018, Council, under delegation, issued a Notice of Refusal to Grant a 
Permit (WH/2018/45) for the construction of ten (10) double storey dwellings on the subject 
site. The basis for the refusal was generally the bulk, scale and density of the proposal and 
its impact on the treed character of the area. A total of 156 objections were received in 
response to notification of this application, with heritage being raised as a ground for 
concern.  

Planning Scheme Amendment C215 and C216 

Council then received an application under Section 29A of the Building Act 1993 for 
demolition of the dwelling, placing the property under immediate threat. This known threat 
justified an application for interim heritage controls under Planning Scheme Amendment 
C215, which was exempt from the usual notice and exhibition requirements. The demolition 
application was suspended pending a decision by the Minister for Planning on the 
amendment request. 

Council was successful in achieving the interim heritage control and on the 16 May 2019 
Notice of Approval of Amendment C215 appeared in the Victoria Government Gazette. The 
interim control is due to expire on 31 March 2020.  

Planning scheme amendment C216 seeks to apply a heritage overlay (HO296) to the site 
on a permanent basis. The overlay applies to the entire site to ensure that any future 
development is managed in a manner that is sensitive to the existing dwelling. 

 DISCUSSION 

The proposed amendment is required to provide heritage protection to the dwelling 
‘Minamere’ at 42-48 Glenburnie Road, Mitcham (see map 1). Minamere is a single storey 
timber Californian Bungalow that was constructed in c1926. Elements that contribute to the 
significance of the place include (but are not limited to): 

 The house’s original external form, materials and detailing 

 The house’s high level of integrity to its original design and construction 

 The house’s setting in a large garden allotment sited to appreciate the views to the 
Dandenong Ranges 

 Surviving mature trees particularly the Monterey Cypress (Cupressus macrocarpa) and 
Mediterranean Cypress (Cupressus sempervirens) on the north boundary and the 
English Oak (Quercus robur) in the driveway turning circle 
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Map 1: Location of 42-48 Glenburnie Road 

Minamere is of historical and architectural significance to the City of Whitehorse. It is 
historically significant for its association with the development of the Mitcham area in the 
1920s and represents the pursuit by the middle class of a semi-rural lifestyle during the 
interwar years. Minamere is of architectural significance as a fine, highly intact and 
representative example of a large Californian Bungalow style house. It displays typical 
characteristics of the style, popular in the 1920s and 30s across Melbourne, including a low-
pitched cross-gabled roof clad with terracotta tiles, exposed rafter ends, projecting boxed 
windows and wide verandahs with square timber posts. 

The curtilage of the heritage overlay extends to the property boundaries ensuring that the 
garden setting which contributes to Minamere’s significance is protected. Applying the 
Heritage Overlay to the entire site will ensure that any future development of the site is 
undertaken in a way that respects the architectural and historical significance of the place. 

The Amendment is supported by a Heritage Citation and other amendment documentation 
found at Attachment 1. 

Planning Permit Application WH/2018/45 

Planning Application WH/2018/45 for a multi-dwelling development of the land was refused 
by Council, under delegation, on 7 November 2018. This resulted in a review by the 
Victorian Civil and Administrative Tribunal (VCAT). The matter was the subject of a series of 
compulsory conferences, from December 2018 through to September 2019, at which an 
agreement was reached between parties. The parties agreed to a planning permit being 
issued subject to changes shown on amended plans and through permit conditions. 
Significantly, the amended proposal allowed for the retention of the existing dwelling on the 
land and the number of new dwellings reduced from ten to six. 
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Based on the information available to the Tribunal and the discussion at the compulsory 
conference on 26 September 2019, the Tribunal ordered that planning permit WH/2018/45 
be issued. The permit allows: 

 Construction of more than two dwellings on a lot in the Neighbourhood 
Residential Zone (Schedule 1); 

 Demolition of outbuildings in the Heritage Overlay (Schedule 296); 

 Construction of dwellings and associated works in the Heritage Overlay 
(Schedule 296); 

 Removal of vegetation in the Significant Landscape Overlay (Schedule 7) and 
under Clause 52.17 of the Whitehorse Planning Scheme; 

 Buildings and works in a Significant Landscape Overlay (Schedule 7). 

CONSULTATION 

Council’s Heritage Advisor 

Advice was sought from Council’s Heritage Advisor with regard to the significance of the site 
and whether it warranted heritage protection. The Heritage Advisor was supportive of 
applying a heritage overlay to the site and prepared the documentation necessary to 
accompany an application to the Minister for Planning. This documentation included a 
Heritage Citation and a Statement of Significance which can be found in Attachment 1. 

Although the development outcome for 42-48 Glenburnie Road was negotiated by parties at 
VCAT, Council’s heritage advisor provided some final design advice on different details of 
the development. Recommended changes to the development plans included a revision to 
the roof pitch and materials, and the design of verandah posts and balustrades on the 
proposed dwellings. This advice was incorporated in condition 1 of Planning Permit 
WH/2018/45. 

Public Exhibition 

Amendment C216 for the permanent Heritage Overlay on 42 – 48 Glenburnie Road, 
Mitcham was exhibited from 26 September to 28 October 2019.  

A total of fourteen submissions were received during the exhibition period, all of which were 
supportive of the heritage overlay being applied to the subject site on a permanent basis. 
Many of the submissions commended Council on the efforts being made to acknowledge 
and preserve Minamere for its historical and architectural significance, including  

’I applaud the Council’s decision to make this application. I believe it is important that 
we preserve some of the history of how the area once was, for future generations to 
see.’  

Another submitter commented: 

’This building has significant historical value to the street and local community. The 
building represents a homestead style structure with cultural value worthy of heritage 
status. Buildings like this are very rare and should be preserved to ensure we protect 
this culturally significant structure.’ 

A submission from the Glenburnie Road Resident’s Association acknowledged the 
proposed development of the site that was recently agreed to at VCAT and referred to the 
protection of Minamere as the ‘centrepiece’ of the development. 
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Date Notification 

20 September 2019 (mail) Posted notices to:  

 Neighbouring landowners and occupiers 

 Interest groups including: 

 Whitehorse Historical Society 

 Glenburnie Road Resident’s Association 

 Mitcham Resident’s Association 

 Blackburn & District Tree Preservation Society 

20 September 2019 (mail) Letters posted to: 

 Owner of the land 

 Occupier of the property 

 Permit applicants 

20 September 2019 (mail) Letters posted to Prescribed Ministers 

23 September 2019 Notice appears in Whitehorse Leader 

26 September 2019 Notice appears in Victoria Government Gazette 

Duration of Exhibition period Documents available on Whitehorse City Council website 
and at the Whitehorse Civic Centre, Box Hill Town Hall and 
Forest Hill Chase service centres and libraries in 
Whitehorse 

Prior to the completion of the exhibition period, a request was made to the Minister for 
Planning to approve an amendment under Section 20A of the Planning and Environment 
Act, 1987, to extend the interim Heritage Overlay to the property at Glenburnie Road, 
Mitcham for an additional 12 months until 31 March 2021. This was to allow the finalisation 
of Amendment C216 and the introduction of a permanent heritage control. As exhibition is 
now complete and no objecting submissions have been received, the Minister may approve 
the permanent controls before the interim controls expire.  

FINANCIAL IMPLICATIONS 

Type of Fee Budget Expenditure 

Consideration by the Minister of a request to 
approve the amendment in accordance with 
Section 35 of the Act. 

$481.30  

Publishing Gazettal of the Amendment in the 
Victorian Government Gazette and Leader 
Newspapers 

$1,000.00  

   

Sub Total Expenditure $1481.30  

   

Total Expenditure $1481.30  

There were no submissions requiring consideration by Planning Panels Victoria, therefore 
saving Council approximately $12,000 in panel fees and potential expert witness costs as 
well as officer resources. 
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POLICY IMPLICATIONS 

The application of the Heritage Overlay through planning scheme amendment C216 is in 
line with Strategic Direction 2 of the Council Plan which is to maintain and enhance our built 
environment to ensure a liveable and sustainable city. A balance has been achieved by 
applying a heritage overlay to the site while negotiating a development outcome that 
incorporates, and is sympathetic to, the heritage building. 

 
 

ATTACHMENT 

1 Amendment C216 documentation     
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Engineering and Environmental   

9.1.2 Box Hill to Ringwood Shared Use Path: Laburnum Section 
  

ATTACHMENT  

 

SUMMARY 

The purpose of this report is for Council to consider a proposal from the Department of 
Transport (formerly VicRoads) for the alignment of the Box Hill to Ringwood Shared Use 
Path between Middleborough Road and Blackburn Railway Station known as the Laburnum 
section. 

It is recommended that Council provide consent to the Department of Transport proposal to 
allow the construction of the Laburnum section of the Box Hill to Ringwood Shared Use 
Path. 

RECOMMENDATION 

That Council: 

1. Endorse the proposed alignment and detailed design plans for the Laburnum 
section of the Box Hill to Ringwood Shared Use Path between Middleborough 
Road and Blackburn Railway Station as per VicRoads plans dated 2 August 2019;  

2. Provide agreement to the Department of Transport to use part of Laburnum Park, 
Laburnum Street and Main Street for the construction of the Laburnum section of 
the Box Hill to Ringwood Shared Use Path, consistent with the proposal; 

3. Provide delegation to the Chief Executive Officer to approve the final detailed 
design of the proposal for the Laburnum section of the Box Hill to Ringwood 
Shared Use Path, including the possible inclusion of the alternate layout within 
Laburnum Park consistent with the proposal;    

4. Acknowledge the community consultation undertaken by the Department of 
Transport and feedback received regarding the proposal for the Laburnum 
section of the Box Hill to Ringwood Shared Use Path. 

 

BACKGROUND 

The Victorian Government has completed several sections of the shared use path, most 
recently the Blackburn section (Blackburn Railway Station to Nunawading Railway Station) 
and Heatherdale section (Brunswick Park to Heatherdale Road) as part of the level crossing 
removal projects for Blackburn Road and Heatherdale Road. Due to staffing changes at the 
Department of Transport (DoT) and reprioritisation of projects, this shared use path proposal 
was put on hold for some time and recommenced earlier this year. 

The final section of the shared use path remaining to be constructed is the Laburnum 
section between Middleborough Road and Blackburn Railway Station. Following significant 
stakeholder engagement with the Council, Council officers, bicycle advocacy groups, 
members of the community and information sessions, the DoT have developed a proposal 
for this final section of the shared use path.  

Council has since received a letter from DoT dated 22 November 2019 seeking Council 
approval of the proposed alignment – Refer Attachment 1. Note: The Laburnum section 
alignment plans and Community Feedback Report referenced in the letter from DoT are 
provided as Attachments 3 and 5 respectively in this report.   

To complete the construction of the Laburnum section of the Box Hill to Ringwood Shared 
Use Path by the middle of 2020, the DoT needs to allow for tendering in December 2019 
and appointment of a contractor in early 2020.  
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DISCUSSION 

The Laburnum section of the Box Hill to Ringwood Shared Use Path between 
Middleborough Road and Blackburn Railway Station includes the following: 

 The installation of new traffic signals across Laburnum Street south of the railway line 

 Installation of bicycle ‘sharrow’ line marking, bicycle signage and permanent 40km/h 
speed limit along Laburnum Street between Whitehorse Road and Main Street 

 Installation of raised intersection treatment at the intersection of Laburnum Street and 
Main Street 

 Installation of exclusive bicycle lanes along the west side of Main Street between 
Laburnum Street and South Parade. On-street car parking, traffic lanes and outdoor 
trading will be retained. The works will require the removal of five existing trees along 
the west side of Main Street.  

 A modified T-intersection with reversed traffic priority, to be introduced at the 
intersection of Main Street and South Parade including the installation of pedestrian 
(zebra) crossings. This will also include altered on-street car parking and kerb 
extensions on South Parade. No on-street car parking spaces will be removed.   

Attached is a map of the Laburnum section of the Box Hill to Ringwood Shared Use Path 
alignment between Middleborough Road and Blackburn Railway Station – Refer Attachment 
2. Also attached are the alignment plans for the Laburnum section prepared by VicRoads – 
Refer Attachment 3. 

Prior to finalising the alignment of the shared use path, DoT in discussion with Council and 
stakeholder groups considered several alternate options, however these have been 
discounted for various reasons.  

It is noted that following an on-site meeting at Laburnum Park on Wednesday 13 November 
2019 between Council officers, representatives of DoT and the bicycle advocacy group 
WATAG, a possible alternate layout (with 2 possible options) has been presented by the 
DoT within Laburnum Park, to provide a path which minimises impact on open space, trees, 
vegetation and the existing playground – Refer Attachment 4. The DoT is currently working 
on the detailed design for the alternate layout with assistance from Council officers, which 
will be finalised in the coming weeks. 

VicRoads engaged an independent road safety auditor to review the Laburnum section of 
the shared use path alignment. The audit report has indicated the following:  

 The proposed route utilising the western side of Main Street is considered to be safer 
than utilising Diggers Way and is more intuitive and connected to the existing shared 
path along the northern side of South Parade. 

 That the alternative alignment through Laburnum Park is possible subject to meeting 
relevant guidelines and standards including appropriate clearances between the path 
and obstructions such as trees and poles. 

 The implementation of traffic signals, raised intersections, pedestrian crossings, bicycle 
‘sharrow’ line marking, bicycle signage, permanent 40km/h speed limit and an 
exclusive bicycle path on Main Street are considered safe and appropriate for the 
intended use.   

CONSULTATION 

The DoT have maintained ongoing stakeholder engagement with Council officers, the 
community and interest groups throughout this project. During the past two years, DoT have 
met with Council Officers on six separate occasions and with bicycle advocacy groups 
MeBUG and WATAG on two and four occasions respectively. The DoT have also met with 
Paul Hamer – State Member for Box Hill and twice with Metro Trains Melbourne 
representatives regarding this project. Council officers and DoT have also met with the 
Central Ward Councillors to discuss the project. 
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In addition, extensive community consultation was undertaken by DoT consistent with 
Council’s request, during the briefing to Council by the DoT on this proposal. DoT recently 
conducted two community drop-in sessions regarding the proposal. The sessions were held 
on Monday 21 October 2019 at Blackburn North Community Centre and on Wednesday 30 
October 2019 at The Avenue Uniting Church in Blackburn. In order to notify local residents 
of the drop-in sessions and the opportunity to provide feedback on the proposal, DoT 
carried out a letter drop to 1700 properties in the surrounding area. The proposal and the 
sessions were also advertised on the VicRoads webpage. The DoT also visited 11 traders 
along Main Street on Tuesday 15 October 2019 to seek their view and comments on the 
proposal.  

The DoT advised that 70 people attended both sessions and the feedback received was 
mainly positive, given that there was no loss of parking, minimal impact on trees, no use of 
Elmore Walk and the proposal provides a safe environment for cyclists. Attached is a copy 
of the Community Feedback report from the drop-in sessions – Refer Attachment 5. 

FINANCIAL IMPLICATIONS 

The construction of the Box Hill to Ringwood Shared Use Path is fully funded by the 
Victorian Government. Council will be undertaking ongoing maintenance of the shared use 
path including on-street infrastructure such as traffic signals, raised intersection treatments, 
line marking, signage, graffiti removal etc. once it is satisfactorily constructed and open to 
the public. It is estimated that the annual maintenance cost for the Laburnum section of the 
shared use path is $20,000 per annum. 

In addition, subject to tender prices received to construct the Laburnum section of the 
shared use path, DoT may request Council to contribute to the possible relocation of the 
playground within Laburnum Park subject to the finalised alternate layout of the shared use 
path within the park. 

Council previously considered the responsibility for ongoing maintenance of the shared use 
path from Box Hill to Ringwood at its meeting on 29 January 2013. Council resolved at that 
time to maintain the path on Council roads and on parts of railway land (excluding railway 
station forecourts) at its cost, subject to certain conditions as outlined in the Council report. 
On-going maintenance of the Laburnum section of the shared use path will be subject to this 
agreement. The shared use path will be a valuable community asset.  

POLICY IMPLICATIONS 

The Box Hill to Ringwood Shared Use Path is in accordance with the Whitehorse Integrated 
Transport Strategy 2011 and the Whitehorse Cycling Strategy 2016. 
 

 ATTACHMENT 

1 Letter from Department of Transport to Whitehorse   
2 Map of Laburnum Section   
3 Laburnum Section Alignment Plans   
4 Laburnum Park: Possible Alternate Layout   
5 Community Feedback Report    
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9.2 INFRASTRUCTURE 

9.2.1 Council Approval to Amend Maximum Expenditure Threshold 
(Contract 30053) Landscape Construction Services 

FILE NUMBER: SF18/68  

 

SUMMARY 

The purpose of this report is to seek approval to amend the maximum expenditure threshold 
available against Contract 30053, Landscape Construction Services. 

As a result of efforts to consolidate a number of procurement activities under this one 
central contract, approval is sought to amend the maximum expenditure threshold available 
against the full term of the contract to $8,500,000. 
 
RECOMMENDATION 

That Council approve an amended maximum expenditure threshold of $8,500,000 
including GST for Contract 30053, Landscape Construction Services Panel. 

 
BACKGROUND 

The Council Plan sets strategic directions to ‘Maintain and enhance our built environment to 
ensure a liveable and sustainable city’ and ‘Protect and enhance our open space and 
natural environment’. 

This contract is for the provision of Landscape Construction Services including earthworks, 
grassing, planting, path works, furniture, fence and bollard installation, to support in house 
resources in the delivery of landscape construction services to all of Council’s open space 
including gardens, road reserves, traffic management devices, recreation reserves, 
bushland areas and general parkland.  

The term of the contract is three years which commenced on 24 April 2018, with an option 
to extend the contract for a further two years at Council’s discretion. 

DISCUSSION 

The Landscape Construction Services contract commenced on 24 April 2018. The total 
estimated expenditure was listed in the tender evaluation report at $2,500,000 over five 
years. This figure was based on the total expenditure of the previous Landscape 
Construction Services Contract that expired in 2018. 

Since the commencement of the contract, the number of projects where green infrastructure 
and landscaping is required has increased. Many departments now utilise this contract 
enabling Council to efficiently and cost effectively undertake landscape construction works 
associated with a range of Capital Works projects. Utilising the already market tested panel 
of contractors provides the most cost effective solution, with a high level of risk mitigation 
and delivery of landscape outcomes to a consistently high standard.  

As a result of the increased projects undertaken under this contract, the previously 
estimated total expenditure needs to be revised. The new total estimated expenditure over 
the full five years of the contract, including two tear extension is $8,500,000 including GST. 

CONSULTATION 

Staff from Council’s Procurement team have assisted with providing current contract 
expenditure details and advice on this process in line with Council’s adopted Procurement 
Policy. 
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FINANCIAL IMPLICATIONS 

Contract 30053 for Landscape Services Construction Panel is based on an agreed schedule 
of rates. The rates are subject to a CPI adjustment on each anniversary of the contract.  An 
amended maximum expenditure threshold of $8,500,000 for the full term of the contract is 
being sought. 

Expenditure under this the contract will be from adopted operational and capital works 
budgets. 
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9.3 HUMAN SERVICES 

9.3.1 2019 Annual 5 Star Food Safe Program 

  

 

SUMMARY 

To inform Council of the results of the 5 Star Food Safe program for 2019 and to 
recommend three food businesses for the Food Premises of the Year Awards for 2019. 

The report also provides Council with information on the new branding of the 5 Star Food 
Safe program and implementing the new Department of Health and Human Services 
(DHHS) Food Safety Risk Assessment Guidelines for 2020. 
 
RECOMMENDATION 

That Council endorse: 

1. The following businesses as the recipients of the 5 Star Food Premises of the 
Year Award for 2019: - 

 Class 1: Victoria Grange Aged Care - 502-514 Burwood Highway, VERMONT 
SOUTH 

 Class 2: Zouki Café - Box Hill Hospital - 8 Arnold Street, BOX HILL 

 Community Groups: Livingstone Primary School – 25-29 Livingstone Road, 
VERMONT SOUTH 

2. The awarding of Certificates of Achievement in food safety for premises listed in 
Appendix A. 

3. The new branding of the Whitehorse 5 Star Food Safe program  

4. The integration of the new DHHS Food Safety Risk Assessment Guidelines to 
strengthen the focus on risk based on Hazard Analysis and Critical Control 
Points (HACCP) principles 

 
BACKGROUND 

The aim of Council’s 5 Star Food Safe program is to improve the safety of food being 
manufactured, handled, stored and sold in the municipality. The program provides meaningful 
and relevant information to Council, food business proprietors and consumers about the 
standard of commercial food safety being achieved in the municipality. 

The program assesses medium to high risk food premises (as per Department of Health 
Risk Classification) against national food safety standards and provides a range of 
incentives aimed at encouraging proprietors to achieve standards of excellence in food 
safety. 

One of these incentives is the provision of an annual 5 Star Award to acknowledge food 
businesses achieving the highest level of excellence in food safety during the year. There 
are three categories of food businesses, which are awarded the “Food Premises of the 
Year: - 

 Class 1 (eg Aged Care, Child Care, Hospitals etc) 

 Class 2 (eg Restaurant, Cafe, Take-Away, Delicatessen, Bakery, Supermarket) 

 Community Groups (eg School Canteens) 

The recipients of the Food Premises of the year 2019 for the categories outlined above are 
to be awarded a plaque and a cheque ($600 for Class 1 and 2 premises and $300 for 
community groups) which will be presented by the Mayor. 
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Results  

Overall there were 815 Food Safety Assessments (FSA) conducted during 2019. The 
results for 2019 are outlined in the following table which includes comparative results for 
prior years. 
 

Council Star 

Rating 

Compliance 
Rating 

2019 2018 2017 2016 2015 

Five Stars 

Excellent 

 

 

Compliant 

238 

(29.2%) 

226 

(28%) 

208 

(26.6%) 

203 

(27.3%) 

187 

(25.5%) 

Four Stars 

Very Good 

363 

(44.5%) 

341 

(42.2%) 

337 

(43.2%) 

283 

(38.0%) 

288 

(39.3%) 

Three Stars 

Satisfactory 

173 

(21.2%) 

188 

(23.3%) 

182 

(23.3%) 

202 

(27.2%) 

199 

(27.1%) 

Two Stars 

Unsatisfactory 

Major Non-
Compliance 

38 

(4.7) 

45 

(5.5%) 

42 

(5.4%) 

48 

(6.4%) 

49 

(6.7%) 

One Star 

Poor 

Critical Non-
Compliance 

3 

(0.4%) 

8 

(1%) 

12 

(1.5%) 

8 

(1.1%) 

10 

(1.4%) 

Total 815 808 781 744 733 

The businesses recommended for the “Food Premises of the Year” award for 2019 under 
the three categories are as follows: -  

Class 1: Victoria Grange Aged Care - 502-514 Burwood Highway, 
VERMONT SOUTH  

Class 2: Zouki Café - Box Hill Hospital - 8 Arnold Street, BOX HILL 

Community Groups: Livingstone Primary School – 25-29 Livingstone Road, 
VERMONT SOUTH 

Certificates of commendation in recognition of excellence in food safety standards are also 
recommended for 43 (5.3%) food businesses achieving a 5 star rating with a maximum 
assessment result of 100%. (Refer to Appendix A). 

DISCUSSION 

Star Ratings Defined 

A food premises achieving the 5 star and 4 star rating is one that demonstrates a high 
standard of compliance with legislative requirements with a score rating between 91% and 
100%. A 5 star rating also demonstrates best practice through implementing additional 
processes and maintaining records above and beyond legislative requirements.  

A food premises achieving the 3 star rating is one that reflects a score rating between 81% 
and 90% with the premises demonstrating satisfactory compliance with legislative 
requirements. 

A food premises achieving the 2 star and 1 star rating is one that demonstrates a low 
standard of compliance with legislative requirements, including the Food Standards Code 
and Food Safety Program, with a 2 star rating awarded for a score between 71% and 80% 
and a 1 star rating awarded for a score of 70% or below.  
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Food Safety Performance for 2019 

The results for the food safety rating for 2019 for businesses achieving 5 and 4 stars (29.2% 
and 44.5% respectively) demonstrates high standards being recorded and maintained 
across 73.7% of food businesses that were assessed. Overall this was a positive result with 
a significant improvement of 3.5% above the result for 2018 and in particular an increase of 
1.2% of business achieving 5 stars. 

Overall, food safety performance for food businesses within Whitehorse continues to remain 
high with 94.9% of premises being compliant. This result represents an improvement 
relative to the previous 3 years of 93.5% (2018), 93.1% (2017), 92.5% (2016) and 91.9% 
(2015). The result also compares favourably against the state average of 79.7% of premises 
being compliant based on 2018 data. 

A total of 41 premises (5.1%) achieved a rating that was below satisfactory with 4.7% 
receiving 2 Stars and 0.4% receiving 1 Star. While the objective of the FSA system is to 
have zero percent of premises achieving less than 3 stars unfortunately a small percentage 
of premises each year are assessed as being below the threshold. This result shows a 
positive downward trend in the proportion of these premises over the past 5 years.  

Unsatisfactory food safety performance is managed through Council’s food safety non-
compliance policy. The policy consists of a number of responses including the issuing of 
improvement notices, food act orders, increasing the number and frequency of inspections, 
the seizing of any unsafe foods, initiating the closure of a food premises, and instigating 
prosecution where deemed appropriate. PINs are also issued in situations where there is 
continued failure to comply with the requirements of the Food Act, but where the 
seriousness of the offence does not warrant legal prosecution. 

Overall Council’s Environmental Health Officers (EHOs) conducted approximately 400 non-
compliance / follow up inspections to ensure that identified food safety risks were managed, 
compliance achieved and acceptable food hygiene standards are maintained. This ensures 
that potential risks to the community are either eliminated or controlled.  

In summary, enforcement activities and education initiatives were conducted to ensure that 
all premises recording 1 and 2 stars undertook measures to address any food safety risks 
and were compliant within specified timelines and performing to a satisfactory level.  

Council’s EHOs work closely with the food industry to support compliance. They provide on-
going advice to businesses and promote the importance of maintaining food safety 
standards to build consumer confidence within the community. 

Council hosted a series of five workshops during the year to educate and support 
businesses on managing food allergens. There were over 140 attendees with one of the 
sessions hosted at the Box Hill Town Hall also translated in Chinese language.  

Promoting Council’s 5 Star Food Safe program  

Market research of council’s 5 star rating program conducted by the Department of Health 
and Human Services (DHHS) in 2017 through an independent consultant suggested that 
consumer awareness and understanding of the system could be enhanced and 
recommended a more recognisable and consistent identity. 

In response, Council’s Environmental Health Unit together with the Communications and 
Digital Marketing Team created a brand name and design to support the 5 Star rating 
system. This included consultation with food businesses which provided valuable feedback. 
The new name, “Whitehorse Food Safe”, and logo incorporate the key elements and 
messaging of “Whitehorse”, “Food Safety” and the “5 Star Rating”. 
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The new logo has been incorporated into Council’s website and will expand to star rating 
certificates for display by food businesses and other printed communications. 

Review of FHA Program 

DHHS have rolled out new food safety risk assessment guidelines for EHOs based on 
Hazard Analysis and Critical Control Point (HACCP) principles. Council’s EHOs have 
participated in training and trialling of the new guidelines which places a greater focus on 
identifying and analysing hazards and ensuring that risks are being managed through 
implementing adequate controls.  

The approach reinforces industry responsibility and accountability for preparing safe food, 
shifts the focus to the prevention and draws on scientific evidence to identify and mitigate 
food safety risk. Though this is consistent with Council’s 5 Star food safety assessment, it 
will require some minor changes to operational policy and EHO practice. 

CONSULTATION 

The Environmental Health Unit conducts annual Food Hygiene Assessment workshops.  
The purpose of the workshops is to report on results of food safety performance of 
businesses, discuss common non-compliance issues and to update proprietors on changes 
and requirements of the Food Hygiene Assessment System for the forthcoming year. The 
forum also provides an opportunity to update businesses on changes to legislative 
requirements. 

The Environmental Health Unit produces and distributes Guides on the 5 Star program to all 
registered premises annually. The Guides provide information on the FHA System that 
includes assessment criteria and how to achieve the 5 Star rating, as well as Best Practice 
records.   

FINANCIAL IMPLICATIONS 

The total budgeted expenditure of Council’s Food Safety Management Program is 
$850,000. Council receives about $650,000 in income which provides a total net cost to 
Council of $200,000 for the program. 
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Appendix A – Food Businesses receiving Certificates of Commendation  

Trading Name Address 

Bakers Delight Burwood One, Shop G 10/172-210 Burwood Highway, 
BURWOOD EAST 3151 

Baking Mummas 38 Junction Road, BLACKBURN NORTH VIC 3130 

Base Camp Kids 11/372-394 Whitehorse Road, NUNAWADING 3131 

Bellbird Private Hospital 190-198 Canterbury Road, BLACKBURN SOUTH 3130 

Blackburn High School Canteen 58-62 Springfield Road, BLACKBURN 3130 

Blue Cross Box Hill 40-56 Dorking Road, BOX HILL VIC 3128 

Box Hill Early Learning Child Care 
Centre & Kinder 

152 Dorking Road, BOX HILL NORTH VIC 3129 

Box Hill Hospital Kiosk 8 Arnold Street, BOX HILL VIC 3128 

Box Hill Motel 177 Station Street, BURWOOD 3125 

Bunnings Box Hill 259 Middleborough Road, BOX HILL SOUTH VIC 3128 

Casa Bambini Blackburn 502-504 Middleborough Road, BLACKBURN 3130 

Deakin & Community Childcare 
Co-operative Ltd 

Deakin University, 213-243 Burwood Highway, BURWOOD 
3125 

Ferguson Plarre Burwood K 4/172-210 Burwood Highway, BURWOOD EAST VIC 3151 

Good Sense Catering 54 Parkmore Road, FOREST HILL 3131 

Goodstart Early Learning Vermont 
- Canterbury Road South 

522-524 Canterbury Road, VERMONT 3133 

Got Cake 102 Vicki Street, FOREST HILL 3131 

Green & Wood Espresso 1/301 Burwood Highway, BURWOOD VIC 3125 

Greenwood Burwood East 6 Lakeside Drive, BURWOOD EAST VIC 3151 

Guardian Childcare & Education 
Blackburn Village 

50-52 Blackburn Road, BLACKBURN VIC 3130 

Little Raskals Kindergarten & 
Childcare Centre 

94 Springvale Road, NUNAWADING 3131 

Mary's Little Lambs Early Learning 
Centre 

27 Medway Street, BOX HILL NORTH VIC 3129 

Meals On Wheels Silver Grove 22 Silver Grove, NUNAWADING VIC 3131 

Mountainview Cottage 25 Mountainview Road, NUNAWADING 3131 

Nunawading Amateur Basketball 
Association 

320 Burwood Highway, BURWOOD EAST VIC 3151 

Red Apple Early Learning Centre 487-489 Canterbury Road, VERMONT 3133 

Sissy's Bix 7 Canterbury Road, BLACKBURN 3130 

Sketches Cafe Bar 273 Burwood Highway, BURWOOD 3125 

Smart Brown Catering 1022 Whitehorse Road, BOX HILL VIC 3128 

Starfish Early Learning Centre 
(Nunawading) 

24 Mountainview Road, NUNAWADING 3131 

Tinkabell Early Learning Centre 290-292 Mitcham Road, MITCHAM 3132 

Toast Nunawading 144 Junction Road, NUNAWADING VIC 3131 
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Trading Name Address 

Uniting East Burwood 220 Burwood Highway, BURWOOD EAST 3151 

Vermont Aged Care 770 Canterbury Road, VERMONT 3133 

Vermont Secondary College 27-63 Morack Road, VERMONT 3133 

Vinh Hao 3 Alfred Street, BLACKBURN 3130 

Watts Street Children's Centre 10-12 Watts Street, BOX HILL VIC 3128 

www.thecaterers.com.au 3 Kerr Lane, BOX HILL NORTH VIC 3129 

Zagar's Charcoal Grill 9 Royton Street, BURWOOD EAST 3151 

Guzman Y Gomez 9/249 Middleborough Road, BOX HILL SOUTH VIC 3128 

Showdown Events Old Orchard Primary School, 70-88 Koonung Road, 
BLACKBURN NORTH VIC 3130 

Cafe Cachet 2 Main Street, BLACKBURN VIC 3130 

Emmikins ELC 694-696 Whitehorse Road, MITCHAM VIC 3132 

Wattle Park Primary School 225 Warrigal Road, BURWOOD 3125 
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9.3.2 Whitehorse Health and Wellbeing Plan 2017-2021 

ATTACHMENT  

 

SUMMARY 

The Whitehorse Health and Wellbeing Plan 2017-2021 (the Plan) represents Council’s long 
term commitment  to working in partnership to improve the health and wellbeing of the 
municipality.  

The Plan builds upon the work undertaken in previous Municipal Public Health and 
Wellbeing plans, strengthening Council’s approach to supporting a healthy, vibrant, 
prosperous and sustainable community. 

This Report presents the key achievements of the Whitehorse Health and Wellbeing Plan 
2017-2021 for the 18 months commencing 1 January 2018 to 30 June 2019, under each of 
the relevant Council Strategic Directions as well as the Whitehorse Health and Wellbeing 
Plan goals. 

In the past, health and wellbeing reporting was undertaken on a calendar year basis. 
However, to reduce reporting duplication and streamline administration processes, the 
health and wellbeing reporting cycle has been adjusted to align with the Council Plan. 

In addition, Council is required to report to the Secretary of the Department of Health and 
Human Services on the measures it proposes to take to reduce family violence and respond 
to the needs of victims in the local community. 

RECOMMENDATION 

That Council notes achievements of the Whitehorse Health and Wellbeing Plan for 
the period 1 January 2018 to 30 June 2019. 

 
BACKGROUND 

The Whitehorse Health and Wellbeing Plan 2017-2021 (the Plan) represents Council’s long 
term commitment  to working in partnership to improve the health and wellbeing of the 
municipality.  

The Plan builds upon the work undertaken in previous Municipal Public Health and 
Wellbeing Plans, strengthening Council’s approach to supporting a healthy, vibrant, 
prosperous and sustainable community. This report describes the achievements of the 
Whitehorse Health and Wellbeing Plan 2017-2021 for the 18 month period commencing 1 
January 2018 to 30 June 2019, under each of the relevant Council Strategic Directions as 
well as the Whitehorse Health and Wellbeing Plan Goals.   

In the past, health and wellbeing reporting was undertaken on a calendar year basis. To 
reduce reporting duplication and streamline administration processes, the health and 
wellbeing reporting cycle has been adjusting to align with the Council Plan.  

Review and reporting requirements 

The Plan is developed and reported on taking into account Council’s responsibilities under 
the Victorian Public Health and Wellbeing Act 2008 (the Act), other legislation, policy 
contexts of the State and Federal Governments, emerging trends and what the community 
is identifying as their priorities.   

The Act states that ‘A Council must review its municipal public health and wellbeing plan 
annually and, if appropriate, amend the municipal public health and wellbeing plan’ The 
legislation does not prescribe what a review might entail. The review of the Plan involved 
documenting achievements for the 18 month period and as a result, there were no changes 
to the Plan’s goals or strategies. 
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DISCUSSION 

Whitehorse City Council plays an active leadership role in identifying and highlighting public 
and community health priorities throughout the municipality. The Plan’s implementation is a 
vehicle through which Council, its partners and the local community can respond to these 
priorities.   

Victorian Public Health and Wellbeing Act 2017 Amendment 

In 2017 the Victorian Government amended section 26 of the Public Health and Wellbeing 
Act 2008 (Vic) to require councils to specify measures and report on those  in regard to 
reducing family violence and responding to the needs of victims in the local community. A 
Council must report to the Secretary of the Department of Health and Human Services on 
the measures at the intervals specified by notice in writing.  The 2018/2019 report to the 
Secretary (as required) was submitted on 23 August 2019. Actions reported to the 
Department are included in the Appendix document in the section titled: Strategic Direction 
One, Family Violence Response and Prevention.  

Implementation of the Plan 

Implementation of the Plan, in partnership with key stakeholders, guides Council and the 
community’s efforts in achieving the health and wellbeing goals of the City of Whitehorse, 
which are: 

1. Connected, safe, respected and resilient people, families and communities 
2. Accessible, safe and welcoming places for all people 
3. A sustainable environment and shared open spaces 
4. Communicating, actively engaged Council 
5. Economic opportunity for people 

The Plan is a key Council document that provides a strategic planning focus, promotes 
partnerships and networks, highlights local health issues, involves all departments of 
Council, enables the integration of a social model of health and articulates links to regional, 
state and national health priorities.  
 
Council Plan alignment  

The Whitehorse Health and Wellbeing Plan 2017-2021 identified numerous strategic 
activities which are aligned with and reported under the Council Plan. These activities 
contribute to the health and wellbeing of the municipality. The Appendix document to this 
report highlights some of these to illustrate Council’s influence on people’s health and 
wellbeing through the work it does in the social, built, natural and economic domains. 
 
Partnerships  
Municipal Public Health and Wellbeing Plans help to provide the ‘line of sight’ between local 
and state efforts to prevent illness and promote health and wellbeing. Partnerships are 
crucial to this approach.  
 
A keystone of the Whitehorse Health and Wellbeing Plan 2017-2021 is strengthening 
Council’s work with local partners in a number of key areas of health and wellbeing. The 
Plan identified developmental areas where Council would strengthen partnerships and 
collaborative planning: 

 Prevention of family violence and violence against women 

 Reducing harm from alcohol  

 Promoting healthy eating.   
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Achievements of the Whitehorse Health and Wellbeing Plan 2017-2021 for the 18 months of 
1 January 2018 to 30 June 2019 under each of the relevant Council Strategic Directions and 
Health and Wellbeing Goals are detailed fully in the attached Appendix document.  Below is 
a snapshot of those highlights. 

Achievement highlights 

1. Health and Wellbeing Goal: Connected, safe, respected and resilient people, families 
and communities  

 Mental Health Forum and Men’s Health Week Seminars with topics including 
Suicide Prevention, Anxiety and Depression in Men, Expectations and Wellbeing  

 Forest Hill Dementia Friendly Project [Partnership] 

 Family Violence and Elder Abuse Prevention [Partnerships] 

- Family Violence Prevention Collaborative Action and Networking Group and 

Action Planning 

- Free from Violence Project and program of activities 

- Nadrasca collaboration 

- Interfaith United for Safety and Respect Project 

- Elder Abuse awareness raising 

- IDAHOBIT Day 

 Immunisation Program 

 Maternal Child Health (incl. Enhanced & Mandarin) 

 Intergenerational Project [Partnership] 

 Accessible Community Events and Arts Programs for people with disabilities, older 
people and people of culturally diverse backgrounds 

 Creative Youth Hub 

2. Health and Wellbeing Goal: Accessible, safe and welcoming places for all people  

 Opening of additional space at Box Hill Skate Park 

 Review of street lighting in Market and Main Streets, Box Hill [Partnership] 

 Eastern Affordable Housing Alliance Advocacy [Partnership] 

3. Health and Wellbeing Goal: A sustainable environment and shared open spaces  

 Biodiversity Inventory  

 Sustainability Program 

 Waste Management Strategy [Collaboration with other Councils] 

 New park at Chaucer Street 

4. Health and Wellbeing Goal: Communicating, actively engaged Council  

 Snap, Send and Solve 

 Language translation and improved search functions on new Council website 

 Your Say community engagement platform 

 Healthy Workplace Achievements 

 Use of social stories using simple language and images to help children with 
anxiety disorders and autism understand what happens at pool based parties held 
in Council facilities 
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5. Health and Wellbeing Goal: Economic opportunity for people 

 Partnerships and programs to increase employment with Deakin University, 
Gateway LLEN and other Councils 

 Business Skills Programs 

 Youth Connexions Employment Support 

The 2019/2020 action plan is currently under development, including the integration of a 
Family Violence Prevention Action Plan. 

CONSULTATION 

The review of the Plan’s implementation and action planning for 2019/2020 was undertaken 
in consultation with all contributing areas of Council. 

Cross-council departments responsible for the implementation of the Whitehorse Municipal 
Public Health & Wellbeing Plan were engaged to provide their feedback in regard to the 
outcomes from their departments against the strategic directions of the Council Plan and the 
Health & Wellbeing Plan.   

FINANCIAL IMPLICATIONS 

The review of the Plan was undertaken by Council’s Community Development - Health & 
Wellbeing Officer. The time commitment to collect all of the information presented in the 
Appendix document equates to approximately $5000. 

POLICY IMPLICATIONS 

The Whitehorse Health and Wellbeing Plan 2017-2021 is consistent with objectives in the 
Whitehorse Council Vision, the Whitehorse Council Plan and State and Federal Government 
policy directions. 

Many existing Council plans and strategies are integrated into and inform the Whitehorse 
Health and Wellbeing Plan 2017-2021 including: the Whitehorse Disability Strategy and 
Action Plan, the Whitehorse Diversity Plan, the Whitehorse Reconciliation Plan, The 
Whitehorse Community Participation Strategy, the Whitehorse Positive Ageing Strategy, the 
Whitehorse Recreation Plan, the Whitehorse Cultural Strategy, the Whitehorse Youth Plan 
and the Whitehorse Early Years Plan. 

 
 

ATTACHMENT 

1 MPHWP 2017-2021 - Action Plan Report 1 January 2018 - 30 June 2019    
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9.4 CORPORATE 

9.4.1 Quarterly Performance Report June to September 2019 

FILE NUMBER: 19/251467 

ATTACHMENT  

 

SUMMARY 

The purpose of this report is to brief Council on the performance against the Council Plan 
2017-21 and the Annual Budget 2019/20 for the quarter ended 30 September 2019. 

RECOMMENDATION 

That Council notes the Quarterly Performance Report for the quarter ended 30 
September 2019, as attached. 

 

BACKGROUND 

Pursuant to sections 131(3) (a) (ii) and 138 of the Local Government Act 1989, the Quarterly 
Performance Report provides a high level summary of Council’s performance against major 
initiatives, initiatives, and services identified in the Annual Plan, which is part of the Adopted 
Budget 2019/20. These are significant projects that will directly contribute to the 
achievement of the Council Plan 2017-21 and have a major focus on the budget. They may 
include actions that are once-off in nature and/or lead to improvements in services.  

The financial section of the Quarterly Performance Report for quarter ended 30 September 
2019 has been prepared on an accruals basis to ensure accurate matching of income and 
expenditure, both operating and capital, for the year-to-date ended 30 September 2019. 
Furthermore, the financial section is prepared on the basis of year-to-date, year-end 
projection, cash and key balance sheet items, and analysing trends against budget 
(Attachment 1). 

DISCUSSION 

Performance against Council Plan 

The Annual Plan, which is part of the Adopted Budget 2019/20, identifies 29 significant 
initiatives that contribute to the achievement of the strategic directions and goals of Council 
Plan 2017-21. Of the 29 initiatives being reported on this quarter, one is complete, 21 are on 
track, four are behind schedule and three have not yet commenced.  

Highlights for the quarter include: 

 Nunawading Community Hub – Structural steel framing has been complete with 

excavation works underway for services, car parks and landscaping 

 Heritage Week – 15 programs were held across 12-19 September celebrating the 

progress of health programs and change in traditional health care services in 

Whitehorse over the last 100 years 

 North East Link Advocacy – Council’s position on the project was presented to the 

independent Inquiry and Advisory Committee, appointed to assess the environmental 

impacts of the project 

 Whitehorse Business Week 2019 – The 19th staging of the annual program provided 

opportunities and networking for the Whitehorse and Melbourne East business 

community to gain information on the latest trends 

 Renault Kangoo Z.E. Maxi Van – aligned with Council’s Sustainability Strategy, this 

electric vehicle was purchased to support the delivery of township cleaning services 

throughout Whitehorse and produces zero tailpipe emissions. 
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Performance against Annual Budget  

The year to date financial result at 30 September was a surplus of $100.89m which was 

$1.12m favourable to budget. This primarily reflects favourable variances in employee costs 

($543k), materials and services ($430k), and the net gain on disposal of assets ($346k).  

The first forecast review has been completed and a surplus of $24.06m is now predicted for 

the year, representing a $1.04m decrease from the adopted Budget. This is mainly due to a 

$1.00 million increase in depreciation expenditure resulting from increases in asset values 

based on the drainage and building revaluations that were adopted by Council at 30 June 

2019. 

 
 

ATTACHMENT 

1 Quarter One (July - September 2019)     
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9.4.2 Intention to Lease Land to Not-For-Profit Organisations 

FILE NUMBER: SF08/271  

 

SUMMARY 

Council confidentially resolved on 21 October 2019 to commence the statutory procedures 
under Section 190 and Section 223 of the Local Government Act 1989 to lease Council 
owned land located in Box Hill to the following Not-for-Profit organisations: Family Access 
Network Incorporated, Box Hill Community Information and Support Incorporated (formerly 
trading as the Box Hill Citizens Advice Bureau), Eastern Community Legal Centre 
Incorporated and The Migrant Information Centre (Eastern Melbourne) Limited. 

A public notice of Council’s proposal was placed in The Age on Saturday 26 October 2019 
and displayed for twenty eight (28) days on Council’s website.   

Two submissions were received by the submission closing date and these were considered 
by Council at its Special Committee meeting dated 2 December 2019.  

RECOMMENDATION 

That Council: 

1. Having completed the public notice process in accordance with Sections 190 
and 223 of the Local Government Act 1989 and having received and considered 
at Council’s Special Committee meeting held on 2 December 2019 the 
submission, resolve to grant a lease for part of the Council owned land known 
as part 2-10 Harrow Street, Box Hill to Family Access Network Incorporated, for 
an initial lease term of five (5) years with one further term of two (2) years; with 
fixed rental of Nine Thousand Dollars ($9,000)+GST per annum and a likely 
commencement date of 1 January 2020.  The Retail Leases Act 2003 will not 
apply as the lease will satisfy the requirements of paragraph 1(b) of the 
Ministerial determination dated 6 October 2014. 

2. Having completed the public notice process in accordance with Sections 190 
and 223 of the Local Government Act 1989 and having received no submissions, 
resolve to grant a lease for part of the Council owned land known as part 27 
Bank Street, Box Hill to Box Hill Community Information and Support 
Incorporated (formerly trading as the Box Hill Citizens Advice Bureau), for an 
initial lease term of five (5) years with one further term of two (2) years with a 
likely commencement date of 1 January 2020 with a year one rental of Three 
Thousand Nine Hundred and Seventy Dollars ($3,970)+GST per annum, annual 
two (2%) percent fixed increases.  The Retail Leases Act 2003 will not apply as 
the lease will satisfy the requirements of paragraph 1(b) of the Ministerial 
determination dated 6 October 2014. 

3. Having completed the public notice process in accordance with Sections 190 
and 223 of the Local Government Act 1989 and having received and considered 
at Council’s Special Committee meeting held on 2 December 2019 the 
submission, resolve to grant a lease for part of the Council owned land known 
as part 27 Bank Street, Box Hill to Eastern Community Legal Centre 
Incorporated, for an initial lease term of five (5) years with one further term of 
two (2) years with a likely commencement date of 1 January 2020; with a year 
one rental of Twenty Thousand Dollars ($20,000)+GST per annum and with 
annual rent increases of five thousand dollars ($5,000)+GST. 

4. Having completed the public notice process in accordance with Sections 190 
and 223 of the Local Government Act 1989 and having received no submissions, 
resolve to grant a lease for part of the Council owned land known as part 27 
Bank Street, Box Hill to The Migrant Information Centre (Eastern Melbourne) 
Limited, for an initial lease term of five (5) years with one further term of two (2) 
years with a likely commencement date of 1 January 2020; with a year one rental 
of Fifty Nine Thousand Two Hundred and Eighty Dollars ($59,280)+GST per 
annum and annual two (2%) percent fixed increases. 
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5. Authorise the Manager of Property & Rates to sign the leases. 

 
BACKGROUND 

Council confidentially resolved on 21 October 2019 to commence the statutory procedures 
under Section 190 and Section 223 of the Local Government Act 1989 (the Act) to lease 
Council owned land located in Box Hill to the following Not-for-Profit organisations: Family 
Access Network Incorporated, Box Hill Community Information and Support Incorporated 
(formerly trading as the Box Hill Citizens Advice Bureau), Eastern Community Legal Centre 
Incorporated and The Migrant Information Centre (Eastern Melbourne) Limited. 

The abovementioned Not-for-Profit organisations provide extensive services to Whitehorse 
residents and they rely on ongoing Council support via the provision of centrally located 
office space with a rental discount. 

DISCUSSION 

The services offered by all four tenants mentioned above, for the purposes of the Retail 
Leases Act 2003, are considered a retail service; however, as “not-for-profit” organisations, 
the proposed leases would be exempt from the operation of the Retail Leases Act 2003 
based on the Ministerial Determination dated 13 October 2014 (the Determination). 

However, the Determination “caps” the annual rental payable at $10,000 inclusive of GST 
per annum and if the rent exceeds $10,000 per annum during the life of the lease, the 
Determination cannot be applied; meaning that both the Family Access Network 
Incorporated and the Box Hill Community Information and Support Incorporated are subject 
to the exemption because their annual rental does not exceed $10,000 per annum 
threshold. 

As the proposed rental for the Eastern Community Legal Centre Incorporated and the 
Migrant Information Centre (East Melbourne) Limited exceed the $10,000 per annum 
threshold these two tenancies are subject to the Retail Leases Act 2003. 

As advised in the 21 October 2019 confidential Council report, Sections 190 and 223 of the 
Act apply to the four tenancies because their assessed annual market rental exceeds the 
$50,000 threshold contained within Section 190 of the Act.  

CONSULTATION 

The dates for the Sections 190 & 223 processes were as follows: 

Monday 21 October 2019: Council resolved to advertise its Intention to Lease over 
Council Owned Land  

Saturday 26 October 2019: Public notice displayed in The Age  

Monday 28 October 2019: Public Notice displayed on Council’s Website  

Monday 25 November 2019: Public submissions closed 

Two written submissions were received; the first submission relating to the proposed lease 
to the Family Access Network Incorporated for part of 2-10 Harrow Street, Box Hill and the 
second submission relating to Eastern Community Legal Centre Incorporated for part of 27 
Bank Street, Box Hill. 

The written submissions were made by the Chief Executive Officers of the above mentioned 
organisations and both submissions supported the proposed leases.   

Council at its Special Committee dated Monday 2 December 2019 considered the written 
submissions and heard presentations from the Family Access Network Incorporated and 
Eastern Community Legal Centre Incorporated in accordance with Section 223 of the Act. 
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The Special Committee resolved: 

“That the Special Committee having received written submissions and having heard 
from those who requested to speak to their written submissions, refer those 
submissions to the Ordinary Council meeting to be held on 9 December 2019 for 
further consideration and for a Council decision.” 

Having completed the statutory obligation in accordance with Sections 190 and 223 of the 
Act, Council can resolve to either grant or not grant the leases; Council is unable to amend 
the lease terms or rentals. 

FINANCIAL IMPLICATIONS 

All expenses associated with the leases and the statutory process will be borne by the 
Property & Rates Department’s 2019/20 recurrent budget and these expenses are 
estimated to be approximately $15,000 + GST. 

POLICY IMPLICATIONS 

The granting of the lease for the Family Access Network is undertaken in accordance with 
Council’s “Property Leasing and Licence Policy”; however, at the time of adopting this policy 
the Box Hill Town Hall Hub was exempt from the policy and consequently the policy does 
not apply the three Box Hill Town Hall Hub leases located at 27 Bank Street Box Hill. 
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9.4.3 Domestic Animal Management Plan: Council Orders 

ATTACHMENT  

 

SUMMARY 

The Domestic Animals Act 1994 (Act) provides for local governments to establish local 
controls for the management of domestic animals. These controls include how domestic 
animals are to be restrained in the community, registration requirements and locations 
where dogs can be exercised. 

This report details the results of a review of Council Orders 3, 4 and 5 made under the 
Domestic Animals Act 1994 operating in the City of Whitehorse and recommends a number 
of changes. 

RECOMMENDATION 

That Council: 

1. Repeal Whitehorse City Council Order No. 3 in accordance with Section 10A (2) 
of the Domestic Animals Act 1994 

2. Repeal Whitehorse City Council Orders 4 and 5 made in accordance with 
Section 26 (2) of the Domestic Animals Act 1994 

3. Endorse Whitehorse City Council Orders No. 8 made in accordance with Section 
10A (1) of the Domestic Animals Act 1994 

4. Endorse Whitehorse City Council Orders No. 9 and 10 made in accordance with 
Section 26 (2) of the Domestic Animals Act 1994 

5. Delegate the Chief Executive Officer authority to sign the Orders 

6. Publish Whitehorse City Council Orders 8, 9 and 10 in the Government Gazette 
and local paper as specified under Section 26 (3) of the Domestic Animals Act 
1994. 

 
BACKGROUND 

The Act provides local government authorities the power to impose certain additional 
controls on ownership of cats and dogs within that municipal district. The City of Whitehorse 
has four Orders in place made under the Act being: 

 Order 3 – compulsory desexing of cats and dogs being registered for the first time in 
Whitehorse 

 Order 4 – cat confinement during specified times 

 Order 5 – prohibition of cats entering designated environmentally sensitive areas and 

 Order 7 – effective control of dogs in Public Places including Dog Off Lead areas. 
 

The Act also requires local governments to establish a Domestic Animal Management Plan 
(DAMP).  The objectives of the Whitehorse 2017-2020 DAMP included the establishment of 
a framework that provides a safe and harmonious environment by promoting responsible 
pet ownership. As part of the DAMP action plan Order No 6 Dogs off Lead in Public Places 
was reviewed and replaced in 2018 by Order 7 (above). 
 
Orders 3, 4 and 5 were reviewed this year as part of the DAMP Action Plan and this report 
makes a number of recommendations relating to these Orders 
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DISCUSSION 

Council’s Domestic Animal Management Planning Advisory Committee (DAMPC) reviewed 
the three Orders relating to the 2019 DAMP Action Plan and the results of community 
consultation carried out.  At the DAMPAC meeting of October 16 endorsement for the 
recommended amendments was provided.  Following is an overview of the Orders 
reviewed. 

Order No. 3  

Order 3 made in April 2011, relates to the requirement to have all cats and dogs being 
registered in the City of Whitehorse for the first time to be desexed unless exempted under 
the Act. 

One of the principle reasons for having domestic animals compulsory desexed is the 
potential prevention of indiscriminate breeding.   

However, in Whitehorse over 98% of registered cats and dogs are either desexed or 
exempt.  The Order in its present state has had little impact on registration trends over its 
lifespan with Whitehorse registration levels and statuses changing marginally. 

The Order has had an unintended consequence in that it has hindered registration of new 
pets in some cases as owners, when told they must desex their pet prior to registration, do 
not register them and are not able to be followed up. 

1. Compulsory desexing has a place in the management of cat colonies and can contribute 

to the reduction of unowned cats that cause a number of issues in the community.  Aside 

from preventing accidental litters, there are many health and behavioural benefits to 

desexing including: 

 Desexed animals are generally less likely to get diseases and certain illnesses such as 
mammary cancer and uterine infections in females and prostate problems in males. 

 Desexing commonly reduces behaviour problems such as roaming, aggression and 
urine marking in males. 

 In females it prevents mating behaviour and false pregnancy. Reducing the desire to 
roam also reduces the risk of being in a traumatic accident such as being hit by a car. 

These issues, particularly those related to roaming impact cats significantly as cats are not 
required to be confined during the day in Whitehorse. 

To manage indiscriminate breeding of cats it is recommended to replace Order No 3 with a 
new Order removing all references to dogs.  The new Order is attached in Appendix 1 

Order No. 4 

Order 4 made in April 2011 relates to cat confinement at night.  The Order requires all cats 
to be securely confined at night in a dwelling or an escape proof enclosure from 8pm to 6am 
daily. 

Serious problems can occur if cats are allowed to roam, particularly at night. Around 80% of 
accidents involving cats happen at night. Roaming cats may be hit by cars, injured in fights, 
catch fatal diseases (e.g. feline AIDS) following a fight or interaction with another cat, or 
become lost. Roaming cats can also kill native wildlife – even well fed cats will hunt, it is in 
their nature. Roaming cats may also annoy neighbours by spraying, fighting, yowling and 
digging in their gardens. 
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Whitehorse’s confinement Order is well accepted in the community with a recent survey 
indicating 75% of respondents supporting the existing arrangements and 66% aware of the 
curfew in place. 

It is recommended to make minor changes to Order No. 4 keeping the existing curfew times. 
The new Order is attached in Appendix 2 

Order No. 5 

Order No. 5 relates to prohibiting cats from entering designated Council Bushland Reserves 
to protect fauna and flora.  The designated reserves are Bellbird Dell, Blackburn Lake 
Sanctuary, Blackburn Creeklands, Yarran Dheran, Koonung Creek Parklands, Joseph 
Street Reserve, Antonio Park, Wandinong Sanctuary, R E Gray Reserve, Campbells Croft 
and Cootamundra Walk. 

While few breaches of this Order have been detected it provides protection and a legal 
framework to keep cats out of sensitive areas protecting fauna 

It is recommended to make minor changes to Order No. 5 keeping the existing designated 
reserves. The new Order is attached in Appendix 3 

CONSULTATION 

A number of mediums were used in the consultation phase of this project and included: 

 Promotional information on Council’s website, providing further information and a direct 
link to ‘Your Say Whitehorse’ 

 Emails sent to people registered on the Your Say Whitehorse website notifying them of 
the consultation and inviting them to comment\ 

 Email invitation sent to all of Council’s Park and Bushland Advisory committees for 
forwarding to members and comment 

 Advertisements in the local print media – Whitehorse News and Whitehorse Leader 
under Council’s regular news column for the duration of the consultation period.  

 Promotions on Council’s social media platforms, Facebook and Twitter 

 Direct mail out to 250 people per postcode including animal and non-animal owners 

The project page was visited 618 and 141 submissions were received 

Some of the key results are: 

 31% of respondents did not own a cat or dog 

 66% of respondents are aware of the cat curfew 

 83% supported the designated bushland restrictions 

 78% support compulsory animal desexing 

DAMPAC was engaged throughout the project, reviewed the existing Orders and the 
recommended changes, the consultation process and results and provided direction on 
engagement strategies. 

FINANCIAL IMPLICATIONS 

There are no financial implications 

POLICY IMPLICATIONS 

Whitehorse City Council Orders No 3, 4 and 5 made under Section 26(2) of the Domestic 
Animals Act 1994 are replaced with Whitehorse City Council Orders No. 8, 9 and 10. 

ATTACHMENT 

1 Order 8 made under DAA 1994.pdf   
2 Order 9 made under DAA 1994.pdf   
3 Order 10. made under DAA 1994.pdf    
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9.4.4 Delegated Decisions October 2019 

  

 

SUMMARY 

The following activity was undertaken by officers under delegated authority during October 
2019. 
 

RECOMMENDATION 

That the report of decisions made by officers under Instruments of Delegation for the 
month of October 2019 be noted. 
 

 

DELEGATION FUNCTION Number for 
October 2018 

Number for 
October 
2019 

Planning and Environment 
Act 1987 

Delegated Decisions 189 139 

Strategic Planning 
Decisions 

Nil 1 

Telecommunications Act 
1997 

 Nil 1 

Subdivision Act 1988 
 25 29 

Gaming Control Act 1991 
 Nil Nil 

Building Act 1993 Dispensations & 
Applications to Building 
Control Commission 

89 65 

Liquor Control Reform Act 
1998 

Objections and 
Prosecutions 

6 Nil 

Food Act 1984 Food Act Orders 2 Nil 

Public Health & Wellbeing 
Act 2008 

Improvement /  
Prohibition Notices 

3 Nil 

Local Government Act 
1989 

Temporary Rd. 
Closures 

11 6 

Other Delegations CEO Signed Contracts 
between $150,000 - 
$750,000 

6 3 

Property Sales and 
Leases 

5 4 

Documents to which 
Council seal affixed 

1 Nil 

Vendor Payments 987 1503 

Parking Amendments 5 3 

Parking Infringements 
Withdrawn 

319 327 
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DELEGATED DECISIONS MADE ON PLANNING APPLICATIONS OCTOBER 2019 

All decisions are the subject of conditions which October in some circumstances 
alter the use of development approved, or specific grounds of refusal is an 
application is not supported. 

Appl No. Date Decision Street 
Address 

Ward Proposed Use or 
Development 

Application  
Type 

WH/2018/1
274 

23-10-19 Application 
Lapsed 

27 Dunlavin Road 
Mitcham Vic 3132 

Springfield The construction 
of two double 
storey dwellings, 
buildings and 
works within 4 
metres of 
vegetation and 
vegetation 
removal. 

Multiple 
Dwellings 

WH/2019/2
70 

17-10-19 Application 
Lapsed 

11 Kalang Street 
Blackburn Vic 
3130 

Central Removal of one 
tree in SLO1 

VicSmart - 
Tree 

WH/2019/2
72 

17-10-19 Application 
Lapsed 

11 Kalang Street 
Blackburn Vic 
3130 

Central Removal of one 
tree in SLO1 

VicSmart - 
Tree 

WH/2019/4
58 

23-10-19 Application 
Lapsed 

9 Lucerne Street 
Vermont Vic 3133 

Morack Construction of 
two storey 
dwelling to the 
rear of the existing 
dwelling 

Multiple 
Dwellings 

WH/2019/6
71 

29-10-19 Application 
Lapsed 

8-12 Simla Street 
Mitcham Vic 3132 

Springfield Buildings and 
works for 
relocation of 
bunker and 
container and 
extension of 
decking/verandah/
canopy to existing 
place of assembly 

Residential 
(Other) 

WH/2019/7
88 

04-10-19 Application 
Lapsed 

194 Blackburn 
Road Blackburn 
South Vic 3130 

Central Buildings and 
works for a 
crossover within 4 
metres of a 
protected tree in 
the Significant 
Landscape 
Overlay Schedule 
9 and alteration of 
access to a road 
in a Road Zone 
Category 1. 

Special 
Landscape 
Area 
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Appl No. Date Decision Street 
Address 

Ward Proposed Use or 
Development 

Application  
Type 

WH/2007/1
20/C 

10-10-19 Delegate 
Approval - 
S72 
Amendment 

510 Mitcham 
Road Mitcham Vic 
3132 

Springfield Construction of a 
two storey 
dwelling to the 
rear of the existing 
dwelling, the 
removal of one (1) 
protected tree, 
lopping of one (1) 
protected tree and 
buildings and 
works within 4 
metres of a 
protected tree 

Permit 
Amendment 

WH/2010/7
34/C 

10-10-19 Delegate 
Approval - 
S72 
Amendment 

26/25-39 Cook 
Road Mitcham Vic 
3132 

Springfield Use and 
development of 
land for 38 
warehouse 
buildings with 
ancillary offices, 
store and 
reduction in the 
standard car 
parking 
requirement 

Permit 
Amendment 

WH/2011/1
70/D 

14-10-19 Delegate 
Approval - 
S72 
Amendment 

780 Whitehorse 
Road Mont Albert 
Vic 3127 

Elgar Amendment to 
plans for 
construction of a 
three storey 
building plus 
basement car 
park comprising of 
fifteen (15) 
dwellings and 
create and alter 
access to a road 
in a Road Zone 
Category 1 
(Whitehorse 
Road), to change 
the front facade, 
change entry and 
disability access, 
and alterations to 
apartment 2.03 
including new 
large balcony to 
the south 

Permit 
Amendment 

WH/2013/2
56/A 

22-10-19 Delegate 
Approval - 
S72 
Amendment 

2/720 Whitehorse 
Road Mitcham Vic 
3132 

Springfield Construction of 
two dwellings, 
including one 
double storey 
dwelling and one 
single storey 
dwelling and 
creation of access 
to a road in a 
Road Zone 
(Category 1) 

Permit 
Amendment 
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Appl No. Date Decision Street 
Address 

Ward Proposed Use or 
Development 

Application  
Type 

WH/2014/5
68/A 

14-10-19 Delegate 
Approval - 
S72 
Amendment 

3 Whitehorse 
Road Blackburn 
Vic 3130 

Central Buildings and 
works to construct 
115 dwellings 
comprising 12 
double storey 
dwellings, and two 
five storey 
buildings (plus two 
Buildings and 
works to construct 
115 dwellings 
comprising 12 
double storey 
dwellings, and two 
five storey 
buildings (plus two 
levels of 
basement car 
parking), 
associated 
alteration of 
access to two 
roads in a Road 
Zone Category 1, 
and tree removal 
and buildings and 
works within 4 
metres of trees 
within the 
Significant 
Landscape 
Overlay Schedule 
9 (SLO9) 

Permit 
Amendment 

WH/2015/1
049/B 

18-10-19 Delegate 
Approval - 
S72 
Amendment 

4 Katupna Court 
Vermont South 
Vic 3133 

Morack Construction of 
two (2) double 
storey dwellings 

Permit 
Amendment 

WH/2015/5
30/E 

31-10-19 Delegate 
Approval - 
S72 
Amendment 

19 Premier 
Avenue Mitcham 
Vic 3132 

Springfield Construction of 
two double storey 
dwellings and 
buildings and 
works within 4 
metres of 
protected 
vegetation 

Permit 
Amendment 

WH/2016/8
4/A 

10-10-19 Delegate 
Approval - 
S72 
Amendment 

36 Jolimont Road 
Forest Hill Vic 
3131 

Morack Amendment of 
plans for planning 
permit 
WH/2016/84/A 
issued for 
Construction of 
two double storey 
dwellings 
(including part 
retention of 
existing dwelling) 
to include internal 
alterations 

Permit 
Amendment 
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Appl No. Date Decision Street 
Address 

Ward Proposed Use or 
Development 

Application  
Type 

WH/2017/1
042/A 

24-10-19 Delegate 
Approval - 
S72 
Amendment 

1 Leonard Street 
Burwood Vic 3125 

Riversdale Use of the land as 
a Medical Centre, 
construction of 
buildings and 
works within 4 
metres of 
vegetation, 
vegetation 
removal, display 
of internally 
illuminated 
business 
identification signs 
and access to a 
Road Zone 
Category 1 

Permit 
Amendment 

WH/2017/1
92/A 

15-10-19 Delegate 
Approval - 
S72 
Amendment 

30 Station Street 
Burwood Vic 3125 

Riversdale TO INCLUDE 
VEGETATION 
REMOVAL AND 
CROSSOVER 
RELOCATE AND 
RESTRUCTURE 
IN PLANNING 
PERMIT - 
WH/2017/192 

Permit 
Amendment 

WH/2017/2
54/B 

03-10-19 Delegate 
Approval - 
S72 
Amendment 

270 Canterbury 
Road Forest Hill 
Vic 3131 

Central Buildings and 
works associated 
with an increase 
in gross floor 
area, and 
installation of a 
skylight, use of 
Tenancy 308 as 
an indoor 
recreation facility 
(martial art 
training facility) 

Permit 
Amendment 

WH/2017/6
1/B 

17-10-19 Delegate 
Approval - 
S72 
Amendment 

31 Glen Road 
Mitcham Vic 3132 

Springfield Construction of 
two (2) dwellings 
on a lot. 

Permit 
Amendment 

WH/2017/6
85/A 

23-10-19 Delegate 
Approval - 
S72 
Amendment 

1/77 Holland 
Road Blackburn 
South Vic 3130 

Central Two (2) lot 
subdivision of 
vacant land 

Permit 
Amendment 

WH/2017/8
40/A 

18-10-19 Delegate 
Approval - 
S72 
Amendment 

56 Eley Road 
Burwood Vic 3125 

Riversdale Construction of 
two (2), two storey 
dwellings 

Permit 
Amendment 

WH/2017/9
67/A 

22-10-19 Delegate 
Approval - 
S72 
Amendment 

3 Penllyne 
Avenue Vermont 
Vic 3133 

Morack Construction of 
Two (2) Double 
Storey Dwellings 
on a Lot 

Permit 
Amendment 

  



Whitehorse City Council 
Ordinary Council Meeting 09 December 2019 

 

9.4.4 
(cont) 
 

Page 38 

Appl No. Date Decision Street 
Address 

Ward Proposed Use or 
Development 

Application  
Type 

WH/2018/1
00/B 

15-10-19 Delegate 
Approval - 
S72 
Amendment 

274-278 
Whitehorse Road 
Nunawading Vic 
3131 

Springfield Buildings and 
works associated 
with additions to 
the 
redevelopment of 
the existing 
restricted retail 
premises, use of 
the land as a food 
and drink 
premises, a 
reduction in 
carparking 
requirements, 
alterations to 
access to a road 
zone Category 1 
and display of 
business 
identification 
signage 

Permit 
Amendment 

WH/2018/1
05/B 

15-10-19 Delegate 
Approval - 
S72 
Amendment 

14 Nara Road 
Mitcham Vic 3132 

Springfield Change 3 
windows in 
powder room, 
living and rumpus. 

Permit 
Amendment 

WH/2018/1
203/A 

28-10-19 Delegate 
Approval - 
S72 
Amendment 

3 Arnott Street 
Mont Albert North 
Vic 3129 

Elgar Buildings and 
works within 4 
metres of 
protected SLO9 
trees and tree 
removal 

Permit 
Amendment 

WH/2019/2
39/A 

15-10-19 Delegate 
Approval - 
S72 
Amendment 

35 Clydesdale 
Street Box Hill Vic 
3128 

Elgar External Painting 
of a dwelling 
within a Heritage 
Overlay (HO101). 

Permit 
Amendment 

WH/2017/1
020 

28-10-19 Delegate 
NOD Issued 

6 Parkside 
Avenue Box Hill 
Vic 3128 

Elgar Development of 
Four (4) Double 
Storey Dwellings 
on a Lot and 
Removal of 
Vegetation 

Multiple 
Dwellings 

WH/2017/3
34/A 

03-10-19 Delegate 
NOD Issued 

396 Elgar Road 
Box Hill Vic 3128 

Elgar Construction of 
ten 3-4 storey 
dwellings above 
basement, 
alteration of 
access to a road 
in a Road Zone, 
Category 1, tree 
removal and 
buildings and 
works within four 
metres of 
protected trees 

Permit 
Amendment 
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Appl No. Date Decision Street 
Address 

Ward Proposed Use or 
Development 

Application  
Type 

WH/2017/8
68 

02-10-19 Delegate 
NOD Issued 

20 Barwon Street 
Box Hill North Vic 
3129 

Elgar Three double 
storey dwellings 
plus basement car 
park and 
associated tree 
removal 

Multiple 
Dwellings 

WH/2018/1
291 

03-10-19 Delegate 
NOD Issued 

18 Nash Road 
Box Hill South Vic 
3128 

Riversdale Construction of a 
second dwelling, 
modifications to 
the existing 
dwelling and 
buildings and 
works within 4 
metres of 
protected within 
the Significant 
Landscape 
Overlay Schedule 
9 

Multiple 
Dwellings 

WH/2018/1
364 

03-10-19 Delegate 
NOD Issued 

13 Deep Creek 
Road Mitcham Vic 
3132 

Springfield Construction of 
two (2) double 
storey dwellings 
on a lot, 
associated tree 
removal, buildings 
and works within 4 
metres of 
protected trees 
(SLO9) and, 
subdivision of land 
into two (2) lots. 

Multiple 
Dwellings 

WH/2018/6
97 

08-10-19 Delegate 
NOD Issued 

643 
Middleborough 
Road Box Hill 
North Vic 3129 

Elgar Amendments to 
the previously 
advertised plans 
for development 
of the land for ten 
dwellings, to 
show: changes to 
setbacks and car 
parking 
configuration and 
other changes. 

Multiple 
Dwellings 

WH/2019/1
35 

10-10-19 Delegate 
NOD Issued 

2/43-47 Ashmore 
Road Forest Hill 
Vic 3131 

Morack Construction of six 
(6), two storey 
dwellings, removal 
and buildings and 
works within four 
metres of trees 
protected within 
the Significant 
Landscape 
Overlay Schedule 
9 

Multi 
Dwelling and 
Use 

WH/2019/1
45 

10-10-19 Delegate 
NOD Issued 

71 Creek Road 
Mitcham Vic 3132 

Springfield Construction of 
two double storey 
dwellings and 
removal of 
vegetation 

Multiple 
Dwellings 
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Appl No. Date Decision Street 
Address 

Ward Proposed Use or 
Development 

Application  
Type 

WH/2019/3
1 

28-10-19 Delegate 
NOD Issued 

2/43 Laburnum 
Street Blackburn 
Vic 3130 

Central Construction of 
three double 
storey dwellings, 
tree removal and 
buildings and 
works in the SBO 

Multiple 
Dwellings 

WH/2019/3
34 

23-10-19 Delegate 
NOD Issued 

12 Perth Street 
Blackburn South 
Vic 3130 

Central Construction of 
Two (2) Double 
Storey Dwellings 
and Removal of 
Vegetation 

Multiple 
Dwellings 

WH/2019/4
1 

03-10-19 Delegate 
NOD Issued 

2 Cypress Avenue 
Burwood Vic 3125 

Riversdale The construction 
of two double 
storey dwellings, 
buildings and 
works within 4 
metres of 
vegetation and 
vegetation 
removal 

Multiple 
Dwellings 

WH/2019/4
9 

25-10-19 Delegate 
NOD Issued 

30 Kitchener 
Street Box Hill 
South Vic 3128 

Riversdale Construction of 
two dwellings, tree 
removal and 
buildings and 
works within 4 
metres of 
protected trees. 

Multiple 
Dwellings 

WH/2019/7
6 

22-10-19 Delegate 
NOD Issued 

2 Coppin Close 
Mitcham Vic 3132 

Springfield The construction 
of two double 
storey dwellings, 
buildings and 
works within 4 
metres of 
vegetation and 
vegetation 
removal. 

Multiple 
Dwellings 

WH/2019/9
79 

30-10-19 Delegate 
NOD Issued 

19 Ferguson 
Street Mitcham 
Vic 3132 

Springfield Buildings and 
Works (Crossover 
Relocation) within 
the Significant 
Landscape 
Overlay - 
Schedule 9 

Single 
Dwelling < 
300m2 

WH/2010/5
96/A 

03-10-19 Delegate 
Permit 
Issued 

28 Valda Avenue 
Mont Albert North 
Vic 3129 

Elgar Construction of 
two new double 
storey dwellings 

Permit 
Amendment 
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WH/2017/8
92 

15-10-19 Delegate 
Permit 
Issued 

164 Surrey Road 
Blackburn Vic 
3130 

Central Construction of 
three, two storey 
dwellings and 
alteration of 
access to a road 
in a Road Zone, 
Category 1, 
removal of trees 
and buildings and 
works within 4 
metres of trees 
protected under 
SLO9 

Multiple 
Dwellings 

WH/2018/1
200 

03-10-19 Delegate 
Permit 
Issued 

2 Oliver Avenue 
Blackburn Vic 
3130 

Central Removal of three 
(3) protected 
trees, and 
buildings and 
works associated 
with the 
construction of a 
double storey 
dwelling within 4 
metres of trees 
under the 
Significant 
Landscape 
Overlay Schedule 
2. 

Special 
Landscape 
Area 

WH/2018/1
348 

18-10-19 Delegate 
Permit 
Issued 

41 Shady Grove 
Nunawading Vic 
3131 

Springfield Buildings and 
works within 4m 
and removal of 
protected trees 

Special 
Landscape 
Area 

WH/2018/5
7 

03-10-19 Delegate 
Permit 
Issued 

2 Cavill Court 
Vermont South 
Vic 3133 

Morack Construction of 
two double storey 
dwellings, removal 
of four (4) 
protected trees, 
and buildings and 
works within 4 
metres of trees 
protected under 
the Significant 
Landscape 
Overlay Schedule 
9 

Multiple 
Dwellings 

WH/2019/1
000 

18-10-19 Delegate 
Permit 
Issued 

21 Chessell Street 
Mont Albert North 
Vic 3129 

Elgar Removal of 
Vegetation (One 
Tree) 

VicSmart - 
Tree 

WH/2019/1
001 

18-10-19 Delegate 
Permit 
Issued 

21 Chessell Street 
Mont Albert North 
Vic 3129 

Elgar Removal of 
Vegetation (One 
Tree) 

VicSmart - 
Tree 

WH/2019/1
005 

24-10-19 Delegate 
Permit 
Issued 

17 Peter Avenue 
Blackburn North 
Vic 3130 

Central Removal of 
Vegetation within 
the Significant 
Landscape 
Overlay, Schedule 
9 

VicSmart - 
Tree 
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WH/2019/1
007 

22-10-19 Delegate 
Permit 
Issued 

16 Wellington 
Avenue Blackburn 
Vic 3130 

Central Removal of one 
(1) tree 

VicSmart - 
Tree 

WH/2019/1
011 

18-10-19 Delegate 
Permit 
Issued 

11 Pear Court 
Burwood East Vic 
3151 

Riversdale Removal of one 
(1) SLO9 tree 

VicSmart - 
Tree 

WH/2019/1
012 

18-10-19 Delegate 
Permit 
Issued 

11 Pear Court 
Burwood East Vic 
3151 

Riversdale Removal of one 
(1) SLO9 tree 

VicSmart - 
Tree 

WH/2019/1
013 

18-10-19 Delegate 
Permit 
Issued 

11 Pear Court 
Burwood East Vic 
3151 

Riversdale Removal of one 
(1) SLO9 tree 

VicSmart - 
Tree 

WH/2019/1
018 

10-10-19 Delegate 
Permit 
Issued 

24 Slater Avenue 
Blackburn North 
Vic 3130 

Central Removal of a tree 
(tree 2) under the 
Significant 
Landscape 
Overlay - 
Schedule 9 

VicSmart - 
Tree 

WH/2019/1
022 

18-10-19 Delegate 
Permit 
Issued 

38 Quarry Road 
Mitcham Vic 3132 

Springfield Removal of 
Vegetation (One 
Tree) 

VicSmart - 
Tree 

WH/2019/1
024 

03-10-19 Delegate 
Permit 
Issued 

5 Merle Street 
Blackburn North 
Vic 3130 

Central Two lot 
subdivision 

VicSmart - 
Subdivision 

WH/2019/1
026 

25-10-19 Delegate 
Permit 
Issued 

9 Goodwin Street 
Blackburn Vic 
3130 

Central Construction of a 
front fence within 
4 metres of a tree 
protected under 
Schedule 9 to the 
Significant 
Landscape 
Overlay 

VicSmart - 
General 
Application 

WH/2019/1
027 

29-10-19 Delegate 
Permit 
Issued 

1 Blackwood 
Court 
Nunawading Vic 
3131 

Springfield Three lot 
subdivision 

Subdivision 

WH/2019/1
028 

18-10-19 Delegate 
Permit 
Issued 

47 Diana Drive 
Blackburn North 
Vic 3130 

Central Removal of 
protected 
vegetation (SLO9) 

VicSmart - 
Tree 

WH/2019/1
037 

18-10-19 Delegate 
Permit 
Issued 

102 Weeden 
Drive Vermont 
South Vic 3133 

Morack Removal of one 
(1) SLO9 tree 

VicSmart - 
Tree 

WH/2019/1
044 

25-10-19 Delegate 
Permit 
Issued 

21 Ferguson 
Street Mitcham 
Vic 3132 

Springfield Removal of one 
tree (Tree 20) 

VicSmart - 
Tree 

WH/2019/1
046 

10-10-19 Delegate 
Permit 
Issued 

18 Broomhill 
Avenue Blackburn 
Vic 3130 

Central Two lot 
subdivision 

VicSmart - 
Subdivision 
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WH/2019/1
052 

24-10-19 Delegate 
Permit 
Issued 

49 Maple Street 
Blackburn Vic 
3130 

Central Buildings and 
works within 4 
metres of 
protected 
vegetation within 
SLO9 

VicSmart - 
General 
Application 

WH/2019/1
061 

28-10-19 Delegate 
Permit 
Issued 

102/435-439 
Whitehorse Road 
Mitcham Vic 3132 

Springfield 5 Lot subdivision Subdivision 

WH/2019/1
063 

18-10-19 Delegate 
Permit 
Issued 

80 Luckie Street 
Nunawading Vic 
3131 

Springfield Two lot 
subdivision 

VicSmart - 
Subdivision 

WH/2019/1
068 

16-10-19 Delegate 
Permit 
Issued 

15 Simpson Street 
Mitcham Vic 3132 

Springfield Two lot 
subdivision 

VicSmart - 
Subdivision 

WH/2019/1
069 

22-10-19 Delegate 
Permit 
Issued 

9 Sweetland Road 
Box Hill Vic 3128 

Elgar Two lot 
subdivision 

VicSmart - 
Subdivision 

WH/2019/1
070 

22-10-19 Delegate 
Permit 
Issued 

297a Springfield 
Road Nunawading 
Vic 3131 

Springfield Removal of a 
Eucalyptus nicholii 
tree (Narrow-
leaved Black 
Peppermint) 
pursuant to 
Schedule 9 to the 
Significant 
Landscape 
Overlay 

VicSmart - 
Tree 

WH/2019/1
074 

29-10-19 Delegate 
Permit 
Issued 

23 Morden Court 
Nunawading Vic 
3131 

Springfield Buildings and 
works within 4 
metres of 
protected trees 
(front fence) 

VicSmart - 
General 
Application 

WH/2019/1
076 

22-10-19 Delegate 
Permit 
Issued 

5 Karen Street 
Box Hill North Vic 
3129 

Elgar Two lot 
subdivision 

VicSmart - 
Subdivision 

WH/2019/1
078 

29-10-19 Delegate 
Permit 
Issued 

28 Grey Street 
Vermont Vic 3133 

Springfield Removal of one 
tree 

VicSmart - 
Tree 

WH/2019/1
084 

28-10-19 Delegate 
Permit 
Issued 

1 Gibson Street 
Mitcham Vic 3132 

Springfield Two lot 
subdivision 

VicSmart - 
Subdivision 

WH/2019/1
088 

29-10-19 Delegate 
Permit 
Issued 

11 Kalang Street 
Blackburn Vic 
3130 

Central Removal of 1 
mahogany gum 
(tree 5) - 
Eucalyptus 
Robusta 

VicSmart - 
Tree 

WH/2019/1
098 

29-10-19 Delegate 
Permit 
Issued 

11 Kalang Street 
Blackburn Vic 
3130 

Central Removal of 1 
Poplar - Populus 
Deltoides within 
the SLO9 

VicSmart - 
Tree 

WH/2019/1
099 

28-10-19 Delegate 
Permit 
Issued 

9 Caroline 
Crescent 
Blackburn North 
Vic 3130 

Central Two lot 
subdivision 

VicSmart - 
Subdivision 
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WH/2019/1
115 

29-10-19 Delegate 
Permit 
Issued 

36 Quentin Street 
Forest Hill Vic 
3131 

Morack Two lot 
Subdivision 

VicSmart - 
Subdivision 

WH/2019/1
17 

08-10-19 Delegate 
Permit 
Issued 

101 Blackburn 
Road Blackburn 
Vic 3130 

Central Buildings and 
works within 4m of 
protected trees 
under the 
Significant 
Landscape 
Overlay - 
Schedule 2 and 
within a Special 
Building Overlay 

Special 
Landscape 
Area 

WH/2019/1
18 

21-10-19 Delegate 
Permit 
Issued 

21 Box Hill 
Crescent Mont 
Albert North Vic 
3129 

Elgar Removal of two 
(2) SLO9 trees 
and buildings and 
works within 4 
metres of 
protected SLO9 
trees 

Special 
Landscape 
Area 

WH/2019/1
55 

29-10-19 Delegate 
Permit 
Issued 

3/30 Kenmare 
Street Mont Albert 
Vic 3127 

Elgar Extension of one 
dwelling on a lot, 
buildings and 
works within 4m of 
protected trees 

Single 
Dwelling < 
300m2 

WH/2019/3
04 

24-10-19 Delegate 
Permit 
Issued 

23 Cochrane 
Street Mitcham 
Vic 3132 

Springfield Construction of 
Two (2) Double 
Storey Dwellings 
on a Lot 

Multiple 
Dwellings 

WH/2019/3
16 

14-10-19 Delegate 
Permit 
Issued 

12 Eley Road 
Burwood East Vic 
3151 

Riversdale The staged 
subdivision and 
development of 
the land for the 
purpose of 34 
dwellings 

Multiple 
Dwellings 

WH/2019/3
93 

03-10-19 Delegate 
Permit 
Issued 

496 Elgar Road 
Box Hill North Vic 
3129 

Elgar Installation of 
business 
identification 
signage to the 
existing medical 
centre (practice). 

Advertising 
Sign 

WH/2019/4
06 

10-10-19 Delegate 
Permit 
Issued 

616 Station Street 
Box Hill Vic 3128 

Elgar Buildings and 
works, including 
associated 
demolition and 
construction and 
display of 
signage. 

Single 
Dwelling < 
300m2 

WH/2019/4
7 

14-10-19 Delegate 
Permit 
Issued 

201/19-23 
Prospect Street 
Box Hill Vic 3128 

Elgar Reduction in car 
parking 
requirements 
associated with an 
education centre 

Change of 
Use 

WH/2019/4
78 

10-10-19 Delegate 
Permit 
Issued 

270 Canterbury 
Road Forest Hill 
Vic 3131 

Central Construction and 
display of 
business 
identification and 
internally 
illuminated signs 

Advertising 
Sign 
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WH/2019/4
80 

29-10-19 Delegate 
Permit 
Issued 

37 Cosgrove 
Street Vermont 
Vic 3133 

Morack Buildings and 
works within 4 
metres of 
protected trees 
and removal of 
trees. 

Special 
Landscape 
Area 

WH/2019/5
12 

21-10-19 Delegate 
Permit 
Issued 

4 Gawler Court 
Mont Albert Vic 
3127 

Elgar Buildings and 
works within 4 
metres of trees 
protected under 
Schedule 9 to the 
Significant 
Landscape 
Overlay 

Single 
Dwelling < 
300m2 

WH/2019/5
13 

21-10-19 Delegate 
Permit 
Issued 

160 Whitehorse 
Road Blackburn 
Vic 3130 

Central Construction and 
display of floodlit 
major promotion 
(hoarding) signs 

Advertising 
Sign 

WH/2019/5
22 

17-10-19 Delegate 
Permit 
Issued 

22 Highland 
Avenue Mitcham 
Vic 3132 

Springfield Alterations and 
Additions to a 
dwelling 

Single 
Dwelling < 
300m2 

WH/2019/5
40 

24-10-19 Delegate 
Permit 
Issued 

9 Earle Close 
Mont Albert Vic 
3127 

Elgar Removal of one 
protected tree in 
the Significant 
Landscape 
Overlay Schedule 
9 

VicSmart - 
Tree 

WH/2019/5
95 

24-10-19 Delegate 
Permit 
Issued 

34 Pakenham 
Street Blackburn 
Vic 3130 

Central Removal of two 
trees covered by 
Native Vegetation 
protection 

Native 
Vegetation 
Removal 

WH/2019/6
05 

25-10-19 Delegate 
Permit 
Issued 

16 Holland Road 
Blackburn South 
Vic 3130 

Central Buildings and 
works within 4m of 
a protected tree 
(widen crossover) 

Special 
Landscape 
Area 

WH/2019/6
20 

04-10-19 Delegate 
Permit 
Issued 

396 Mont Albert 
Road Mont Albert 
Vic 3127 

Elgar Removal of and 
buildings and 
works within 4m of 
protected trees 
(carport, shed, 
crossover and 
associated works) 

Special 
Landscape 
Area 

WH/2019/6
41 

03-10-19 Delegate 
Permit 
Issued 

11 George Street 
Blackburn Vic 
3130 

Central Buildings and 
works associated 
with a ground floor 
extension to the 
existing factory. 

Other 

WH/2019/7
10 

21-10-19 Delegate 
Permit 
Issued 

27 Pake nham 
Street Blackburn 
Vic 3130 

Central Buildings and 
works within 4 
metres of 
protected 
vegetation 
(construction of 
crossover) 

Special 
Landscape 
Area 

WH/2019/7
17 

18-10-19 Delegate 
Permit 
Issued 

270 Canterbury 
Road Forest Hill 
Vic 3131 

Central Buildings and 
works and display 
of signage 

VicSmart - 
General 
Application 
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WH/2019/7
35 

29-10-19 Delegate 
Permit 
Issued 

FC 59/17-21 
Market Street Box 
Hill Vic 3128 

Elgar Use of the land for 
the sale and 
consumption of 
liquor 

Liquor 
Licence 

WH/2019/7
53 

25-10-19 Delegate 
Permit 
Issued 

426 Springfield 
Road Mitcham Vic 
3132 

Springfield Construction of a 
new dwelling and 
vegetation 
removal in the 
Significant 
Landscape 
Overlay Schedule 
9 

Special 
Landscape 
Area 

WH/2019/7
94 

03-10-19 Delegate 
Permit 
Issued 

18 View Street 
Surrey Hills Vic 
3127 

Elgar Construction of a 
front fence 
construction within 
4 metres of a 
protected tree. 

VicSmart - 
General 
Application 

WH/2019/8
01 

22-10-19 Delegate 
Permit 
Issued 

16-28 Nelson 
Road Box Hill Vic 
3128 

Elgar Removal of one 
tree - street tree 

VicSmart - 
Tree 

WH/2019/8
09 

21-10-19 Delegate 
Permit 
Issued 

137-139 Burwood 
Highway Burwood 
Vic 3125 

Riversdale Thirty nine lot 
subdivision 

Subdivision 

WH/2019/8
24 

15-10-19 Delegate 
Permit 
Issued 

801-805 
Whitehorse Road 
Mont Albert Vic 
3127 

Elgar 50 lot subdivision Subdivision 

WH/2019/8
25 

03-10-19 Delegate 
Permit 
Issued 

33 Newton Street 
Surrey Hills Vic 
3127 

Riversdale Buildings and 
works and 
removal of 
vegetation within 
SLO9 

Single 
Dwelling < 
300m2 

WH/2019/8
54 

16-10-19 Delegate 
Permit 
Issued 

5 Alpha Court 
Mitcham Vic 3132 

Springfield Buildings and 
works to extend 
an existing 
dwelling within 
SLO6 

Special 
Landscape 
Area 

WH/2019/8
73 

07-10-19 Delegate 
Permit 
Issued 

128 Elgar Road 
Box Hill South Vic 
3128 

Riversdale Alteration of an 
accessway to a 
Road Zone 
Category 1 

Special 
Landscape 
Area 

WH/2019/8
92 

03-10-19 Delegate 
Permit 
Issued 

26 Candlebark 
Lane Nunawading 
Vic 3131 

Springfield Construction of an 
extension to an 
existing dwelling 
on a land lot size 
of less than 500 
square metres 

Single 
Dwelling < 
300m2 

WH/2019/8
93 

25-10-19 Delegate 
Permit 
Issued 

24 Harold Street 
Blackburn Vic 
3130 

Central Construciton of a 
Front Fence within 
4 metres of a tree 
protected under 
the Significant 
Landscape 
Overlay Schedule 
9 

VicSmart - 
General 
Application 
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WH/2019/9
09 

10-10-19 Delegate 
Permit 
Issued 

6/125 Rooks 
Road Nunawading 
Vic 3131 

Springfield Buildings and 
works for the 
construction of an 
internal 
mezzanine 
extension 

Other 

WH/2019/9
10 

23-10-19 Delegate 
Permit 
Issued 

104-168 Hawthorn 
Road Forest Hill 
Vic 3131 

Morack Lopping of one 
tree within the 
Significant 
Landscape 
Overlay - 
Schedule 9 

VicSmart - 
Tree 

WH/2019/9
22 

16-10-19 Delegate 
Permit 
Issued 

1-19 Burwood 
Highway Burwood 
East Vic 3151 

Riversdale Removal of 
carriageway 
easement E-2 
created on 
PS347288N 

Subdivision 

WH/2019/9
27 

03-10-19 Delegate 
Permit 
Issued 

214 Dorking Road 
Box Hill North Vic 
3129 

Elgar Removal of one 
tree 

VicSmart - 
Tree 

WH/2019/9
31 

03-10-19 Delegate 
Permit 
Issued 

104/1 Charlnet 
Drive Vermont 
South Vic 3133 

Morack Resubdivision of 
land into 5 lots 

Subdivision 

WH/2019/9
34 

01-10-19 Delegate 
Permit 
Issued 

1/40 Hamilton 
Street Mont Albert 
Vic 3127 

Elgar Buildings and 
works to 
externally paint an 
existing building 
and business 
identification 
signage. 

VicSmart - 
General 
Application 

WH/2019/9
42 

07-10-19 Delegate 
Permit 
Issued 

47 Stanley Grove 
Blackburn Vic 
3130 

Central Three lot 
subdivision 

Subdivision 

WH/2019/9
48 

23-10-19 Delegate 
Permit 
Issued 

9 Wellesley Street 
Mont Albert Vic 
3127 

Elgar Construction of a 
front fence 

VicSmart - 
General 
Application 

WH/2019/9
50 

25-10-19 Delegate 
Permit 
Issued 

8 Goodwin Street 
Blackburn Vic 
3130 

Central Removal of one 
protected tree 
under Significant 
Landscape 
Overlay - 
Schedule 9 and 
the Vegetation 
Protection Overlay 
- Schedule 3 

VicSmart - 
Tree 

WH/2019/9
59 

21-10-19 Delegate 
Permit 
Issued 

29-31 Carrington 
Road Box Hill Vic 
3128 

Elgar Alterations to 
existing 
commercial 
building and 
Display of 
internally-
illuminated 
business 
identification 
signage 

Other 
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WH/2019/9
63 

03-10-19 Delegate 
Permit 
Issued 

1 Williamson 
Road Mont Albert 
North Vic 3129 

Elgar Two lot 
subdivision 

Subdivision 

WH/2019/9
65 

18-10-19 Delegate 
Permit 
Issued 

14 Linden Street 
Blackburn Vic 
3130 

Central Buildings and 
works within 4 
metres of 
protected SLO9 
tree 

VicSmart - 
General 
Application 

WH/2019/9
68 

22-10-19 Delegate 
Permit 
Issued 

7 Timbertop Drive 
Vermont Vic 3133 

Morack Removal of a 
Pittosporum 
eugeniodes - 
Variegated 
Pittosporum Tree 
pursuant to 
Schedule 9 to the 
Significant 
Landscape 
Overlay 

VicSmart - 
Tree 

WH/2019/9
78 

03-10-19 Delegate 
Permit 
Issued 

28 Boyd Street 
Blackburn South 
Vic 3130 

Central Removal of 
Vegetation within 
Significant 
Landscape 
Overlay - 
Schedule 9 

VicSmart - 
Tree 

WH/2019/9
87 

03-10-19 Delegate 
Permit 
Issued 

46 Gunyah Road 
Blackburn North 
Vic 3130 

Central Removal of one 
tree 

VicSmart - 
Tree 

WH/2019/9
88 

09-10-19 Delegate 
Permit 
Issued 

29 Panorama 
Drive Forest Hill 
Vic 3131 

Morack Removal of one 
tree under the 
Significant 
Landscape 
Overlay - 
Schedule 9 

VicSmart - 
Tree 

WH/2019/9
89 

18-10-19 Delegate 
Permit 
Issued 

21 Chessell Street 
Mont Albert North 
Vic 3129 

Elgar Removal of Tree 
(tree 2) 

VicSmart - 
Tree 

WH/2019/9
90 

18-10-19 Delegate 
Permit 
Issued 

21 Chessell Street 
Mont Albert North 
Vic 3129 

Elgar removal of tree VicSmart - 
Tree 

WH/2019/9
92 

03-10-19 Delegate 
Permit 
Issued 

24 Dalmor 
Avenue Mitcham 
Vic 3132 

Springfield Buildings and 
works within 4 
metres of 
protected SLO6 
tree 

Special 
Landscape 
Area 

WH/2019/9
99 

18-10-19 Delegate 
Permit 
Issued 

21 Chessell Street 
Mont Albert North 
Vic 3129 

Elgar Removal of 
Vegetation (One 
Tree) 

VicSmart - 
Tree 

WH/2019/1
00 

15-10-19 Delegate 
Refusal 
Issued 

51 Shawlands 
Avenue Blackburn 
South Vic 3130 

Central Additions (deck 
and patio) to the 
existing dwelling. 

Single 
Dwelling < 
300m2 
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WH/2019/1
017 

09-10-19 Delegate 
Refusal 
Issued 

24 Slater Avenue 
Blackburn North 
Vic 3130 

Central Removal of a tree 
(tree 1) under the 
Significant 
Landscape 
Overlay - 
Schedule 9 

VicSmart - 
Tree 

WH/2019/1
020 

22-10-19 Delegate 
Refusal 
Issued 

10 Clydesdale 
Street Box Hill Vic 
3128 

Elgar Removal of one 
(1) tree 

VicSmart - 
Tree 

WH/2019/1
066 

24-10-19 Delegate 
Refusal 
Issued 

44 Creek Road 
Mitcham Vic 3132 

Springfield Removal of 
Vegetation (One 
Tree) 

VicSmart - 
Tree 

WH/2019/7
52 

25-10-19 Delegate 
Refusal 
Issued 

353-383 Burwood 
Highway Forest 
Hill Vic 3131 

Morack Buildings and 
works associated 
with the 
construction of a 
fence 

VicSmart - 
General 
Application 

WH/2019/9
28 

03-10-19 Delegate 
Refusal 
Issued 

214 Dorking Road 
Box Hill North Vic 
3129 

Elgar Removal of one 
tree 

VicSmart - 
Tree 

WH/2019/9
41 

23-10-19 Delegate 
Refusal 
Issued 

5 Olyve Court 
Surrey Hills Vic 
3127 

Riversdale Removal of one 
(1) Eucalyptus 
Botryoides 
(Southern 
Mahogany) tree. 

VicSmart - 
Tree 

WH/2019/9
73 

10-10-19 Delegate 
Refusal 
Issued 

19 Crow Street 
Burwood East Vic 
3151 

Riversdale Removal of 1 tree 
under Significant 
Landscape 
Overlay - 
Schedule 9 

VicSmart - 
Tree 

WH/2009/5
66/A 

11-10-19 No Permit 
Required 

2/205 Central 
Road Nunawading 
Vic 3131 

Springfield Subdivision of 
land into two lots 

Permit 
Amendment 

WH/2019/4
47 

14-10-19 No Permit 
Required 

902-904 
Whitehorse Road 
Box Hill Vic 3128 

Elgar Alterations to the 
existing 
commercial 
shopfront, 
including the 
installation of new 
roller doors. 

Other 

WH/2019/6
16 

02-10-19 No Permit 
Required 

2/19 Hutchinson 
Street Burwood 
East Vic 3151 

Morack Alteration of an 
existing building 
facade 

Advertising 
Sign 

WH/2019/9
98 

15-10-19 No Permit 
Required 

21 Chessell Street 
Mont Albert North 
Vic 3129 

Elgar Removal of 
Vegetation (One 
Tree) 

VicSmart - 
Tree 

WH/2019/8
79 

24-10-19 Withdrawn 315 Burwood 
Highway Burwood 
East Vic 3151 

Morack For the change of 
use on the ground 
floor tenancy to a 
restricted 
recreation facility 
and signage. 

Change of 
Use 

WH/2019/9
40 

15-10-19 Withdrawn 321-345 Burwood 
Highway Forest 
Hill VIC 3131 

Morack tree removal VicSmart - 
Tree 
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BUILDING DISPENSATIONS/APPLICATIONS OCTOBER 2019 

Address Date Ward Result 

10 Shafer Road, Blackburn North 31-10-19 Central Consent Granted 83 

12 Orana Street, Blackburn 28-10-19 Central Consent Granted 76,79 

183 Blackburn Road, Blackburn South 07-10-19 Central Consent Granted 74 

23 Katrina Street, Blackburn North 08-10-19 Central Consent Granted 89 

24 Rosalind Crescent, Blackburn 07-10-19 Central Consent Granted 74 

28 Boyd Street, Blackburn South 30-10-19 Central Consent Granted 79 

28 Orchard Grove, Blackburn South 22-10-19 Central Consent Granted 79 

35 Larch Street, Blackburn 29-10-19 Central Consent Granted 89 

7 Marama Street, Blackburn South 31-10-19 Central Consent Granted 76,81,75 

9 Highfield Avenue, Blackburn South 01-10-19 Central Consent Granted 80 

13 Elder Street, Blackburn 25-10-19 Central Consent Refused 89 

1 Arnold Street, Box Hill 25-10-19 Elgar Consent Granted 116 

1/71 Peter Street, Box Hill North 09-10-19 Elgar Consent Granted 79 

1/711 Canterbury Road, Surrey Hills 16-10-19 Elgar Consent Granted 89 

10a Wellesley Street, Mont Albert 04-10-19 Elgar Consent Granted 75 

14 Curlewis Street, Mont Albert 09-10-19 Elgar Consent Granted 79 

26 Boxleigh Grove, Box Hill North 22-10-19 Elgar Consent Granted 75,80 

35 Court Street, Box Hill 17-10-19 Elgar Consent Granted 75 

450 Belmore Road, Mont Albert North 04-10-19 Elgar Consent Granted 79 

46 Mitchell Road, Mont Albert North 18-10-19 Elgar Consent Granted 79,74 

66 Boondara Road, Mont Albert North 16-10-19 Elgar Consent Granted 76 

7 Belgravia Avenue, Mont Albert North 16-10-19 Elgar Consent Granted 85 

826-834 Whitehorse Road, Box Hill 23-10-19 Elgar Consent Granted 116 

9-11 Ellingworth Parade, Box Hill 16-10-19 Elgar Consent Granted 116 

9-11 Prospect Street, Box Hill 15-10-19 Elgar Consent Granted 116 

21 Barkly Street, Box Hill 10-10-19 Elgar Consent Refused 74 

26 Boxleigh Grove, Box Hill North 22-10-19 Elgar Consent Refused 79,74 

10 Market Street, Box Hill 18-10-19 Elgar Expired 116 

9-11 Prospect Street, Box Hill 15-10-19 Elgar Withdrawn 116 

1 Walbrook Drive, Vermont South 30-10-19 Morack Consent Granted 74,79 

3 Radiant Crescent, Forest Hill 04-10-19 Morack Consent Granted 81 

5 Bagleys Lane, Vermont 14-10-19 Morack Consent Granted 79 

571 Highbury Road, Burwood East 14-10-19 Morack Consent Granted 79 

53 Mill Avenue, Forest Hill 01-10-19 Morack Consent Refused 74 

9 Wingrove Street, Forest Hill 10-10-19 Morack Consent Refused 74 

26 Douglas Avenue, Box Hill South 31-10-19 Riversdale Consent Granted 92 

30 Glenice Avenue, Blackburn South 18-10-19 Riversdale Consent Granted 79,74 

7 Donald Road, Burwood 16-10-19 Riversdale Consent Granted 74 

11 O'brien Crescent, Blackburn South 09-10-19 Riversdale Consent Refused 79 

11 Trent Court, Burwood East 04-10-19 Riversdale Consent Refused 89 

137-139 Burwood Highway, Burwood 03-10-19 Riversdale Consent Refused 116 

20 Penrose Street, Box Hill South 21-10-19 Riversdale Consent Refused 82 

33 Newton Street, Surrey Hills 31-10-19 Riversdale Consent Refused 82 

9 Kitchener Street, Box Hill South 04-10-19 Riversdale Consent Refused 89 

1 Leonard Street, Burwood 17-10-19 Riversdale Expired 116 
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Address Date Ward Result 

133 Junction Road, Nunawading 09-10-19 Springfield Consent Granted 81 

14 Milton Street, Nunawading 09-10-19 Springfield Consent Granted 76,79 

18 Park Close, Vermont 03-10-19 Springfield Consent Granted 74 

2 Arbor Avenue, Nunawading 30-10-19 Springfield Consent Granted 89 

34 Orient Avenue, Mitcham 09-10-19 Springfield Consent Granted 74 

42-44 Norcal Road, Nunawading 10-10-19 Springfield Consent Granted 89 

45 O'shannessy Street, Nunawading 18-10-19 Springfield Consent Granted 86 

5/12 Harrison Street, Mitcham 23-10-19 Springfield Consent Granted 80 

70 Mount Pleasant Road, Nunawading 16-10-19 Springfield Consent Granted 89,76 

9 Nicoll Street, Nunawading 17-10-19 Springfield Consent Granted 80 

 

DELEGATED DECISIONS MADE ON STRATEGIC PLANNING MATTERS OCTOBER 
2019 

Decision 

Date  

Act Section Decision Street 

Address 

Ward Proposal Reference 

30.10.19 Whitehorse 
Planning 
Scheme 

Delegate 
Approval 

Crossway 
Baptist 
Church 
2-18 and 
27-29 
Vision 
Drive and 
709 
Highbury 
Road, 
Burwood 
East 

Morack Determines the updated 
and additional 
Development Plan 
documents submitted as 
satisfactory for 
endorsement and 
approves a minor 
amendment to Council’s 
resolution on 24 June 
2013 to approve a 
Traffic Engineering 
Assessment for Phases 
1-4 and require a Traffic 
Assessment before 
Phase 5 being the 
largest stage of the 
development proposal.  

Development 
Plan Overlay, 
Schedule 4 

 

REGISTER OF CONTRACTS SIGNED BY CEO DELEGATION OCTOBER 2019 

Contract Number Service 

30187 Whitehorse Recycling and Waste Centre - E Waste Facility Upgrade 

30139 Environmental Monitoring 

30203 Chester Street Reconstruction 
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REGISTER OF PROPERTY DOCUMENTS EXECUTED OCTOBER 2019  

Property Address  Document Type Document Detail 

Fire Services Property Levy (FSPL)   

Fire Services Property Levey Quarterly 
Payment Number 1 

Vendor Payment 
Authorisation 
Form 

State Revenue Office 

12 Rutland Road, Box Hill Not applicable Premises are leased to Yooralla, 
hence leviable status revised from 
'Exempt' to 'Public Benefit' for FSPL 
purposes· 

182 Canterbury Road, Blackburn South Not applicable Land use changed from 
'Residential' to 'Commercial' for 
FSPL purposes 

337 Blackburn Road, Burwood East Not applicable Land use changed from 
'Residential' to 'Commercial' for 
FSPL purposes 

 

REGISTER OF DOCUMENTS AFFIXED WITH THE COUNCIL SEAL OCTOBER 2019 

Nil 

PARKING RESTRICTIONS APPROVED BY DELEGATION OCTOBER 2019 

Address: Irving Avenue, Box Hill: 6m west of the eastern boundary of 5-7 Irving 
Avenue to 11m west of the eastern boundary of 5-7 Irving Avenue: south 
side 

Previously:  1 ‘2-Hour, 7.30am to 7.30pm, Monday to Friday’ parking space 
Now:  1 ‘No Stopping’ parking space 

Address: Irving Avenue, Box Hill: 5m west of the western boundary of 5-7 Irving 
Avenue to 10m west of the western boundary of 5-7 Irving Avenue: south 
side 

Previously:  1 ‘2-Hour, 7.30am to 7.30pm, Monday to Friday’ parking space  
Now:  1 ‘No Stopping’ parking space 

Address: Hunter Drive, Blackburn South: from 14m north of 4 Barns Street south 
boundary to 3m south from 4 Barns Street south boundary: west side 

Previously:  2 ‘Unrestricted’ parking spaces 
Now:  2 ‘No Stopping’ parking spaces 
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VENDOR PAYMENT SUMMARY: SUMS PAID DURING OCTOBER 2019 

Date Total Issued Payments (direct debit, 
cheques or electronic 
funds transfer) 

Transaction Type 
EFT/CHQ/DD 

01/10/2019 $751.32 2 EFT 

03/10/2019 $2,900.22 7 EFC 

03/10/2019 $9,428.66 10 CHQ 

03/10/2019 $1,489,232.20 208 EFT 

04/10/2019 $48,862.00 1 EFT 

09/10/2019 $652.00 1 EFT 

10/10/2019 $465,540.17 3 EFT 

10/10/2019 $19,032.32 36 EFC 

10/10/2019 $146,466.64 72 CHQ 

10/10/2019 $1,297,835.12 197 EFT 

11/10/2019 $20,069.50 1 EFT 

14/10/2019 $3,534,649.05 1 EFT 

16/10/2019 $6,655.60 36 EFC 

17/10/2019 $34,946.84 20 CHQ 

17/10/2019 $1,191,232.09 228 EFT 

18/10/2019 $13,186.25 1 EFT 

22/10/2019 $192.50 1 EFT 

24/10/2019 $9,227.79 40 EFC 

24/10/2019 $38,591.07 19 CHQ 

24/10/2019 $1,901,043.40 239 EFT 

24/10/2019 $300.00 1 EFT 

24/10/2019 $79,403.50 1 EFT  

28/10/2019 $45,866.25 1 EFT 

29/10/2019 $9,019.29 2 EFT 
    

GROSS $14,826,977.69 
 

1503 
 

Monthly Lease 
Payments $35,146.03  

 

Direct Debit 
Payments $155,463.06  

 

CANCELLED 
PAYMENTS -$8,913.20  

 

NETT $15,008,673.58 1488  
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10 REPORTS FROM DELEGATES, SPECIAL COMMITTEE 
RECOMMENDATIONS AND ASSEMBLY OF COUNCILLORS 
RECORDS 

10.1 Reports by Delegates 
 

(NB: Reports only from Councillors appointed by Council as delegates to 
community organisations/committees/groups) 

RECOMMENDATION 

That the reports from delegates be received and noted. 

10.2 Recommendation from the Special Committee of Council 
Meeting of 2 December 2019  

  Nil 
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10.3 Record of Assembly of Councillors 

Meeting 
Date 

Matter/s Discussed Councillors  
Present 

Officers 
Present 

Disclosures 
of Conflict of 
Interest 

Councillor 
/Officer 
attendance 
following 
disclosure 

25.11.19 

6:30-7:00pm 
 

Councillor Informal 
Briefing Session 

 Urgent Business 

 9.1.1 Student 
Accommodation Policy 
Review: Results of 
Exhibition of 
Amendment C213 

 Council Approval to 
Amend Maximum 
Expenditure Threshold 
for Contract 30024 
Concrete Paving and 
Kerbing Services 

 Councillor 
Appointments: 
Procedure and Current 
Nominations 

Cr Ellis (Mayor 
& Chair) 
Cr Barker 
Cr Bennett 
Cr Cutts 
Cr Carr 
Cr Davenport 
Cr Ellis 
Cr Liu 
Cr Massoud 
Cr Munroe 
 

S McMillan 
J Green 
N Brown 
T Wilkinson 
P Smith 
A De Fazio 
J Russell  
H Rowlands 
 

Nil Nil 

02.12.19 

6:30-11:30pm 

Councillor Briefing 
Session 

 Special Committee 
Agenda: Other 
Business 

 Regional Assessment 
Service 

 The Burwood Project 

 Financial report as at 
31 October 2019 

 Draft Council Agenda 9 
December 2019 

 Budget 2020-21 kickoff 

 Organisational Review 

Cr Ellis (Mayor 
& Chair) 
Cr Barker 
Cr Bennett 
Cr Cutts 
Cr Carr 
Cr Davenport 
Cr Ellis 
Cr Liu 
Cr Massoud 
Cr Munroe 

S McMillan 
J Green 
N Brown 
T Wilkinson 
P Smith 
A De Fazio 
J Russell  
H Rowlands 
M Hassan 
T Johnson 
D Seddon  
R Andresson 
B Upston 
S Cann 
C Gripps 
I Kostopoulos 
J Nikas 
T Peak 

 Cr Carr 
declared a 
conflict of 
interest in 
Item 9.4.2 
Intention to 
lease Land to 
Not-For-Profit 
Organisations
as she is on 
the board of 
Family Access 
Network 

 Cr Liu 
declared an 
indirect 
conflict of 
interest in 
Item 12.1 
Other Matter 
with nominee 
1 

 Cr Carr having 
declared a 

1. conflict of 
interest in Item 
9.4.2 Intention 
to lease Land to 
Not-For-Profit 
Organisations, 
left the meeting 
at 9:02pm prior 
to discussion on 
the item, 
returning at 
9:10pm 

 Cr Liu having 
declared an 
indirect conflict 
of interest in 
Item 12.1 Other 
Matter left the 
meeting at 
11:01pm prior 
to discussion on 
the item, 
returning at 
11:03pm. 

 
RECOMMENDATION 

That the record of Assembly of Councillors be received and noted. 
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11 REPORTS ON CONFERENCES/SEMINARS ATTENDANCE 
 

RECOMMENDATION 

That the record of reports on conferences/seminars attendance be received 
and noted. 

12 CONFIDENTIAL REPORTS 
 

RECOMMENDATION 

THAT IN ACCORDANCE WITH SECTION 89(2) (H) OF THE LOCAL 
GOVERNMENT ACT 1989 THE COUNCIL SHOULD RESOLVE TO GO INTO 
CAMERA AND CLOSE THE MEETING TO THE PUBLIC AS THE MATTERS TO 
BE DEALT WITH RELATE TO ANY OTHER MATTER WHICH THE COUNCIL 
OR SPECIAL COMMITTEE CONSIDERS WOULD PREJUDICE THE COUNCIL 
OR ANY PERSON. 
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Planning and Environment Act 1987 


WHITEHORSE PLANNING SCHEME 


AMENDMENT C216whse 


EXPLANATORY REPORT 


Who is the planning authority? 
This amendment has been prepared by the Whitehorse City Council which is the planning authority 
for this amendment. 


The Amendment has been made at the request of Whitehorse City Council. 


Land affected by the Amendment 
The Amendment applies to the land at 42-48 Glenburnie Road, Mitcham. 


Map 1: Location of subject site 


What the amendment does 
The Amendment proposes to apply the heritage overlay to the building and land known as ‘Minamere’ 
at 42-48 Glenburnie Road, Mitcham. 


The Amendment makes the following proposed changes to the Whitehorse Planning Scheme:  
 Amends the Schedule to Clause 43.01 Heritage Overlay to include the heritage place known as 


‘Minamere’ - 42-48 Glenburnie Road, Mitcham (HO296) on a permanent basis.  
 Amends Planning Scheme Map 3HO to include 42-48 Glenburnie Road, Mitcham. 
 Amends the Schedule to Clause 72.04 to incorporate the document ‘Minamere’ 42-48 


Glenburnie Road, Mitcham – Statement of Significance, June 2019.  







Strategic assessment of the Amendment 


Why is the Amendment required? 
The proposed amendment is required to provide heritage protection to the dwelling known as 
‘Minamere’ at 42-48 Glenburnie Road, Mitcham.  


The subject property was identified as being of potential heritage significance in past Whitehorse 
heritage assessments and was recognised as requiring further heritage investigation when funding 
became available. 


On 7 November 2018, Council, under delegation, issued a Notice of Refusal to Grant a Permit for the 
construction on ten (10) double storey dwellings on the subject site. A total of 156 objections were 
received in response to notification of this application, with heritage raised as a ground for concern.  


An application under Section 29A of the Building Act 1993 was then lodged with Council for the 
demolition of the dwelling, placing the property under immediate threat. Council immediately sought to 
apply interim heritage controls to the site via Whitehorse Planning Scheme Amendment C215whse. 
While the Minister for Planning considered Council’s amendment request, the demolition request was 
suspended. On 16 May 2019 the request for interim heritage controls was approved and applied to the 
site. The interim controls expire on 31 March 2020. 


‘Minamere’ at 42-48 Glenburnie Road, Mitcham is a single storey timber Californian Bungalow that 
was constructed in c1926. Elements that contribute to the significance of the place include (but are 
not limited to): 


 The house’s original external form, materials and detailing. 
 The house’s high level of integrity to its original design and construction 
 The house’s setting in a large garden allotment sited to appreciate the views to the 


Dandenong Ranges. 
 Surviving mature trees particularly the Monterey Cypress (Cupressus macrocarpa) and 


Mediterranean Cypress (Cupressus sempervirens) on the north boundary and the English 
Oak (Quercus robur) in the driveway turning circle. 


Minamere is of historical and architectural significance to the City of Whitehorse. It is historically 
significant for its association with the development of the Mitcham area in the 1920s and represents 
the pursuit by the middle class of a semi-rural lifestyle during the interwar years. 


Minamere is of architectural significance as a fine, highly intact and representative example of a large 
Californian Bungalow style house. It displays typical characteristics of the style, popular in the 1920s 
and 30s across Melbourne, including a low-pitched cross-gabled roof clad with terracotta tiles, 
exposed rafter ends, projecting boxed windows and wide verandahs with square timber posts. 


The curtilage of the heritage overlay extends to the property boundaries ensuring that the garden 
setting which contributes to Minamere’s significance is protected. Applying the Heritage Overlay to the 
entire site will ensure that any future development of the site is undertaken in a way that respects the 
architectural and historical significance of the place. 


Preserving the place will help to demonstrate to current and future generations, the historical 
development of the locality, as well as providing an aesthetically appealing property which adds to the 
cultural identity of the City of Whitehorse.  


The amendment is supported by a heritage citation report prepared by Coleman Architects. 


How does the Amendment implement the objectives of planning in Victoria? 
The objectives of planning in Victoria outlined at Section 4(1) of the Planning and Environment Act 
1987 (the Act) are: 


(a) to provide for the fair, orderly, economic and sustainable use, and development of land;


(b) to provide for the protection of natural and man-made resources and the maintenance of
ecological processes and genetic diversity;


(c) to secure a pleasant, efficient and safe working, living and recreational environment for all
Victorians and visitors to Victoria;







(d) to conserve and enhance those buildings, areas or other places which are of scientific, aesthetic,
architectural or historical interest, or otherwise of special cultural value;


(e) to protect public utilities and other assets and enable the orderly provision and co-ordination of
public utilities and other facilities for the benefit of the community;


(f) to facilitate development in accordance with the objectives set out in paragraphs (a), (b), (c), (d)
and (e);


(fa) to facilitate the provision of affordable housing in Victoria; 


(g) to balance the present and future interests of all Victorians.


The proposed amendment meets the objectives of planning in Victoria by conserving a place that is of 
historical and architectural significance and is of special cultural value. Preserving the subject 
property provides a tangible link to the development of Melbourne’s suburbs and preserves the 
interests of both present and future Victorians.  


How does the Amendment address any environmental, social and economic effects? 
The proposed amendment has been assessed against sections 12(2)(b) and (c) of the Act to consider 
the social and economic effects and whether or not the amendment results in a net community 
benefit. 


The amendment is anticipated to provide a positive contribution to the environment by assisting in the 
conservation of a heritage place. The amendment will make a significant contribution to the built 
environment of the City of Whitehorse. Although tree controls are not proposed for inclusion in the 
Schedule to Clause 43.01 Heritage Overlay there are a number mature trees that are considered to 
contribute to the heritage significance of the place. This is another reason why the proposed Heritage 
Overlay extends to the boundaries of the subject site. 


The amendment is likely to have positive social impacts by providing protection for a site that helps to 
demonstrate to current and future generations, the historical development of the locality, as well as 
providing an aesthetically appealing property which adds to the cultural identity of the City of 
Whitehorse. 


The amendment is not expected to have significant economic effects, although it may impose 
additional costs on the owners or developers of the affected site pre-amendment approval in terms of 
property holding costs and post-amendment approval as a planning permit would be required for most 
buildings and works. The amendment also has potential to impose some economic impact on the 
owners or developers on the affected site in terms of their redevelopment opportunities.  


Does the Amendment address relevant bushfire risk? 
The proposed amendment will not result in any increase to the risk to life as a priority, property, 
community infrastructure and the natural environment from bushfire.  


Does the Amendment comply with the requirements of any Minister’s Direction applicable to 
the amendment? 
The amendment complies with the requirements of the Ministerial Direction – The Form and Content 
of Planning Schemes (Section 7(5) of the Act). 


How does the Amendment support or implement the Planning Policy Framework and any 
adopted State policy? 
The relevant Clauses of the Planning Policy Framework affected by the amendment include Clause 15 
- Built Environment and Heritage and Clause 15.03 – Heritage.


The proposed amendment addresses the State Policy at Clause 15 by protecting a site with heritage 
significance and cultural value. The Amendment seeks to protect a property that contributes positively 
to the local character and sense of place. 


The application of the Heritage Overlay on the property will give effect to the objective of Clause 15.03-
1S by identifying a place of heritage significance and applying the Heritage Overlay to provide for its 
conservation. The proposed amendment responds directly to the strategies outlined at this Clause. 







How does the Amendment support or implement the Local Planning Policy Framework, and 
specifically the Municipal Strategic Statement? 
Clause 21.05 Environment 


One of the objectives of Clause 21.05 is “to protect and enhance areas with special cultural or historic 
significance for the future enjoyment of the community”. This is to be achieved through the identification 
of buildings of historical significance, and implemented by applying the HO to buildings and structures 
identified in heritage reviews. The amendment responds directly to and implements the objectives of 
this clause, by applying the HO to a property identified in a heritage review. 


Clause 21.06 Housing 


Clause 21.06 identifies that the Whitehorse community is concerned about maintaining the high quality 
residential environment and ensuring that areas of heritage or special character are protected as the 
City’s population grows.  


The subject property is also in a Neighbourhood Residential Zone (Schedule 1). One of the objectives 
of Clause 21.06 is to conserve and enhance those elements which contribute to the valued 
environmental, heritage and neighbourhood character of the place. To achieve this Clause 21.06 
recommends applying the Heritage Overlay to buildings, structures and natural features of historical 
significance. 


Clause 22.01 Heritage Buildings and Precincts 


Clause 22.01 includes an objective “to ensure that all possible avenues are pursued to ensure the 
conservation of heritage sites and that demolition is allowed only where there are extenuating 
circumstances”. It is not considered that there are any extenuating circumstances warranting the 
demolition of the subject property. The most appropriate option available to Council is to ensure 
conservation of the identified building is via heritage protection. 


Clause 22.01 specifically concedes that not all buildings of heritage significance within the municipality 
are identified in the HO as existing studies have not identified and investigated every potential heritage 
place. Clause 22.01 further notes that Council is endeavouring to identify places of heritage significance 
that are not already protected.  


Does the Amendment make proper use of the Victoria Planning Provisions? 
The proposed amendment makes proper use of the Victoria Planning Provisions. The Heritage 
Overlay is the most appropriate planning tool to ensure that the local heritage significance of the place 
is considered in any future proposal to develop the subject land. This is consistent with direction in 
Planning Practice Note No. 1 Applying the Heritage Overlay and the Ministerial Direction – The Form 
and Content of Planning Schemes. 


How does the Amendment address the views of any relevant agency? 
The proposed amendment does not require referral to any specific agency. 


Does the Amendment address relevant requirements of the Transport Integration Act 2010? 
There are no requirements in the Transport Integration Act 2010 that are of relevance to the 
amendment. 


Resource and administrative costs 


What impact will the new planning provisions have on the resource and administrative costs of 
the responsible authority? 
Anticipated additional resources resulting from an approved amendment will be involved in 
administering the Heritage Overlay on the subject property. This is expected to be minimal and any 
planning permit applications can be accommodated by current staff members as Council has a well-
established process for assessing heritage applications and the amendment affects one property.  







Where you may inspect this Amendment 


The Amendment is available for public inspection, free of charge, during office hours at the following 
places: 


 
 


Whitehorse City Council, Planning Counter, 379 Whitehorse Road, Nunawading; Whitehorse 
City Council Service Centres at Box Hill Town Hall and Forest Hill Chase Shopping Centre; 
Libraries in the City of Whitehouse at Nunawading, Vermont South, Blackburn and Box Hill;  
On intthe ernet at: www.whitehorse.vic.gov.au. 


The Amendment can also be inspected free of charge at the Department of Environment, Land, Water 
and Planning website at www.planning.vic.gov.au/public-inspection. 


Panel hearing dates 
In accordance with clause 4(2) of Ministerial Direction No.15 the following panel hearing dates have 
been set for this amendment: 


 Directions hearing:  February 2010. 


 Panel hearing:  March 2020. 







Planning and Environment Act 1987 


WHITEHORSE PLANNING SCHEME 


AMENDMENT C216whse 


INSTRUCTION SHEET 


The planning authority for this amendment is the Whitehorse City Council. 


The Whitehorse Planning Scheme is amended as follows: 


Planning Scheme Maps 


The Planning Scheme Maps are amended by a total of 1 attached map. 


Overlay Maps   


1. Amend Planning Scheme Map No. 3HO in the manner shown on the 1 attached map marked 
�Whitehorse Planning Scheme, Amendment C216whse�.   


Planning Scheme Ordinance 


The Planning Scheme Ordinance is amended as follows: 


2. In Overlays � Clause 43.01 replace the Schedule with a new Schedule in the form of the attached 
document.  


3. In Operational Provisions � Clause 72.04, replace the Schedule with a new Schedule in the form 
of the attached document. 


End of document 
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SCHEDULE TO CLAUSE 72.04 DOCUMENTS INCORPORATED IN THIS PLANNING
SCHEME


1.0
--/--/----
Proposed C216whse


Incorporated documents


Introduced by:Name of document


C216whse'Minamere' - 42-48 Glenburnie Road, Mitcham - Statement of
Significance, June 2019


C194517 and 519-521 Station Street, Box Hill, December 2016


C210Deakin University Burwood Link Project, Incorporated Document,
November 2015


C32Extension of the Eastern Freeway and Completion of the Ringwood
Bypass, June 2001


C63Former Brickworks Site Building Height Plan, 13 July 2005


C63Former Brickworks Site Framework Plan, 13 July 2005


C189Incorporated Document No. 10 - City of Whitehorse-Statements of
Tree Significance-2005 (updated September 2016)


C189Incorporated Document No. 11 - City of Whitehorse-Statements of
Tree Significance-2006 (updated September 2016)


NPS1Incorporated Document No. 2 - 690 Elgar Road, Box Hill North,
August 1999


NPS1Incorporated Document No. 3 - 172-176 Middleborough Road, South
Blackburn, August 1999


NPS1Incorporated Document No. 4 - 237-243Whitehorse Road, Blackburn,
August 1999


NPS1Incorporated Document No. 7 � 5 Delany Avenue, Burwood, August
1999


C42Incorporated Document No. 9, 300-340 Elgar Road, Box Hill South,
August 2002


C120Incorporated Document No.12 - 114 - 126 Burwood Highway and
3-5 Evans Street, Burwood (Reece) July 2009


C181Incorporated Document No.13 City of Whitehorse Significant Tree
Study 22 April 2016


NPS1Incorporated Document No.6 � 286 Whitehorse Road, Nunawading,
August 1999


C183Level Crossing Removal Project � Blackburn Road, Blackburn and
Heatherdale Road, Mitcham Incorproated Document, December 2015


C150MitchamRoad and Rooks Road Rail Separation Project Incorporated
Document, November 2012


C121Springvale Road Rail Separation Project Incorporated Document,
September 2009


C73The City of Whitehorse Environmental Weed List 2007


C49Vermont South Tram Extension, Blackburn Road to Vermont South,
City of Whitehorse, October 2003


C39WhitehorseRoad/MaroondahHighway Tram Line Extension to Station
Street, Box Hill, December 2001
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‘MINAMERE’, 42-48 GLENBURNIE ROAD, MITCHAM
Building type: House HO No:


Address: 42-48 Glenburnie Road Melway Map Ref: 49 A12
Mitcham


Place Type: Residential Construction Date: c1926


Architect: unknown Builder: unknown


Grading: Locally significant Integrity: High


Recommendation: Include in Heritage Overlay Extent of Overlay: To title boundaries


Figure 1. House at 42-48 Glenburnie Road, Mitcham (Coleman Architects, Nov 2018)


Statement of Significance
What is significant?
Minamere, at 42-48 Glenburnie Road, Mitcham, a single-storey timber Californian Bungalow 
constructed in  c1926.


Elements that contribute to the significance of the place include (but are not limited to):


The house’s original external form, materials and detailing.
The house’s high level of integrity to its original design and construction
The house’s setting in a large garden allotment sited to appreciate the views to the 
Dandenong Ranges.
Surviving mature trees particularly the Monterey Cypress (Cupressus macrocarpa) 
and Mediterranean Cypress (Cupressus sempervirens)on the north boundary and the 
English Oak (Quercus robur) in the driveway turning circle.
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Later alterations at the south-west corner of the house, the free-standing bungalow and 
other outbuildings are not significant.


How is it significant?
Minamere, at 42-48 Glenburnie Road, Mitcham, is of historical and architectural significance 
to the City of Whitehorse.


Why is it significant?
Minamere is historically significant for its association with the  development of the Mitcham 
area in the 1920s. As a house set on a large allotment originally with views to the Dandenong 
Ranges, it clearly represents the pursuit by the middle classes of a semi-rural lifestyle during 
the interwar years. [Criterion A]


Minamere is of architectural significance as a fine, highly intact and representative example 
of a large Californian Bungalow style house. It displays typical characteristics of the style, 
popular in the 1920s and 30s across Melbourne, including a low-pitched cross-gabled roof 
clad with terracotta tiles, exposed rafter ends, projecting boxed windows and wide 
verandahs with square timber posts. [Criterion D]


Historical Themes
Minamere is associated with the following themes as defined in the City of Whitehorse 
Heritage Review 1999: Volume 1: Thematic History.


2.0 Land Sales, Subdivision and Housing


2.7 Early Twentieth Century


History
The subject site, initially just over 1 acre in size, was created through a subdivision by James 
Malcolm in I9191 as Lot 13, and purchased by Adelaide Wyuna Coates in September 1920.2


At the time of subdivision, the land that is now Glenburnie Road was partially developed rural 
land with possibly residual native vegetation. It occupied one of the highest points in the 
eastern suburbs and expansive views to the Dandenong Ranges were available from the 
property. An auction notice (Figure 2) for the Premier Estate (comprising Premier Avenue, 
Walker Avenue and part of Hall Avenue) immediately to the west of Glenburnie Road, 
illustrates the local environment at the time. Coates married Arthur J Eggleton in 1921, but 
electoral rolls indicate that they never lived at the property. 3


The property was then purchased by Frederick William Pett, of 24 Dandenong Road, 
Caulfield in February 1926, who then sold it to Elisabeth Grace Davies, nurse, of the same 
address.4 By 1927, both Pett and Davies were residing at Glenburnie Road5 suggesting that 
the house was constructed soon after Pett purchased the property. According to research 
undertaken by Richard Thwaites, a former resident of Minamere, Frederick Pett was born in 
Melbourne in 1869, the son of Warwick Weston Pett, a successful engraver and property 


1 Plan of Subdivision No.7514
2 Certificate of Title, Vol4412, Fol882221
3 Thwaites, Notes on Minamere, Glenburnie Road, July 2018
4 Certificate of Title, Vol4412, Fol882221
5 Electoral Rolls, from Notes on Minamere, Glenburnie Road, July 2018
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investor, and Victorine Gibbons, a concert pianist, teacher and musical entrepreneur.6 After 
his father’s death in 1889, Frederick Pett lived as a ‘gentleman’ on his inheritance. Pett had 
returned to Australia in 1925 following several years in England, leaving his wife and married 
daughter there. He had suffered ill health from at least 1905 and Minamere was potentially 
purchased to provide a place to spend his final years. He died in September 1930, aged 61.7


The house remains substantially as constructed for Pett apart from minor additions in the 
1960s.


Elisabeth Davies sold the property in 1931, a few months after Pett’s death, to Ernest Edward 
Dykes, public servant.8 Dykes died within a year of the purchase and his executors sold the 
property to John Christian Ritson, a bank officer, who may have been renting the property at 
the time as his address on title is given as Glenburnie Road.9


In May 1948, Ritson sold the southern portion of the property (now 52 Glenburnie Road) to 
George Cobham Proctor and in August 1949, the remaining portion (now 42-48 Glenburnie 
Road) to Michael Raynor Thwaites.10 A lecturer in English at the University of Melbourne, 
Thwaites and his wife, Honor, named the property Minamere and lived there until 1964, when 
the property was sold to Graham Corbett and Jean Margaret Corbett, both medical 
practitioners.11 The Corbetts added an additional bedoom to the south-west corner of the 
house in the late 1960s or early 1970s.12 Minamere was sold to the current owners in 2016.


6 Richard Thwaites, Notes on Minamere, Glenburnie Road, July 2018
7 Ibid.
8 Certificate of Title, Vol 4412, Fol 882221
9 Certificate of Title, Vol 4412, Fol 882221
10 Certificate of Title, Vol 4412, Fol 882221
11 Certificate of Title, Vol 8506, Fol 887
12 From City of Whitehorse aerial photos 1963-4 and 1975.
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Figure 2. Advertisement for ‘Premier Estate’, Mitcham, showing the semi-rural land to the east. The location of the 
subject site indicated with arrow. (SLV)
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Figure 3  Aerial photograph, 1945, showing orchards to south and west of the house and substantial planting to the 
north and east boundaries. (Department of Environment, Land, Water & Planning)


Figure 4. Aerial photograph of 1963/64 showing the house at 52 Glenburnie Road, following the sale of the southern 
section of the original property in 1948, and the developing garden at Minamere. (Department of Environment, 
Land, Water & Planning)


Description
The land at ‘Minamere’, at 42-48 Glenburnie Road, Mitcham, is located on the west side of 
Glenburnie Road. The land is roughly square in shape and falls to the east, originally affording 
the front of the house expansive views to the Dandenong Ranges. The house is set well back 
from the street frontage and was originally located approximately in the centre of the 
property prior to subdivision in 1949. The property has remnants of a mature garden with a 
number of large trees, particularly around the perimeter, and to the east boundary. The 
existing driveway with its turning circle and central tree also remains.


The house is a single-storey, Californian Bungalow style building, with a transverse-gabled 
terracotta tiled roof that has intersecting gables to the east and west elevations. The front 
elevation has a wide verandah running its entire length, with a small enclosed section at the 
south end. The verandah has a timber lined soffit and is supported with simple square posts 
devoid of decorative treatment. A low balustrade of wide boards in a lattice form runs 
between the posts. The double-hung, box-framed windows to the east and north elevations, 
have unusual vertical glazing bars to the top sashes. The double doors to the verandah have 
plain, square profile glazing bars and bracketed transoms. The south and west elevations are 
very simply detailed.
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The gable-roofed, weatherboard clad outbuilding located in the north-west of the property 
appears contemporary to the house and the small free-standing bungalow located 
immediately to the west of the house has existed from at least 1945.13


The property contains several mature trees, and although most of those on the south, east
and west boundaries appear to date from post-1945, there are three that are associated 
with the early years of the property that contribute to understanding of the original garden 
setting of the place. These are: a large Monterey Cypress (Cupressus macrocarpa, noted as 
T1 on Figures 11 & 12) located adjacent to the garage north of the drive turning circle; a 
Mediterranean Cypress (Cupressus sempervirens, noted as T2 on Figures 11 & 12) which 
appears to be the sole survivor of the formerly dense planting along the northern boundary 
of the property shown in the 1945 aerial photograph (Figure 3); and an English Oak (Quercus 
robur, noted as T3 on Figures 11 & 12) located in the centre of the driveway turning circle
which also appears in the 1945 aerial photograph. 


Figure 5. Floor Plan from Real Estate.com 2018 (North to right of page). The bedroom in the top left (south-west) 
corner was added between 1963 and 1975.


13 Richard Thwaites recalls the outbuilding being referred to as the ‘Man’s Room’ although not used as such during 
his family’s time at Minamere. Thwaite’s recollections also  provide provides much additional insight into Minamere in 
the 1950s. (Richard Thwaites, Notes on Minamere, Glenburnie Road, July 2018)
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Figure 6.  Detail of aerial photo from  showing extent of original roof form and bedroom addition in south-west corner
- north to right of page.(City of Whitehorse 2018)


Figure 7. Verandah (Coleman Architects, Nov 2018) Figure 8. East Elevation (Coleman Architects, Nov 
2018)
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Figure 9.  West Elevation (Coleman Architects, Nov 2018) Figure 10.  Drive viewed from west 
(Coleman Architects, Nov 2018)


Integrity
Minamere retains a high degree of integrity to the interwar period in fabric, form and detail. 
While the building has undergone some alterations including the addition of the flat-roofed 
bedroom in the south-west corner in the 1960s, the enclosure of the rear porch, and possibly 
the enclosure of a verandah at the north end to create a sunroom, these do not diminish the 
ability to understand and appreciate the place as a highly intact example of a Californian
Bungalow-style home.


The free-standing bungalow at the rear of the house and the shed in the north-west corner 
are also substantially intact.


Comparative Analysis
There are very few individual houses from the Interwar period in the Mitcham area included 
in the City of Whitehorse Heritage Overlay. Given that this was the major period for expansion 
of the Mitcham area, there is little in the Heritage Overlay to demonstrate this boom period.


Plumstead, at 77 Terrara Road, Vermont (HO80), designed by the architect J F W Ballantyne 
as his own family home in 1937, reflects the move by some to large garden allotments on the 
Melbourne suburban fringe in the 1920s and 30s. Architecturally, it reflects the influence of 
Walter Burley Griffin and is therefore stylistically different from Minamere.


To the north of Glenburnie Road, nearer to the Mitcham town centre, are a group of houses 
in the Heritage Overlay, but only three are representative of the Interwar period.


The house at 8 Benares Street, Mitcham (HO18), is a single-storey brick bungalow-style house 
built in 1920 for E F Walker of the Australian Brick, Tile and Tessellated Tile Company. Although 
exhibiting bungalow characteristics, its brick construction differentiates it from Minamere.


The house at 8 Meerut Street, Mitcham (HO57), was built in about 1922 for Edgar Edwardes 
Walker, the founder of the Australian Brick, Tile and Tessellated Tile Company. The house is a 
brick single-storey bungalow with a steep pitched roof containing an attic and is stylistically 
different from Minamere.
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The house at 456 Mitcham Road (HO60), was designed for J S and H Walker by architect C B 
Gibbs and constructed in about 1934. It is in an English Domestic style and is therefore also 
stylistically different from Minamere.


To the east of Glenburnie Road, in the former ‘Eastdawn Estate’ (Orient Avenue, Vernal 
Avenue and Hall Parade) and ‘Premier Estate’ (Walker Avenue, Premier Avenue and Hall 
Parade) are a small number of timber Californian Bungalow style houses typical of those 
promoted by the Victorian State Savings Bank in the 1920s and 30s. They are smaller buildings 
than Minamere, located on “quarter acre blocks” and do not reflect the expansive main 
frontage with deep verandah of Minamere, nor the large garden setting.


The houses in the City of Whitehorse that compare most closely to Minamere are a group in 
Blackburn, designed and constructed by A J Elmore. Algernon John Elmore (1882-1961) was 
an exponent of the Arts and Crafts and Fresh Air movements, and built many houses in the 
Blackburn area. His houses were typically sited on substantial tracts of land with naturalistic 
landscaping and were distinctive for their siting, designs, materials, joinery and finishes. A 
number of Elmore houses are comparable with Minamere with respect to their general form 
and detailing. These include:


The house at 27-29 The Avenue, Blackburn (HO210), constructed in 1923, is located in the 
centre of a large block and, similar to Minamere, has an expansive verandah along its 
principal elevation. It has a simpler form than Minamere with a single transverse gable roof.


‘Woodville’ at 106 Blackburn Road, Blackburn (HO200), was constructed in 1923 in a 
Californian Bungalow style and has a large transverse gable roof with a projecting gable 
over the asymmetrically placed verandah, and boxed projecting windows to the main 
elevation.


The house at 6 Furness Street, Blackburn (HO39), constructed on a large allotmement in 1928. 
The façade is dominated by a wide, spreading gable-end over a wide verandah with timber 
balustrade


Assessment Against Criteria


Following is an assessment of the place against the recognised heritage criteria set out in 
Planning Practice Note 1: Applying the Heritage Overlay (January 2018).


Criterion A: Importance to the course or pattern of our cultural or natural history (historical 
significance).


Minamere is historically significant for its association with the development of the Mitcham 
area in the 1920s. As a house set on a large allotment originally with views to the Dandenong 
Ranges, it clearly represents the pursuit by the middle classes of a semi-rural lifestyle during 
the interwar years.


Criterion B: Possession of uncommon, rare or endangered aspects of our cultural or natural 
history (rarity).


N/A


Criterion C: Potential to yield information that will contribute to understanding our cultural or 
natural history (research potential).
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N/A


Criterion D: Importance in demonstrating the principal characteristics of a class of cultural or 
natural places or environments (representativeness).


Minamere is of architectural significance as a fine, highly intact and representative example 
of a large Californian Bungalow style house. It displays typical characteristics of the style, 
popular in the 1920s and 30s across Melbourne, including a low-pitched cross-gabled roof 
clad with terracotta tiles, exposed rafter ends, projecting boxed windows and wide 
verandahs with square timber posts.


Criterion E: Importance in exhibiting particular aesthetic characteristics (aesthetic 
significance).


N/A


Criterion F: Importance in demonstrating a high degree of creative or technical 
achievement at a particular period (technical significance).


N/A


Criterion G: Strong or special association with a particular community or cultural group for 
social, cultural or spiritual reasons. This includes the significance of a place to Indigenous 
peoples as part of their continuing and developing cultural traditions (social significance). 


N/A


Criterion H: Special association with the life or works of a person, or group of persons, of 
importance in our history (associative significance).


N/A


Recommendations
It is recommended that the place be included in the Heritage Overlay of the Whitehorse 
Planning Scheme as an individually significant heritage place.


The following are recommended for the Schedule to the Heritage Overlay (Clause 43.01) in 
the Whitehorse Planning Scheme:


External Paint Controls? No


Internal Alteration Controls? No


Tree Controls? Yes


Outbuildings or Fences not exempt under Clause 43.01-3? No


Included in the Victorian Heritage Register? No


Prohibited Uses Permitted? No


Incorporated Plan?


Aboriginal Heritage Place? No
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Recommended Extent of Heritage Overlay
To the property title boundaries as indicated on the aerial photo below.


Figure 11.   Aerial image showing recommended extent and identified trees marked T1 to T3. 
(City of Whitehorse 2018)


T1


T2


T3
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Figure 12.   Site plan showing location of structures and contributory trees.
A – House, B – Bungalow (Non-contributory), C – Outbuilding (Non-contributory), D – Outbuilding (Non-
contributory), E – Steel garage (Non-contributory) , T1 – Cupressus macrocarpa, T2 – Cupressus 
sempervirens, T3 – Quercus robur.


Identified by:
A Ward, Whitehorse Heritage Review 2001. Vol. 4.  The place was identified as being of 
potential Cultural Heritage Significance.


References
Map of Parish of Nunawading in the County of Bourke, 1855


Brash, J.  Glenburnie Among the Trees. Unpublished manuscript, 1997 (copies at Whitehorse 
Historical Society)


Minamere, Glenburnie Road.  Unpublished paper (July 2018) by Richard Thwaites. (Copy on 
file at Whitehorse City Council Planning Dept)


MMBW Plan 274, Blackburn and Mitcham, 1937


Sydenham, D. Windows on Nunawading. North Melbourne, 1990
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WHITEHORSE PLANNING SCHEME 


STATEMENT OF SIGNIFICANCE 
�MINAMERE�, 42-48 GLENBURNIE ROAD, MITCHAM  
Updated 20 June 2019 


Heritage Place:  �Minamere�, 42-48 
Glenburnie Road, Mitcham 


PS Ref No: HO296 


�Minamere�, 42-48 Glenburnie Road, Mitcham  
(Coleman Architects, Nov 2108) 


Heritage Overlay (to title boundaries) 


Location of structures and contributory trees. 
A � House, B � Bungalow (Non-contributory), C � Outbuilding 
(Non-contributory), D � Outbuilding (Non-contributory), E � Steel 
garage (Non-contributory) , T1 � Cupressus macrocarpa, T2 � 
Cupressus sempervirens, T3 � Quercus robur.


What is significant? 
Minamere, at 42-48 Glenburnie Road, Mitcham, a single-storey timber Californian Bungalow constructed in 
about 1926. 


Elements that contribute to the significance of the place include (but are not limited to): 


The house�s original form and materials. 
The house�s high level of integrity to its original design and construction 
The house�s setting in a large garden allotment sited to appreciate the views to the Dandenong 
Ranges. 
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Surviving mature trees particularly the Monterey Cypress (Cupressus macrocarpa) and Mediterranean 
Cypress (Cupressus sempervirens) on the north boundary and the English Oak (Quercus robur) in the 
driveway turning circle. 


Later alterations at the south-west corner of the house, the free-standing bungalow and other outbuildings are 
not significant. 


How is it significant? 
Minamere, at 42-48 Glenburnie Road, Mitcham, is of historical and architectural significance to the City of 
Whitehorse. 


Why is it significant?
Minamere is historically significant for its association with the suburban development of the Mitcham area in 
the 1920s. It clearly represents the move by some purchasers to pursue a semi-rural lifestyle on larger lots on 
the then, urban fringe. It is one of a small group of houses of the Interwar period in the Mitcham area that still 
maintains its large garden setting. [Criterion A] 


Minamere is of architectural significance as a fine, substantially intact and representative example of a 
Californian Bungalow style house. It displays typical characteristics of the style, popular in the 1920s and 30s 
across Melbourne and Victoria, including the low-pitched transverse gable, terracotta tiled roof with 
intersecting gables, exposed rafter ends, projecting boxed windows and wide verandahs. It is of particular 
interest for its adaptation to its semi-rural environment and the views to the east at the time of construction, 
particularly the wide verandah extending across the principal elevation. Its setting in a large garden represents 
the desire of some middle-class Melbournians to live in a semi-rural environment on the outer fringes of the 
city. [Criterion D] 


Primary Source 
Heritage Citation: �Minamere�, 42-48 Glenburnie Road, Mitcham (Coleman Architects, June 2019) 
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Mr. Simon McMillan 
Chief Executive Officer 


Whitehorse City Council 


Locked Bag 2 
NUNAWADING VIC 3131 


 


 
Dear Mr McMillan 


 
BOX HILL TO RINGWOOD SHARED USE PATH PROJECT 


LABURNUM SECTION REQUEST FOR COUNCIL APPROVAL 


 
I refer to the remaining section of the Box Hill to Ringwood Shared use path known as the 


Laburnum Section and would like to extend my thanks to your officers who have assisted 


in resolving project issues and providing valuable insight to the history of the project.  
 


The purpose of this letter is to obtain approval from Whitehorse Council for the path 


alignment between Middleborough Road, Box Hill and Blackburn Station, Blackburn.  
 


Background 


 
The Box Hill to Ringwood shared use path project has been developed and delivered over 


a number of years as part of various level crossing removal projects as well as separate 
contracts. Most of the path has now been successfully delivered and has added a significant 


and well patronised asset to the active transport network. The remaining section from 


Middleborough Road, Box Hill to Blackburn Station, Blackburn is another step closer to 
completion following recent community sessions. 


 


VicRoads has continued to liaise with Whitehorse Council officers to review issues and 
consult on options for this section of the path. We have met regularly with local bicycle 


groups including WATAG and MeBug and interested residents to test community sentiment 


on a variety of options. 
 


Significant stakeholder engagement has been undertaken over several years in the lead 
up to selecting the final alignment including a number of presentations to City of 


Whitehorse Councilors, meetings and workshops with local bicycle interest groups, 


resident and trader door knocks and community surveys, and more recently community 
information sessions held in October 2019. 


 


Selected Alignment for the Laburnum section 
 


During the development phase of the project several alignments were developed and 


reviewed with input from Whitehorse Council officers and key stakeholders. These options 
have now been discounted for various reasons. 


 
In developing the selected alignment, we focused on the key themes identified during 


previous engagement including: no loss of parking, minimal impact on trees and avoiding 


the use of Elmore Walk. 
 







On balance the selected alignment best meets residents, users and the City of Whitehorse 
needs whilst delivering on the State Government commitment to build a connected bicycle 


route from Ringwood to Box Hill. 


Community Engagement on selected alignment 


We have been actively engaged with officers from the City of Whitehorse to ensure all 
Council requirements are addressed in the selection of the alignment and development 


of the detailed design. We have also had a number of meetings with key bicycle 
representatives to work through options and design issues.  


To ensure we have captured all issues related to the selected alignment 2 community 
information sessions have recently been held on: 


• Monday 21st October at Blackburn North Community Centre


• Wednesday 30th October at The Avenue Uniting Church in Blackburn.


The sessions were well attended by approximately 70 people including residents from 


the local area and cyclists who commute along the Box Hill to Ringwood Corridor.  


Feedback from the community sessions was quite varied and included comments 


including support for: 
• the selected alignment;


• the inclusion of 40km/hr speed limits along Laburnum Street;
• a separated path through Laburnum Park;


• maintaining on-street parking along Laburnum Street;


• minimising loss of vegetation;
• alternative alignments including Diggers Way, South Parade and Elmore Walk


• alternative alignments through Laburnum Station Park and


• alternative arrangements for Laburnum Street.


As part of this recent engagement a door knock of traders along Main Street was also 


undertaken to ensure they are fully aware of the features of the selected alignment.   


A community engagement report containing a summary of issues raised at the 
community sessions and engagement with Main Street traders is attached in 


attachment 1. 


Request for approval 


VicRoads is now seeking approval from Council on the alignment and detailed design of 
the Laburnum Section from Middleborough Road to Blackburn Station including through 


Laburnum Station Park, along Laburnum Street and along Main Street, as identified in the 


attached alignment plan in attachment 2. 







Next Steps 


With Council’s approval, VicRoads will proceed with the documentation of contract 
specifications to allow for tendering in late 2019 and the award of a contract in early 2020. 


We appreciate your earliest consideration of our request and would appreciate your 
response by 16 December 2019 to ensure we can meet committed delivery and budget 


timelines to deliver this project to the community by the middle of 2020.  


Should you have any questions, please don’t hesitate to contact Sharon Patterson, 


Manager Improvement Projects (Roads) on 9881 8074. 


Yours sincerely 


MARK KOLIBA 


REGIONAL DIRECTOR – METRO SOUTH EAST 


22  / 11 /2019 
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Option Positives Negatives 


Current 


Design 


(White) 


• Shared path users 


are separated from 


rail commuters 


• Significant amount of park land required for path 


construction. 


• Removal of a single tree. 


Option 1 


(Pink ) 


• No tree removal 


• Preserves eastern 


side of Laburnum 


Park 


• Requires relocation of playground. Council contribution 


required to fund playground relocation works as this is 


considered outside of project scope. 


• Semi-separated path only around station precinct. 


Option 2 


(Blue) 


• Low cost option 


• Preserves eastern 


side of Laburnum 


Park 


• Semi-separated path only around station precinct. 


• Removal of two trees. One of the trees is identified to be 


of low retention value. 


To Middleborough Road 


To Laburnum Street 
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Box Hill to Ringwood Shared Use Path – Laburnum 
Section 


The Department of Transport is investing $14 million to build a 10km shared path from the vibrant Box Hill 
precinct to Ringwood’s activity centre. This shared use path will provide both pedestrians and cyclists a direct 
and safe connection to public transport, community services and recreational facilities in the area.  


The Laburnum alignment is the final section of the Box Hill to Ringwood shared use path to be built and is 
expected to be completed by mid-2020.  


We asked the community to provide feedback on the selected alignment for the Laburnum section.  This report 
summarises the feedback received from stakeholders and the community. 


Selected alignment 


Following significant stakeholder engagement and technical investigations, the preferred alignment includes: 


Laburnum Park 


 Widening of the existing concrete footpath on the eastern side of the Middleborough Road bridge to 


allow a connection to the Middleborough Road underpass 


 A new 3.0m wide concrete shared path through Laburnum Park adjacent to the southern tree line of the 


park 


 New traffic signals on Laburnum Street near the rail overpass to provide a safe crossing for pedestrians 


and cyclists  


Laburnum Street 


 Speed limit of 40km/h along the full length of Laburnum Street  


 Bicycle line marking and warning signs along Laburnum Street to help cyclists share the road with 


motorists 


 Raised platform crossing at the intersection of Laburnum Street and Main Street  


Main Street 


 New off-road bicycle path adjacent to the existing footpath on Main Street from Laburnum St to South 


Parade, 


 Raised platform crossing at Main St and South Parade to connect to the Blackburn Station precinct 


 Zebra crossing across Main Street just south of South Parade 


 Change in traffic priority at the Main Street and South Parade intersection  


 


Community engagement  


We’ve been engaging with the Laburnum community and key stakeholders throughout the project to gather 
feedback and ideas.  The community were able to provide feedback through a range of channels, including: 
workshops, community information sessions, online surveys, door knocks, meetings and briefing sessions. The 
feedback received from the community at these engagement activities has supported the development of the 
selected alignment.  


The key themes we heard from the community included:    


• No loss of parking 


• Minimal impact on trees 


• No use of Elmore Walk 


• A safer environment for cyclists. 


Engagement on selected alignment 


In October 2019 we hosted three community drop-in sessions to provide an opportunity for the community to 
view the Laburnum selected alignment and provide feedback on the design.  


We also visited 11 traders along Main Street in the vicinity of the project to explain the changes proposed as part 
of the selected alignment. 


We also worked closely with officers from the City of Whitehorse, and members of local bicycle groups. 


This below contains a summary of feedback received from these engagement opportunities.  
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Several key themes were identified during the engagements, including: 


• Maintaining vegetation  


• Maintaining on-street parking along Laburnum Street 


• Separated bike path along Laburnum Street  


• Design of the path through Laburnum Park including alternative alignments 


• Preference for alternative alignment options including Diggers Way, South Parade and Elmore Walk and 


alignments on the north side of the railway line.  


Community drop-in sessions  


The community drop in sessions were held on: 


• Monday 21 October from 4:30–7:30pm at North Blackburn Community Hall, and 


• Wednesday 30 October 2019 from 2-4 pm and 6-8pm at Blackburn Uniting Church Hall 


We promoted these sessions extensively through Facebook and web advertising, while also delivering 1,700 
postcards in local letterboxes.  


The sessions were attended by approximately 70 people with 60 feedback forms received as well as comments 
left on the plans displayed at the sessions. 


Those who attended the sessions included residents living along Laburnum Street, Salisbury Avenue, Myrtle 
Grove, Fuchsia Street, South Parade and Main Street. Other residents living in the suburbs of Blackburn and 
Laburnum also attended along with cyclists who regularly ride through the area.  


 


 


 


 


 


 


 


 


 


 


 


 


 


 


We provided community members at the drop-in sessions an opportunity to provide further comments about the 
three separate sections of the Laburnum alignment.  


The comments provided by the community are summarised below.  


Laburnum Park 
- Support was provided by some community members for the selected alignment through Laburnum Park 


as it minimised impact on trees and is an important improvement for cyclists. 


- Some community members were strongly opposed to the use of Laburnum Park, as a separated shared 


path, as they see it resulting in a loss of open/green space. 


- An alternative alignment was presented that includes a new separate bicycle path (2m wide) between 


the existing station footpath and the existing playground area. 


Laburnum Street 
- Residents expressed the need to maintain parking along Laburnum Street in its current form. 


- An alternative alignment was suggested that included the removal of parking on one side of Laburnum 


Street to allow for a bi-directional separated path on the other side of Laburnum Street. 
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- It was suggested by some members of the community that a dedicated bike path be provided rather 


than the selected alignment where cyclists and vehicles would need to share the road. 


- Cyclists suggested removal of parking on Laburnum Street to improve cyclist safety.   


- Support was expressed for the reduction in speed to 40km/h. 


- The pedestrian/cyclist lights on Laburnum Street were considered a safety improvement with some 


concerns raised around traffic flow impacts. 


- There was support for retaining the existing trees along Laburnum Street 


- A concern was raised about bikes on Laburnum Street would make it more dangerous for motorist. 


- A suggestion was provided around bicycle line markings being centred to encourage cyclists away from 


dooring zone of parked cars. 


Main Street 
- An alternative suggestion was proposed for a path through Diggers Way to connect Laburnum Street 


and South Parade. 


- Removal of trees along Main Street was objected to by some attendees. 


- Some proposed to use South Parade and Elmore Walk to connect to Laburnum Street. 


- Feedback was received on the use of Riviera Lane to connect to South Parade rather than Main Street. 


- There was support for the change in traffic priority at the Main Street and South Parade intersection. 


- Suggestion received to install rumble strips along Main Street for cyclist safety. 


- There was support for inclusion of a zebra crossing at Main Street. 


- Extension of the green bicycle pavement across the raised crossing of South Parade was requested. 


- A suggestion was made to undertake a safety review of the intersection of Main Street and Laburnum 


Street after the selected treatment has been in place for 12 months. 


- There was support to ensure bin collection provisions along Main Street was maintained. 


- Physical separation between new bike path and existing footpath was suggested. 


- A few residents were concerned with road safety implications due to the narrowing of Main Street at 


South Parade. 


Overall alignment 


The following is a summary of the feedback received regarding the overall project: 


- Improve line marking in the area. 


- Improve line marking on the Linsley to Station Street section of path. 


- Wayfinding signs were requested along the completed sections of path.  


- Consider cyclist behaviour in the area. 


- A pedestrian crossing opposite Elmore Walk was suggested.  


- It was suggested that the project does not provide adequate safety improvements. 


- This alignment will not encourage young cyclists from taking up cycling.   


Support for bike stands to be installed at the south west corner of South Parade and Main Street. 
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Main Street trader visits 


On Tuesday 15 October we visited 11 traders along Main Street. 


No significant concerns were raised by traders about the changes proposed along Main Street as part of the 
selected alignment. The main concerns related to construction timeframes and impacts to trade. 


The traders wanted assurance that parking and outdoor dining for cafes would be maintained. They highlighted 
the significant construction works in the area over the past years and wanted to ensure there was minimal impact 
on trade during these works.  


Other comments included: 


• The change in priority at Main Street and South Parade was welcomed. 


• The proposed zebra crossing was supported for pedestrian safety. 


• The use of Main and Laburnum Street for the alignment seems less safe when compared to the use of 
South Parade and Elmore Walk. 


Next steps 


Feedback for the Laburnum selected alignment is currently being reviewed.  


We will continue to work with the City of Whitehorse to finalise the design and obtain necessary approvals for the 
project.  


We expect to finalise the detailed design by December 2019.  Construction is expected to commence in March 
2020 with the project completed by mid-2020. 
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Introduction 


The Whitehorse Health and Wellbeing Plan 2017-2021 (the Plan) represents 


Council’s long term commitment  to working in partnership to improve the 


health and wellbeing of the municipality. The Plan builds upon the work 


undertaken in previous Municipal Public Health and Wellbeing plans and 


strengthens Council’s approach to supporting a healthy, vibrant, 


prosperous and sustainable community.  


This report describes the achievements of the Whitehorse Health and Wellbeing Plan 2017-2021 for 


the 18 months of 1 January 2018 to 30 June 2019 under each of the relevant Council Strategic 


Directions and aligned Health and Wellbeing Goals.   


In the past, health and wellbeing planning and reporting was undertaken on a calendar year basis. To 


reduce reporting duplication and streamline administration, the health and wellbeing reporting cycle 


has been adjusted to align with the Council Plan.  


Review and reporting requirements 


The Whitehorse Health and Wellbeing Plan 2017-2021 takes into account Council’s responsibilities 


under the Victorian Public Health and Wellbeing Act 2008 (the Act), other legislation and the policy 


context of the State and Federal Governments.  The Act states that ‘A Council must review its 


municipal public health and wellbeing plan annually and, if appropriate, amend the municipal public 


health and wellbeing plan’. The legislation does not prescribe what a review might entail. 


Victorian Public Health and Wellbeing Act 2017 Amendment 


In 2017 the Victorian Government amended section 26 of the Public Health and Wellbeing Act 2008 


(Vic) to require councils to specify measures and report on the measures it proposes to take to 


reduce family violence and respond to the needs of victims in the local community. A Council must 


report to the Secretary of the Department of Health and Human Services on the measures at the 


intervals specified by the Secretary by notice in writing.  The 2018/2019 report to the Secretary as 


requested was submitted by Council on 23 August 2019 detailing actions which are included in this 


report  


Development of the Whitehorse Health and Wellbeing Plan 


The Whitehorse Health and Wellbeing Plan 2017-2021 is strongly aligned with the Whitehorse 


Council Vision 2013-2023 and is partially integrated with the Whitehorse Council Plan 2013-2017.  


The Whitehorse Health and Wellbeing Plan 2017-2021 considers key age groups – children and 


families, younger people and older people – in recognition of their special needs and the benefits of 


early intervention, education and health promotion, as well as 


those of people within our community who experience 


unequal health and wellbeing outcomes, such as people living 


with a disability.  


Over 4,865 people from across 


Whitehorse actively engaged 


and contributed to the 


development of the Plan 


 







Page 4 


 


Broad range of strategies 


Many existing Council plans and strategies are integrated into and inform the Whitehorse Health and 


Wellbeing Plan 2017-2021 including: the Whitehorse Disability Strategy and Action Plan, the 


Whitehorse Diversity Plan, the Whitehorse Reconciliation Plan, The Whitehorse Community 


Participation Strategy, the Whitehorse Positive Ageing Strategy, the Whitehorse Recreation Plan, the 


Whitehorse Cultural Strategy, the Whitehorse Youth Plan and the Whitehorse Early Years Plan.The 


Whitehorse Health and Wellbeing Plan 2017-2021 identified numerous strategic activities reported 


under the Council Plan that contribute to the health and wellbeing of the municipality. This report 


highlights some of these to illustrate Council’s influence on people’s health through the work it does 


in the social, built, natural and economic domains. 


Partnerships and a Developmental focus  


A keystone of Whitehorse Health and Wellbeing Plan 2017-2021 is strengthening Council’s work with 


local partners in a number of key areas of health and wellbeing.  


The plan identified developmental areas where Council would strengthen partnerships and 


collaborative planning: 


 prevention of family violence and violence against women 


 reducing harm from alcohol and  


 promoting healthy eating.  


A key focus of the first 18 months of the Whitehorse Health and Wellbeing Plan 2017-2021 was in 


the developmental area of prevention of family violence and violence against women.   
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A snapshot of achievement highlights  


 


Health and Wellbeing Goal:  Connected, safe, respected and resilient 


people, families and communities  


 


 


Health and Wellbeing Goal: Accessible, safe and welcoming places for 


all people  


 


 


 Leadership in Mental Health initiatives: Mental Health Forum and Men’s Health Week 


Seminars with topics including Suicide Prevention, Anxiety and Depression in Men, 


Expectations and Wellbeing 


 Family Violence and Elder Abuse Prevention [Partnerships] 


- Family Violence Prevention Collaborative Action and Networking Group and 


Action Planning 


- Free from Violence Project and program of activities 


- Nadrasca collaboration 


- Interfaith United for Safety and Respect Project 


- Elder Abuse awareness raising 


- IDAHOBIT Day 


 Forest Hill Dementia Friendly Project [Partnership] 


 Immunisation Program 


 Maternal Child Health (incl. Enhanced & Mandarin) 


 Intergenerational Project [Partnership] 


 Accessible Community Events and Arts Programs for people with disabilities, older 


people and people of culturally diverse backgrounds 


 Creative Youth Hub 


 


 Opening of additional space at Box Hill Skate Park 


 Review of street lighting in Market and Main Streets, Box Hill [Partnership] 


 Eastern Affordable Housing Alliance Advocacy [Partnership] 
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Health and Wellbeing Goal: A sustainable environment and shared open 


spaces  


 


 


Health and Wellbeing Goal: Communicating, actively engaged Council  


 


 


Health and Wellbeing Goal: Economic opportunity for people 


 


 


 


 


 Biodiversity Inventory  


 Sustainability Program 


 Waste Management Strategy [Collaboration with other Councils] 


 New park at Chaucer Street 


 Snap, Send and Solve 


 Language translation and improved search functions on new Council website 


 Your Say community engagement platform 


 Healthy Workplace Achievements 


 Use of social stories using simple language and images to help children with 


anxiety disorders and autism understand what happens at pool based parties 


held in Council facilities 


 Partnerships and programs to increase employment with Deakin University, 


Gateway LLEN and other Councils 


 Business Skills Programs 


 Youth Connexions Employment Support 
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Achievements list 


 


Strategic Direction One: Support a healthy, vibrant, inclusive and diverse community 


Health and Wellbeing Goal:  Connected, safe, respected and resilient people, families and communities  


Priorities 


 Social connectedness 


 Mental health and wellbeing 


 Dementia-friendly communities 


 Family violence response and violence against children prevention* 


 Violence against women prevention* 


 Harm from alcohol reduction* 


 Healthy eating*1 


 Physical activity 


 Local area planning for prevention and health promotion 


 


  


                                                           
* 1Developmental areas 
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Achievements 


People and Families 


Achievements 1 Jan 2018 – 30 Jun 2019 Partners and Lead 
Reference to 
Council Plan 


Approach 


Provide children with the opportunity to grow, learn and develop into healthy, active and thriving children by 
enhancing protective factors and reducing risk factors for health and wellbeing 


Achievements  


Actions in 2018 for Municipal Early Years Plan 2014-2018 were reported to Council 15 October 2018  
 
In the first six months of 2019 participation rates in the MCH service across all the Key Ages and Stages visits are 
well above the State average: the home visit, 2 week, 4 week, 8 week, 8 month and 12 month are at 100%, while 
the 18 month, 2 year are above 90%. The 3.5 year visit is 84% - which is well above the State average.  
 
In addition, the MCH service delivers new parents groups to all first time parents, including an evening session 
for working partners.  A post-natal wellbeing program is provided at Aqualink for first time mothers. 
 


WCC 


Health and Family 
Services 


Whitehorse Early 
Years’ Sector 
Network 


1.1.1 


Promote and deliver public immunisation programs and school immunisation programs to protect children 
against vaccine preventable diseases 


Achievements  


In the first 6 months of 2019, an immunisation coverage rate of 94.5% was achieved, an even higher rate than 
the previous year. Council administered approx. 5000 vaccines to 2,400 children as part of Council’s public 
childhood immunisation. 
 
In addition around 3,600 vaccinations were administered as part of Council’s school immunisation program.  
 


WCC 
 


Health and Family 
Services 


 


1.1.1 
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Achievements 1 Jan 2018 – 30 Jun 2019 Partners and Lead 
Reference to 
Council Plan 


Approach 


Strengthen the skills, capacity and confidence of all families, parents and caregivers, including targeted 
support for vulnerable families, young mothers, fathers, culturally diverse parents and parents with a 
disability, through promotion, information and service provision 


Achievements  


2018 Actions in Council’s Municipal Early Years Plan 2014-2018 were report to Council, 15 October 2018.  
In the first six months of 2019, over 9000 families were supported by Council’s MCH service with 9200 
consultations completed.  Over 50 parents groups including specific groups for Mandarin speaking families were 
provided to Whitehorse families. The Enhanced program provided additional support to over 60 extremely 
vulnerable families. 
 
One hundred and forty families were supported with their parenting to enhance children’s education and care 
through participation in one of four Parenting Information Forums. 
 
Each week during school terms between 8 to 10 families participated in one of five Supported Playgroup 
sessions. The Supported Playgroups are delivered by Council in conjunction with local service providers – Kara 
House, FAN, EACH, MIC. 
 
Promotion of effective parenting and caregiving programs and information through various publications, displays 
and media, including online social media  
 


WCC 


Health and Family 
Services 


 
Whitehorse Early 
Years’ Sector 
Network 


1.1.1 


Provide quality, accessible, affordable and integrated maternal and child health services and early childhood 
services that support children and their families through continuous improvement, workforce capacity, 
partnerships and collaboration across the service system 


Achievements  


2018 Actions in the Municipal Early Years Plan 2014-2018 were reported to Council 15 October 2018.  
 
Council supports DET and Early Learning Association Australia (ELAA) by sponsoring venues to host local training 
for Education and Care Services in Whitehorse. 


WCC 


Health and Family 
Services 


Other service 
providers  


1.1.1 
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Achievements 1 Jan 2018 – 30 Jun 2019 Partners and Lead 
Reference to 
Council Plan 


Approach 


 
Facilitation of the Whitehorse Early Years’ Sector Network, and ongoing networking between service providers 
was achieved. 
 


Whitehorse Early 
Years’ Sector 
Network 


Provide young people with the opportunity to be healthy, resilient and engaged by enhancing protective 
factors and reducing risk factors for health and wellbeing 


Achievements  


2018 Actions in Council’s Municipal Youth Plan 2014-2018 were reported to Council 15 October 2018.  
Various programs and supports were offered by Council Youth Services  to facilitate young people’s social 
inclusion, civic engagement and community participation including in  volunteering programs - Whitehorse Youth 
Representative Committee and the FReeZA Committee  
 
Collaboratively supported young people’s health with local service providers – referrals  for young people to 
specialist services as required  
 
Activities for young people promoted via various communication platforms  
 


WCC 


Health and Family 
Services 


Whitehorse Youth 
Issues Network  


1.1.3 


Support and strengthen secure, safe, involved and caring family environments and healthy personal 
relationships  


Achievements  


2018 Actions in the Municipal Youth Plan 2014-2018 were reported to Council 15 October 2018 
Council has strengthened families and their support of young people by the roll out of Respectful Relationships 
Program in secondary schools to reduce the prevalence of bullying and unhealthy intimate relationships. 
 


WCC 


Health and Family 
Services 


Whitehorse Youth 
Issues Network 


Department 
Education and 
Training  


1.1.3 
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Achievements 1 Jan 2018 – 30 Jun 2019 Partners and Lead 
Reference to 
Council Plan 


Approach 


Provide quality , accessible , flexible, affordable and integrated services to support and promote young 
people’s health and wellbeing 


Achievements  


2018 Actions in the Municipal Youth Plan 2014-2018 reported to Council 15 October 2018.  
 
Collaborated through the Youth Issues Network and Eastern Homelessness Network  to develop sector-wide 
strategies to improve young people’s access to services and supports, especially mental health support 
 
Capacity development of youth service professionals focussed on young people’s mental health and engagement 
strategies. 
 


WCC   


Whitehorse Youth 
Issues Network 


Eastern 
Homelessness 
Network  


1.1.1 


Plan and deliver a range of social, educational and recreational opportunities for older people to remain 
connected, actively engaged and participate in the local community, and maintain health and wellbeing 


Achievements  


In partnership, Council delivered the 2018 Whitehorse Seniors Festival to an estimated 530 people. The opening 
event was attended by 150 senior Whitehorse residents. Over 40 free and low cost events provided by Council 
and community partners provided seniors with an opportunity to try new activities and become more involved in 
their local community.  
 
WHACS Occupational Therapist facilitated a Safety Week event with all social support group members that 
included information on falls prevention, active ageing and pressure care to support consumers’ capacity to live 
in their homes, improve knowledge regarding mobility aids and equipment and enhance safety awareness. 


The Walking Basketball Pilot Project engaged older people in physical activity and socialisation. Eleven people 
from U3A Nunawading participated in a 4 week walking basketball pilot project. A future implementation of the 
pilot is being explored. 


WCC 


Community 
organisations/ 
groups and services 
providers 


Local basketball clubs  


Basketball Victoria  


1.1.6 
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Achievements 1 Jan 2018 – 30 Jun 2019 Partners and Lead 
Reference to 
Council Plan 


Approach 


Facilitate opportunities of social connectedness and support for older residents and their carer partners, 
especially those with special needs such as dementia, CALD background, social isolation and those 
experiencing elder abuse 


Achievements  


WHACS delivers person centred services. In 2018 this included: 28,951 hours of Social Support services, 15,817 
hours of Accompanied Activities which support community connectedness, 670 hours of the Cooking for 1 or 2 
program and 31,962 hours of Transport. 2,991 Respite services were provided. 
 
The “Cooking for 1 or 2” program supported consumers to develop basic cooking skills and nutritional knowledge 
while socialising together as a group, leading to improved health and wellbeing. 
 
In addition the Seniors Cultural Meals Program- facilitates the provision of 25,263 culturally appropriate meals, 
encouraging and supporting older people remain connected and participating in community life.  
 
Mountainview Cottage celebrates cultural & calendar events. Over 90 people attended the ‘Christmas @ 
Carrington’ Function. 
 
Success of the Mountainview Cottage and Star Fish Child Care Centre Intergenerational Partnership Project has 
seen further activities underway with local schools.  
 
In 2018 all social support group members participated in  Health and Safety Week activities run by the 
Occupational Therapist to assist them to live in their homes, improve knowledge of nutrition, sleep, mindfulness, 
energy conservation, mobility and equipment and enhance safety awareness 
 
In 2019 all social support group participants learned about Elder Abuse Prevention, Advance Care Planning, 
Balancing Independence and Support, Moving into Residential Care and Getting your Affairs in Order through a 
series of presentations by the Occupational Therapist. 
 


WCC  


Whitehorse Home 
and Community 
Services 


 


1.1.1 
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Achievements 1 Jan 2018 – 30 Jun 2019 Partners and Lead 
Reference to 
Council Plan 


Approach 


Promote active and healthy ageing  for people in the diverse community 


Achievements  


Mandarin speaking worker was engaged for the Cooking for One or Two program to enhance participation in the 
program by people with Chinese background.  


WCC 


Home and 
Community Services 


Community 
Development 


1.1.8 


 


  







Page 14 
 


Community 


Achievements 1 Jan 2018 – 30 Jun 2019 Partners and Lead 
Reference to 
Council Plan 


Approach 


 
Celebrate diversity, promote reconciliation and connect people of the Whitehorse community through the safe and 
effective delivery of events and activities for the whole community  


Achievements 
 
Hosted by the Asian Business Association of Whitehorse with support from Council, the Chinese New Year event is one 
of the largest Chinese New Year celebrations in Melbourne. 
 
Delivered by Community Development in partnership with Arts and Culture, the 2018 Global Fiesta Event was held at 
the Box Hill Gardens in March. The event was attended by approx. 5,000 people and involved over 30 community stalls 
and 15 colourful stage performances from local community groups. 
 
Hosted in Nangnak Gardens, the Sorry Day Flag Raising event included a Welcome to Country and Smoking Ceremony 
performed by Uncle Perry Wandin. Over 150 local community members, service providers and school students 
attended.  
 
The Welcome Dinner Project hosted a community luncheon at Box Hill Town Hall in July. Over 80 people attended and 
learned about other cultures through sharing their favourite cuisines in a pot luck style meal, a cultural dance 
performance and impromptu Bollywood Dance class. 
 


WCC 


Community 
Development 


Arts and Cultural 
Services 


Local community 
groups  


Asian Business 
Association of 
Whitehorse 


Whitehorse-
Manningham Library 


Whitehorse 
Historical Societies  


1.1.6 


Enhance the creativity, skills, knowledge and social connections of the community through the delivery of accessible 
community arts programs  


Achievements 
 
The Community Arts Centre offers a monthly program for people with disabilities organised through Scope, Box Hill, 
and facilitated by the Arts Centre. Many disability service providers also use the centre to run their own programs for 
the community.  


WCC 
 
Arts and Cultural 
Services 


1.1.6 
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Achievements 1 Jan 2018 – 30 Jun 2019 Partners and Lead 
Reference to 
Council Plan 


Approach 


 
The Annual “Alkira” exhibition held in September offered a creative communal opportunity for people with a disability 
to showcase and receive recognition for their artwork. 
 


Foster greater cultural awareness, connectedness and understanding within the community through the delivery of 
accessible, affordable performing arts and art exhibitions  


Achievements 


Whitehorse Centre 
Included in Season 2018 were works of historical and contemporary significance, including an indigenous work on the 
Stolen Generations entitled Hart and a work exploring immigration, entitled Jurassica. 
 
Attendances for the first half of the year exceeds 6,800.  The Season has a combination of dramatic and satirical works 
along with circus and music, including the award winning indigenous musical play The Sapphires. 
 
The Midweek Matinee Program is an affordable and accessible daytime series of concerts and classic films.  In 2018 six 
quality music shows and five classic films with a complimentary morning tea, were performed and in 2019 patrons have 
enjoyed a mix of toe tapping Broadway tunes, some Gilbert and Sullivan and a Julie Andrews tribute show along with 
Bob Hope and Doris Day films. 
 
Whitehorse Artspace 
In 2018 approximately 8,000 local residents and visitors attended free, accessible exhibitions at Whitehorse Artspace 
and the All Nations Foyer at Box Hill Town Hall. Free artist and curator talks enhanced patron knowledge and 
understanding of the exhibited works. 
 
Between January and June 2019 approximately 4,500 people visited the Whitehorse Artspace and the All Nation’s 
Foyer. Artspace hosted visitors from the local Chinese Australian community, retirement homes, disability 
organisations, multicultural organisations and pre-schools.  


WCC 1.1.6 
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Achievements 1 Jan 2018 – 30 Jun 2019 Partners and Lead 
Reference to 
Council Plan 


Approach 


Build capacity and promote social connection and participation in smaller NFP organisations, including for diverse 
communities  


Achievements 
Funding of CALD social groups and other organisations through Council community grants program. 
 
24 Community organisations featuring CALD membership or focus received community grants in the 2019/20 funding 
round 
 
Community Grants Program reviewed to align with Council’s Strategic Directions in the Council Plan and health & 
wellbeing goals  
 
Smarty Grants Program Introduced to host Councils Community Grants Program 
 


WCC 


Community 
Development 


 
 


1.1.4 


Create a safe, welcoming and inclusive community for all young people, regardless of cultural background, religion, 
language, gender, sexuality, ability or socio economic status 


Achievements 


2018 Actions in the Municipal Youth Plan 2014-2018 reported to Council 15 October 2018.  
Promoted Young Person of the Month Awards to celebrate, acknowledge and recognise achievement and diversity in 
young people and provide features about young people in Whitehorse News 
 


WCC 


Health and Family 
Services 


 
Whitehorse Youth 
Issues Network 


1.1.7 


Plan and implement strategic responses to local priorities for young people 


Achievements 


In 2018 local priorities for young people were identified through analysis and use of Health and Well-being profiler 
survey data in addition to consultations with young people and service providers. This information led to the creation 
and implementation of the Creative Youth Hub as a new means communicating information to young people, to 
provide a platform for young people to raise issues, concerns and feedback on key topics and to enable young people 
to creatively express themselves. 


WCC 


Health and Family 
Services 


Whitehorse Youth 
Issues Network 


1.1.1 
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Achievements 1 Jan 2018 – 30 Jun 2019 Partners and Lead 
Reference to 
Council Plan 


Approach 


 


Support and promote intergenerational interactions and activities to help reduce social isolation of older people and 
counter ageism 


Achievements 


Different models and approaches promoted within the community included Neighbour Day 2018 and Intergenerational 
Grants provided to schools and kindergartens to partner with older persons organisations (seven grants in 2018-19 
financial year). 
 
An Intergenerational Partnership Program has been developed between Council’s Mountainview Cottage and several 
children specific services including Star Fish Child Care Centre, St Philip’s Primary School Year 6 and Burwood East 
Primary School. Consumers and children have been engaged in various activities sharing skills and experiences. 
Activities included Christmas card making, gardening, chocolate making and a Life Skills program. In the Life Skills young 
students learned life stories of the elderly participants and produced books reflecting their lives.  
 


WCC 


Community 
Development 


WHACS 


Local schools 


Community 
organisations  


Services providers 


Aged care facilities 


1.1.2 


Plan, promote and deliver a range of amenities and programs to enable all people to access health and fitness, 
wellness and social activities across the municipality 


Achievements 


Council promoted and delivered services and programs at Sportlink, Aqualink Box Hill & Aqualink Nunawading in 
response to community need, including Creche and Occasional Care, Group fitness classes, Hot Streak Basketball 
program (to maximise court time and also give everyone a go), Post Natal program and Fab Living (60+) social events  


The Fab Living program for 60+ continues to be popular with many continuing the exercise journey. The post-natal 
program runs each school term for mothers who want to return to exercise with their child in the class with them. 
 
Aqualink Crèches operated through the year increasing the attendance of the Occasional Care services. 
 
In 2018 to coincide with the Commonwealth Games activities at Leisure Facilities included gym and inflatable 
challenges as well as information to promote interest by patrons. 


WCC 


Leisure and 
Recreation Services 


 


1.1.1 







Page 18 
 


Achievements 1 Jan 2018 – 30 Jun 2019 Partners and Lead 
Reference to 
Council Plan 


Approach 


 
During Seniors Week awareness raising seminars on the role of diet and exercise for mental health and memory and 
eating for heart health were held. 
 


Promote the rights and inclusion of people with disability in the life of the community, including people with a 
mental illness 


Achievements 


Via online networks opportunities for people with disabilities to join the Youth Representative Committee and 
volunteer programs were promoted. 
 
Whitehorse Disability Advisory Committee continued to provide strategic advice to Council. 
 
Council promoted a wide range of activities and information relating to both Mental Health Week and International 
Day of Persons with Disability. Council partnered with the Mental Health Foundation Australia to host the Let's Talk 
Mental Health Forum on 18 October to raise awareness of the impacts of mental illness on the lives of people as well as 
services available in the local community.  
 


WCC 


Community 
Development 


Health Service 
Providers  


Disability Service 
Providers 


Community 
Organisations 


1.1.4 


Increase understanding of the impacts of the transition to the NDIS for people with disability, their families and 
carers, the community and Council services  


Achievements 


Opportunities to learn about the NDIS and its processes were promoted in the community and across Council via e-
networks and other media 
 
Funding for the Building Inclusive Communities Program ceases in December 2019.  Whitehorse CC and other LGAs 
continue to advocate for the retention of the Program within local government. 
 
 


WCC 


Community 
Development 


WHACS 


NDIA  


State and Federal 
Government 
Departments  


1.1.1 
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Achievements 1 Jan 2018 – 30 Jun 2019 Partners and Lead 
Reference to 
Council Plan 


Approach 


People with 
disabilities  


Disability Service 
Providers 


In collaboration, increase the participation of people with disabilities in cultural events, the arts and  sporting, 
recreational, social, religious and cultural activities within the community 


Achievements 


People with disability attend a broad range of Council events including Carols by Candlelight, Australia Day Concert, 
Spring Festival and the Swing Pop Boom Concert series, as well as programs, activities and courses held at Aqualink, 
Sportslink and Box Hill Community Arts Centre. 
 
Height adjustable and wider seating has been purchased to assist patrons with mobility issues attending the 
Whitehorse Centre. 
 
 


WCC 


Community 
Development 


Arts and Recreation 
Services 


People with disability  


Community 
Organisations  


Disability Service 
Providers 


Sporting clubs and 
associations 


Fitness facility 
providers 


Whitehorse 
interfaith network 
and faith 
organisations 


1.1.6 


Plan and implement the Disability Action Plan (DAP) in response to local priorities for people with a disability in 
Whitehorse 


WCC 


People with disability 


1.1.1 
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Achievements 1 Jan 2018 – 30 Jun 2019 Partners and Lead 
Reference to 
Council Plan 


Approach 


Achievements 


The Disability Action Plan outcomes are reported as required, in Council’s Annual Report. 


 


 


Health Service 
Providers  


Disability Service 
Providers 


Community 
Organisations  


Continue to work to realise an Age-Friendly City, optimising opportunities for health, participation and security in 
order to enhance quality of life as people age 


Achievements 


Officers have commence exploration for Whitehorse CC to become a signatory to the Age-Friendly Victoria Declaration 
 


WCC 


Community 
Development 


1.1.1 


Work towards a dementia friendly community where people living with dementia are able to live a high quality of 
life with meaning, purpose and value 


Achievements 


The Forest Hill Dementia Friendly Community is in development with  


Nine service providers and eight community members in the group (alliance) who have agreed to work together to 
improve the well-being and quality of life of people living with dementia in Forest Hill. The consultation involved 332 
surveys and face to face discussions with 43 people. Two priority actions have been agreed on and are currently being 
explored: 1. Assist people with dementia and their carers to know where to get help, and 2. Help businesses to have an 
understanding about people with dementia. 


 


WCC  


Community 
Development 


Forest Hill Dementia 
Friendly 
Communities Pilot 
Project Working 
Group 


Inner East Primary 
Care Partnership 


Carrington Health 


1.1.1 


Plan and implement strategic responses to local priorities for the ageing population informed by local, sub-regional, 
regional and state-wide services and networks  


WCC 1.1.1 
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Achievements 1 Jan 2018 – 30 Jun 2019 Partners and Lead 
Reference to 
Council Plan 


Approach 


Achievements 


Contributed to improved knowledge and responses to promote the health and wellbeing of older people in Whitehorse 
through participation in relevant network meetings: Eastern Elder Abuse Network (EEAN), Eastern Dementia Network. 


EMR Aged Services Managers investigated the feasibility of strategic regional EMR Dementia Forum with the event 
planned for September 2019. A collaborative working group with Maroondah Council was formed.   


 


Community 
Development 


Home and 
Community Services 


Local community, 
organisations and 
services providers 


Neighbourhood 
Houses 


Community Aged 
Care Service 
Providers Network 
(CASPNOW) 


Eastern Elder Abuse 
Network (EEAN) 


Inner East PCP 
Practitioners 
Network 


Eastern Dementia 
Network 


MAV State-wide 
Positive Ageing 
Network 


Continue to build Council and partner agencies’  capacity to engage with, understand, respond to and promote the 
rights and needs of LGTBI+ people 


WCC 1.1.1 
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Achievements 1 Jan 2018 – 30 Jun 2019 Partners and Lead 
Reference to 
Council Plan 


Approach 


Achievements 


Council Diversity Working group established. 
 
Diversity Training was delivered to 20 staff from across Council and was well received. 
 
 
 
 


Community 
Development 


Q-East Alliance  


VLGA Rainbow 
Network 


Advocate and inform improvements in the service system to respond to the needs of migrant and refugee people  


Achievements 


Council works in partnership with the Migrant Settlement Committee (MSC), a network that has over 100 service 
providers and agencies in the East. Council contributes to working groups for various projects to address the needs of 
migrants. The MSC is funded by Council’s Community Grants program.  
 
Contributing member of the Victorian Local Government Migrant Issue Network (VLGMIN).  


Migrant Settlement 
Committee 


WCC 


Community 
Development 


VLGMIN 


1.1.1 


Guide and support seniors groups to manage and govern as their membership ages, so that members remain 
connected and actively participating within their local community 


Achievements 


Council supported and guided seniors groups regarding governance and grant applications as required. 
 
Planning for a dedicated project and delivery of governance training for community organisations has commenced and 
will be rolled out over the next 12-18 months 
 


WCC 


Community 
Development 


1.1.4 


Continue to support and facilitate the Whitehorse Interfaith Network (WIN) to increase its capacity to deliver 
activities and consolidate its membership base 


Achievements 


WCC 


Community 
Development 


1.1.5 
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Achievements 1 Jan 2018 – 30 Jun 2019 Partners and Lead 
Reference to 
Council Plan 


Approach 


Whitehorse Interfaith Network (WIN) hosted three Tour of Worship Events (two involving school students and one as 
part of Seniors week) attended by approx. 150 people. The tour of worship in May 2019 saw St James Primary School 
students touring through a Gurduara Sikh Temple in Blackburn and a Buddhist Temple in Box Hill. 
 
WIN members participated in a collaborative family violence prevention project with Whitehorse, Monash, 
Manningham and Boroondara Councils and their interfaith networks. The project was a great success; over 100 people 
attended the final forum and three new WIN members were gained as a result of this interfaith project reaching out to 
the Inner East community. 
 
Council also supports WIN’s active involvement in Global Fiesta and the Welcome Dinner Event 
 


Strengthen reconciliation in Whitehorse by working in partnership to raise awareness of Aboriginal culture, build 
strong relationships and increase participation for Aboriginal people in the life of the community 


Achievements 
Hosted National Sorry Day Flag-Raising Ceremony during Reconciliation Week which included a schools competition. 
Over 150 people attended with great community feedback.  
 
Convened the Whitehorse Reconciliation Advisory Committee. Conducted planning session resulting in a stronger 
strategic vision for the WRAC. 
 
Council has also attended the newly reconvened Eastern LAN network which focuses on health, wellbeing and 
reconciliation matters for indigenous families in the east. 
 
An Aboriginal Cultural Awareness training session was facilitated by Karen Milward to over 25 staff and members of the 
WRAC. 


WCC 


Whitehorse 
Reconciliation 
Advisory Committee 


Whitehorse Friends 
For Reconciliation 


Wurundjeri Tribe 
Land and 
Compensation 
Cultural Heritage 
Council 


Mullum Mullum 
Indigenous 
Gathering Place 


1.1.7 
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Achievements 1 Jan 2018 – 30 Jun 2019 Partners and Lead 
Reference to 
Council Plan 


Approach 


Continue integration of Volunteer management functions across organisational systems, planning and programs 
within Council and other organisations 


Achievements 


Coordination and supervision of more than 335 volunteers across Council in a diversity of programs, projects and 
initiatives. 
 
Participated in regional and sector networks and partnerships in line with development priorities, including the 
implementation of National Standards for Volunteer Involvement and Child Safe Standards. 
 
 


WCC 


Community 
Development 


Volunteering Victoria 


LG Pro 


Eastern Volunteers 


Boroondara 
Volunteer Resource 
Centre  


Volunteering in 
Manningham 


1.1.5 


Continue promotion of, information about and capacity for volunteering, community participation and community 
organisations within Council and in the community 


Achievements 


Convened and supported the Whitehorse Volunteer Network to share knowledge and resources. 
 
Council staff trained in working with volunteers who are on the autism spectrum. 
 
Produced and distributed updated edition of “Get Involved: Local Volunteering Opportunities” booklet. 


 
WCC 
 
Community 
Development 
 
Eastern Volunteers 
 


 
1.1.5 


Promote, support and explore the development of programs and initiatives designed to increase volunteering and 
intergenerational community participation, especially for  young people, CALD people, international students, people 
with a disability, professionals, families and men 


Achievements 


WCC 
 
Community 
Development 


1.1.2 
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Achievements 1 Jan 2018 – 30 Jun 2019 Partners and Lead 
Reference to 
Council Plan 


Approach 


Intergenerational projects and activities are supported by Council, with seven projects funded in Whitehorse through 
the Community Development ‘Intergenerational Grants’ program. Recipients include primary schools and preschools. 
 


Recognise and celebrate volunteers and those who are actively involved in their local community 


Achievements 


International Volunteer Day function delivered in November 2018 with 100 volunteers in attendance who were also 
recognised for their contribution. 
 
Social media used to promote volunteering during National Volunteer week in 2019. 
 
Developed social media videos about local community groups and volunteers with 1770 people watching the videos. 


Volunteers were regularly profiled in Whitehorse News. 


WCC 
 
Community 
Development 


1.1.5 
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Family Violence Response and Prevention 


Achievements 1 Jan 2018 – 30 Jun 2019 Partners and Lead 
Reference to 
Council Plan 


Approach 


Collaboratively plan and deliver evidence-based strategies to increase capacity of Council and the community to 
respond to and prevent family violence and violence against women 


Achievements 


Whitehorse City Council Statement on Family Violence and the Prevention of Violence Against Women and 
Children was adopted by Council 24 June 2019:  Whitehorse City Council says no to violence. Council is committed 
to working together with the community to model and promote equal and respectful relationships. We want a 
community where everyone is valued and safe.  
 
Council participated in regional advocacy and planning for PVAW through continuing contribution to the Action 
Plan for EMR Together For Equality and Respect (TFER) Strategy 2017-2021 and the respective Evaluation Plan. 
 
Council engaged stakeholders in PVAW in Whitehorse through establishment of the Whitehorse Prevention of 
Family Violence and Violence Against Women Collaborative Action Working Group early in 2018.  
 
Council encouraged best-practice activity across settings by Council and external partners through the 
development and publication of the Whitehorse Local Government and Community Settings Practice for Prevention 
of Violence Against Women resource.The resource was distributed across Council, to partner agencies and is also 
available on the MAV website for other LGAs. 
 
Council contributed to sector development through the provision of Family Violence and Prevention of Family 
Violence sessions for 20 members of the Whitehorse Early Years Network. 
 
Council collaborated with Manningham, Monash, and Boroondara Councils and Interfaith Networks for the Inner 
East Faith Communities Unite for Safety and Respect Project. Learning opportunities reached 53 different 
participants across three different co-designed workshops. Thirteen faiths and 11 organisations have been 
represented. Sixteen people of the Whitehorse Interfaith Network have been actively involved in looking at how to 


WCC  


Community 
Development 


All areas of Council 


Together for Equality 
and Respect 
Partnership 


Regional Family 
Violence Partnership 


WHE 


EDVOS 


Local family violence 
agencies 


Victoria Police 


Whitehorse 
Manningham 
Libraries 


Community 
organisations, 
including faith-based 


1.1.3 







Page 27 
 


Achievements 1 Jan 2018 – 30 Jun 2019 Partners and Lead 
Reference to 
Council Plan 


Approach 


promote safety and respect and prevent family violence. The project builds the capacity of the Inner Eastern 
Region faith settings to create a safe and respectful community.  
 
The highly engaging Miss Makes Code community event in March promoted girls engagement with Science 
Technology Engineering and Maths (STEM), reaching 95 children and adult participants.  Over 60 per cent of adults 
reported an increase in knowledge about gender equality. 
 
Whitehorse Celebrates Equality and Respect, a program of coordinated activities to mark the 16 Days of Activism 
Against Gender-based Violence, involving: 
• Well-received White Ribbon Breakfast hosted by the Mayor with over 100 people in attendance. 
• The Men’s Action Group created a thought-provoking installation on the lawns of the Town Hall and the Civic 
Centre, and collected signatures of people committed to say no to violence against women. 
• Coordinated toy drive to support specialist family violence service EDVOS and local refuge Kara House 
• Coordinated communications and marketing of campaign: social media posts, web-based information, Leader 
advertising and Whitehorse News; as well as participation in regional social media campaign with TFER Partnership 
• Sports Club Development Forum to promote Women’s Leadership in Sport. (In Annual Report 2019) 
• Collaboration with Manningham CC and WML for Gender Equity Storytime.  
•The 2018 sessions at Box Hill and Nunawading Libraries were attended by fifty five children and 46 adults. 
Sessions were reported to be enjoyable and informative. 
 
Successful Free from Violence State Government grant saw the implementation of the Whitehorse Strengthening 
Local Action for Family Violence Prevention Project. The project, to run over 12 months December 2018 - 
December 2019 aims to enhance Council’s capacity to develop strategic responses to prevent family violence and 
to promote gender equality in diverse settings, in collaboration with existing and new partners. A key outcome, 
currently under development, is the Family Violence Prevention Action Plan 2019-2021. 
 
Active Bystander Training was delivered to members of staff with representatives from across Council.  
 
Council’s Family Violence leave enshrined in the Collective Agreement has been accessed on a number of 
occasions by staff experiencing family violence. Council has a Family Violence Resource Kit to support staff 
experiencing family violence. 
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Achievements 1 Jan 2018 – 30 Jun 2019 Partners and Lead 
Reference to 
Council Plan 


Approach 


In partnership with community organisations, disability services, and other Councils develop strategies to 
prevent violence against women with a disability and children with disability 
 
Achievements 


Council contributes to the Regional Family Violence Working Group to progress actions for prevention of family 
violence, focussing on people living with disability. 
 
Council partnered with Nadrasca to deliver a range of preventative and awareness raising initiatives to support 
people accessing Nadrasca services – such as RUOK day, Friendship Day – each promoting elements of respectful 
relationships.   
 
A project entitled Abuse is Not OK saw Nadrasca employees with disability working alongside senior managers, 
trainers and Council’s MetroAccess Officer to develop co-designed key messages, undertake filming and acting in 
the video. 
 


WCC 


Community 
Development 


WHE 


Local FV Services 


EDVOS 


Women’s Health 
East 


Other Councils 


Nadrasca 


1.1.3 


Continue to safeguard the rights, dignity, health and independence of older people through action to prevent 
elder abuse  


Achievements 
WHACS respond appropriately to elder abuse disclosures and provide support services and undertakes ongoing 
cross-agency collaboration and improvements to service co-ordination. 
 
Participated in the Eastern Elder Abuse Network and the Eastern Elder Abuse Committee (EEAC). This committee 
has a focus on developing primary prevention approaches to elder abuse across the EMR.  
 
Council supported and promoted the annual World Elder Abuse Awareness Day across City of Whitehorse and the 
Eastern Metropolitan Region. Council supported a number of initiatives to raise awareness of elder abuse, 
including: 


WCC  


WHACS 


Community 
Development 


Eastern Elder Abuse 
Network 


Eastern Community 
Legal Centre 


Senior’s Rights 
Victoria 


 


1.1.3 
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Achievements 1 Jan 2018 – 30 Jun 2019 Partners and Lead 
Reference to 
Council Plan 


Approach 


 Together We Can Stop Elder Abuse banner displayed on the Box Hill Town Hall lawn and the Town Hall 
illuminated in purple from 15-29 June 


 Ribbons and written material available at Council Customer Service Centres 


 Promotion through Whitehorse News and Face Book to increase awareness of the issue and encouraged the 
community to wear purple on Friday 15 June 


 Regional forum for professionals 
 


Continue to enhance workforce capacity of direct service providers to respond to elder abuse, family violence 
and child safety concerns 


Achievements 


All MCHNs have received training in how to apply the additional family violence consultations funded by the state 
government and now included in the key ages and stages program. 
 
All MCHN staff have attended 16 hours of specific training relating to trauma in children as a result of family 
violence. 
 
Council's MCHNs work closely with the Eastern Domestic Violence Service to provide secondary consultations and 
support for at risk families.  
 
All Early Years and youth staff received training about family violence and in particular, identification of signs and 
referral pathways for intervention support. 
 
WHACS staff explored case studies about elder abuse and occupational violence facilitated at the Peer Support 
Group meetings, attended by 135 Support Workers.   


Whitehorse Regional Assessment service undertook 2 hour training sessions run by Senior Rights Victoria. Training 
included individual case-by-case case discussions conducted with relevant WHACS staff to follow up on suspected 
elder abuse. 


WCC 


Health and Family 
Services 


WHACS 


 


1.1.1 
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Achievements 1 Jan 2018 – 30 Jun 2019 Partners and Lead 
Reference to 
Council Plan 


Approach 


Coordinate regional activities to promote understanding about respectful relationships,  gender and sexual 
diversity 


Achievements 


Council and other local and regional organisations collaborated to deliver the IDAHOBIT pop-up event in Box Hill 
Central providing entertainment and information on health and wellbeing programs available to support young 
people. Council also raised the rainbow flag at Box Hill Town Hall and Council’s Civic Centre and lit the Town Hall in 
purple during the week of the event. 
 


WCC 


Community 
Development 


Arts and Recreation 
Services 


Health and Family 
Services 


Q-East 


Women’s Health 
East (WHE) 


1.1.7 


Increase health literacy for men and women in identified health and wellbeing priority areas, including mental 
health, harmful use of alcohol and violence prevention  


Achievements 


Produced Women’s Safety Information Card to support Council’s work in prevention of family violence (hard copy 
and online). The Women’s Safety Cards have been extensively distributed through Service Centres, WELS, MCHS, 
and Libraries and at relevant events. 
 
In collaboration with VECCI and Manningham City Council, Council hosted the How to Approach Performance 
Management business breakfast in November 2018 which included topics such as Reading the signs of depression, 
Domestic and family violence leave and Employee assistance programs. 
 
The October 2018 Women’s Forum Inspirational Stories – From Addiction to Recovery was attended by 150 
women. Three guest speakers presented inspirational personal stories and performance about the impacts of 
addiction and their recovery from their own or another’s addiction.  
 


WCC 


WHE 


1.1.3 
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Achievements 1 Jan 2018 – 30 Jun 2019 Partners and Lead 
Reference to 
Council Plan 


Approach 


The May 2019 Women’s Forum looked at happiness, Healthy Body Happy Mind, with 170 guests attending.  
 
Over 150 men and the people who care about them participated in activities to promote men’s mental health and 
wellbeing as part of Men’s Health Week 2019. Topics included Suicide prevention, Anxiety and Depression in Men, 
Expectations and Wellbeing. Participants report an increased knowledge and confidence to speak with others 
about their concerns. 
 


Safety 


Achievements 1 Jan 2018 – 30 Jun 2019 Partners and Lead 
Reference to 
Council Plan 


Approach 


Work in partnership with government, health and emergency services to prevent, prepare, respond to and 
recover from emergencies and natural disasters through maintenance of the City of Whitehorse Municipal 
Emergency Management Plan 


Achievements 


Program of Annual Activities: 


 Quarterly MEMPC meeting 


 MEMP reviewed and updated 


 Annual Community and Stakeholder Engagement,  including Fire Awareness Consultation, posting of extreme 
weather alerts on social media and involvement in regional and local EM planning forums 


 Annual testing and exercising of the Municipal Emergency Management Plan 


 Conduct reviews of nominated Community Emergency Risk Assessments (CERA). 
 


WCC 


Compliance 


Municipal 
Emergency 
Management 
Planning Committee 
(MEMPC) 


1.1.3 


Inform and educate the community, especially those most at risk, about how to prepare for, respond to and 
recover from identified emergency risks 


Achievements 


WCC 


Compliance 


MEMPC 


1.1.3 
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Achievements 1 Jan 2018 – 30 Jun 2019 Partners and Lead 
Reference to 
Council Plan 


Approach 


Expanded the weather alert early warning system through Flexibuzz and social media. 


To reinforce emergency agency and state government messaging, Council promoted community action to prepare 
for emergencies, such as residents maintaining their smoke detectors, through Whitehorse News articles and 
social media. 


Council’s WHACS clients are regularly informed about measures to take during heat-waves and power blackouts 
through distribution and access to DHHS information on thermal health. 


Awareness and information about emergency management issues is through web page, local media and 
information sheets. 


Council staff are kept up to date about  business continuity through : 


 Annual desktop exercise with managers 


 Annual departmental recovery plan review 


 Six monthly Business Continuity Steering Committee meetings 


 Six monthly audit reports 


Inform, collaborate and advocate to reduce problem gambling and gambling harm in the community 


Achievements 


Review of Whitehorse City Council’s Responsible Gambling Policy 2011 has commenced.  The literature review and 
research phase is complete, as well as consultations with internal staff.  An external consultation phase is being 
planned. 
 
The community has access to increased information and messaging about the inherent risks of playing EGM’S, the 
extent of problem gambling and potential harm through updated factsheets and information on Council’s 
corporate website. 
 
Two videos focussing on gambling harm in the City of Whitehorse were also produced internally and promoted via 
social media during Gambling Harm Awareness Week 2018. 
 


WCC 


Community 
Development 


Gamblers Help East 


MAV 


VLGA 


1.1.3 
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Achievements 1 Jan 2018 – 30 Jun 2019 Partners and Lead 
Reference to 
Council Plan 


Approach 


 


Collaborate to implement initiatives to promote community safety and prevent crime 


Achievements 


The end of 2018 saw the finalisation of the collaborative Theft from Motor Vehicle bi-language signage project 
with Victoria Police with 206 “Lock it, Remove it or Lose it!” signs installed in ten Council car parks.  Community 
education sessions were conducted and evaluation indicates an increased community awareness of the need to 
remove valuables from parked cars to reduce theft. 
 


VicPol 


WCC 


Local business 


Community Groups 


1.1.3 


Implement Council’s Five Star Food Hygiene Assessment (FHA) system to improve the safety of food being 
manufactured, handled, stored and sold in the municipality 


Achievements 


In 2018 over 70 % of Class 1 and 2 food premises in the City of Whitehorse achieved 5 and 4 star (30% and 42.2% 
respectively). This demonstrates high standards being recorded and maintained across 72.2% of the food 
businesses that were assessed. Overall this was a positive result with an improvement of 2.4% above the result for 
2017. Overall, food safety performance for food businesses within Whitehorse continued to remain high with 
95.5% of premises being compliant. 
 
To support compliance two Allergen forums were held with translation services to cater for Chinese-speaking 
business people. 


Guides were sent out to all businesses to support compliance as well as the delivery of two information forums 
which included presentation of the 5 Star Food Premises of the Year award. 


WCC 


Health and Family 
Services 


1.1.8 


Undertake Tobacco Control activities to protect the health of the community, in particular young people 


Achievements 


Tobacco control activities included assessments and educational activities conducted with retail tobacco outlets, 
food businesses and other workplaces, and outdoor areas, as well as enforcement activities. These together with 


WCC 1.1.8 
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Achievements 1 Jan 2018 – 30 Jun 2019 Partners and Lead 
Reference to 
Council Plan 


Approach 


test purchases for cigarette sales to minors met service targets and funding requirements in accordance with 
MAV/DHHS Service agreement.   


Implement changes in the Tobacco Act (1987) to further restrict public places where smoking is permitted 


Achievements 


The State Government's 2018 changes to the Tobacco Act to include additional public areas in which smoking is 
prohibited are being regulated by Council's Community Laws and Health Teams. 
 
Council administered the new tobacco legislative reforms with respect to bans on smoking in outdoor areas and 
regulation of e-cigarettes and shisha tobacco in accordance with MAV/DHHS Service agreement.  
 


WCC 1.1.8 


Work with new and existing rooming house operators and other stakeholders to support compliance with 
regulation with public health standards 


Achievements 


Registered prescribed accommodation underwent annual assessments and follow up inspections in relation to 
health, building and planning compliance. 
 
Unregistered premises were investigated. 


Rooming house operators were supported to meet compliance through education visits and a newsletter sent out 
to all registered rooming houses in March 2019 promoting health, building and community law requirements. 


 


WCC 1.1.8 


Inform, collaborate and advocate to reduce harm from alcohol and drugs in the community 


Achievements 


Council is a partner in the EMR Action on Alcohol Flagship Group (AAFG). During the 18 months the group 
undertook action planning and was successful in obtaining a grant for an ADF Local Drug and Alcohol Team (LDAT). 
  


WCC 


EMR Alcohol Action 
Flagship Group 


1.1.3 
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Achievements 1 Jan 2018 – 30 Jun 2019 Partners and Lead 
Reference to 
Council Plan 


Approach 


Support the social and economic wellbeing of the community in relation to alcohol availability in the 
municipality 


Achievements 


At the October 2018 Women’s Forum (Inspirational Stories – From Addiction to Recovery) three guests speakers 
presented personal stories and performance about the impacts of addiction and their recovery from their own or 
another’s addiction. Their stories touched on addiction in multiple forms – alcohol, drugs and gambling – as well as 
how family violence and new settlement issues also played a part. Fifty-seven of the 150 women in attendance 
responded to an anonymous evaluation survey (response rate of 38%). In the survey the women attending were 
asked to suggest important messages to convey to women about drinking alcohol. The messages they suggested 
broadly encompassed the following themes: 


 Harms caused 


 Assess your drinking – could you be in denial of a problem? 


 Seek help 


 Promote healthier options 
 


WCC 


Community 
Development 


1.1.3 
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Strategic Direction Two: Maintain and enhance our built environment to ensure a liveable and sustainable city 


Health and Wellbeing Goal: Accessible, safe and welcoming places for all people  


Priorities 


 Connectivity and connectedness 


 Active living 


 Access and safety for people with disability, and older people 


 Feeling safe  


 Affordable housing 


Achievements 


Achievements 1 Jan 2018 – 30 Jun 2019 
Partners and 


Lead 


Reference to 
Council Plan 


Approach 


Introduce a Planning Scheme Amendment for Municipal Wide Tree Controls to reduce tree removal 


Achievements 


In pursuit of a reduction in tree removal, authorisation was sought in April 2019 to prepare and exhibit 
Amendment C219 to introduce a municipal wide Significant Landscape Overlay. 
 
Delivered tree awareness education to support the introduction of tree controls. 
 


WCC 


Planning and 
Building 


Department of 
Environment, Land, 
Water and 
Planning 


2.1.1 


Continuous improvement to the Planning Scheme 


Achievements 


WCC 


Planning and 
Building 


2.1.1 
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At its meeting on 16 July 2018, Council endorsed the findings of the Whitehorse Planning Scheme Review which 
includes review of the scheme's Municipal Strategic Statement. Review of the Planning Scheme is undertaken 
every 4 years. 
 


Department of 
Environment, Land, 
Water and 
Planning 


Continue to realise the Urban Realm Vision to create space, places and connectivity for people to engage 


Achievements 


Commenced pilot testing of Place Activation Guidelines (PAGs). 
 
PAGs successfully guided the process for the This Space Your Place place-making initiative in Box Hill Mall. The 
learnings from this pilot project will inform the next round of updates for the PAGs.  
 
Box Hill Urban Realm Treatment (BHURT) Guidelines to assist planning applicants to understand expectations for 
works in the public realm are completed.  The Guidelines were prepared with funding from the Victorian 
Planning Authority’s Streamlining for Growth Program. The finalised BHURT Guidelines are ready for distribution 
and implementation once the technical component has been completed.  
 


WCC 


Planning and 
Building 


 


2.1.5 


Continue to partner, identify and advocate for affordable housing in Whitehorse and the Eastern Metropolitan 
Region, including social housing and mixed-use developments 


Achievements 


Whitehorse continues to be an active participant in the Eastern Affordable Housing Alliance and has supported 
an advocacy campaign in the lead up to the State and Federal Election. 
 
Practical ways that local government can help to increase the supply of social and affordable housing have been 
promoted through the EAHA ZoneIn website, which is regularly reviewed and updated. 
 
Finally, Whitehorse has researched and shared data about surplus State and council owned sites for each of the 
EAHA local government areas. 
 


WCC  


Planning and 
Building 


Eastern Affordable 
Housing Alliance  


EMR Councils 


2.1.2 
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Continue to advocate to the State Government for infrastructure and service improvements that make public 
transport, walking and cycling more convenient, safe and accessible for people in Whitehorse 


Achievements 


Advocated to the State Government for improvements to the Box Hill Transport Interchange. 
 


WCC 


Engineering and 
Environmental 
Services 


 


2.1.3 


Promote physical and mental wellbeing of adults and children through education and access to safe, 
enjoyable, sustainable, active transport modes such as cycling and walking 


Achievements 


Council continues to provide many educational and behavioural programs to promote the physical and mental 
wellbeing of adults and children. These include the Whitehorse Active and Safe School Program, support for 
Walk to School, Transit, and Bike It active travel programs in schools and adult bicycle skills training courses to 
increase participation in cycling. 


WCC 


Engineering and 
Environmental 
Services 


Whitehorse 
primary and 
secondary schools 


2.1.5 


Increase access to shared spaces for physical activity and social connections by building multi-use, youth-
friendly infrastructure 


Achievements 


In 2018 Box Hill South Skate Park extension opened, providing access to a new beginner area, street plaza style 
skating elements and new basketball half court. 


WCC 


Engineering and 
Environmental 
Services 


 


2.1.4 


Improve access to shared spaces for physical activity and social connections by building multi-use, disability 
and female-friendly infrastructure 


Achievements 


All building upgrades and redevelopment projects of recreation facilities were undertaken in line with universal 
access guidelines. 


The design phase of Elgar Park South sports pavilion is completed. Project has moved into procurement and 
construction.  


Terrara Park Pavilion Redevelopment concept plans have been signed off by tenant clubs.  


WCC 


Leisure and 
Recreation Services 


2.1.4 
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Ensure Council facilities are accessible and safe for all people, including children, people with disabilities and 
older people 


Achievements 


Employed Universal Access guidelines and DDA in retrofit program/upgrades of all Capital Works, increasing 
accessibility at Whitehorse Neighbourhood Houses, the Town Hall and other community venues. 
 
The Capital Works Program have building accessibility works scheduled as part of 13 Building Development 
Projects, 11 Building Refurbishment Projects, and 7 building upgrade projects to  2021. 
 


WCC 


Assets and Capital 
Works 


2.1.4 


Plan for the needs of multiple users of Council managed facilities to promote a shared, welcoming community 


Achievements 


Minimum Universal Access and DDA compliant design processes are employed for Nunawading Hub and all other 
major projects.  
 
Council provides infrastructure on projects to install electric charging stations for electric cars, for example 
Harrow St Car Park has 4 electric charging points with provision for more.  
 
Nunawading Community Hub classrooms are fitted with audible hearing loops and infrastructure provisions for 
electric charging points. 
 
Nunawading Community Hub will also be a 5 star Greenstar building providing a sustainable environment for the 
community and staff. 


WCC 


Major Projects & 
Building 
 


 


2.1.4 


Increase community safety for residents, businesses and visitors of Whitehorse 


Achievements 


A study and review of existing street lighting located in Market Street and Main Street of Box Hill Mall to improve 
community safety was undertaken in the first half of 2019. 


 


WCC 


Engineering and 
Environmental 
Services             
Local traders’ 
groups and Victoria 
Police 


2.1.6 
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Strategic Direction Three: Protect and enhance our open space and natural environments 


Health and Wellbeing Goal: A sustainable environment and shared open spaces  


Priorities 


 Connection to and value of the natural environment 


 Sharing open spaces 


 Climate change adaptation 


 Living sustainably 


Achievements 


Achievements 1 Jan 2018 – 30 Jun 2019 Partners and Lead 


Reference 
to Council 


Plan 
Approach 


Broaden and expand environmental educational initiatives to reach more children and people from diverse 
backgrounds, increasing the community’s appreciation of, and connection with, the natural environment 


Achievements 


To encourage responsibility to care for our natural environment, environmental activities with a bushland focus at 
Blackburn Lake Sanctuary and Yarran Dheran were conducted as well as the promotion of tree planting in public 
and private land to improve vegetation cover.  
 


WCC 


ParksWide 


Whitehorse Primary 
&Secondary Schools 


Early Learning 
Centres 


3.1.3 


Increase and enhance existing biodiversity in the urban environment through implementation of the Biodiversity 
Strategy 


Achievements 


The Whitehorse Biodiversity Inventory of flora, fauna and fungi species in 50 reserves completed and will inform 
the implementation of the Biodiversity Strategy. 


WCC 


ParksWide 


3.1.3 
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Achievements 1 Jan 2018 – 30 Jun 2019 Partners and Lead 


Reference 
to Council 


Plan 
Approach 


Manage and sustain the natural environment through implementation of the Urban Forest Strategy 


Achievements 


Progress the Urban Forest Strategy through research and implementation of a tree canopy cover assessment tool. 


Council completed a full audit of street trees in Mitcham that identifies multiple management attributes including 
genus and species, tree age, health, and safe life expectancy. 


WCC 


Parkswide 


3.1.1 


Inform, engage and encourage the community to adopt sustainable living practices and adapt to climate change 


Achievements 


The community was engaged in sustainable living practices through numerous free community events and 
workshops in 2018 and the first half of 2019.  
 
The  Sustainable Living Week program saw over 1,800 people attending  27 diverse workshops and activities, on 
topics ranging from energy-saving measures, solar energy, gardening, nature play, waste-free living, and the joy of 
minimalism. Practical advice was shared about making the home more sustainable (potentially even getting off-
grid), caring for indoor plants, and environmentally sustainable design for buildings. 
 
A general “Sustainable Living in Whitehorse” presentation has been developed for delivery at English Language 
classes improving Council’s communication with people of CALD about sustainability. 
 
Well attended Smarter Living Workshops promoted the topics of 'The effect of litter on our waterways, and 'Urban 
Agriculture’. 
 
Council partnered with Eastern Climate Action Melbourne to provide a community workshop about climate 
change policies. 
 
Council promoted and provided incentives for the uptake of solar panels and home composting including offering 
financial rebates for home composting installations. 


WCC 


Engineering and 
Environmental 
Services 


 


3.1.3 
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Achievements 1 Jan 2018 – 30 Jun 2019 Partners and Lead 


Reference 
to Council 


Plan 
Approach 


 
In 2018, Council promoted the Solar Savers program to assist low income households to install solar panels 
 
Council provided independent and reliable advice on energy efficiency for residents and businesses, including the 
purchase of solar panels and batteries through the engagement and promotion of the Moreland Energy 
Foundation’s ‘Positive Charge’ program.  
 
Urban Harvest Food Swap local food initiative was promoted and workshops and activities related to growing 
food, food waste avoidance, and healthy food hints conducted. 
 
Council supported community organisations, schools and community to implement relevant waste and 
sustainability projects through programs such as Council’s Community grants program Stephanie Alexander Food 
Garden Foundation and Resource Smart Program.  
 
Nine schools completed composting workshops and council grants were awarded to 17 schools and early learning 
centres to undertake sustainable and waste reduction projects at their school or kinder. 
 


Continue to deliver and improve waste management in Whitehorse and more broadly to reduce waste to landfill 
and recover and recycle waste resources 


Achievements 


Delivery of Council’s waste and recycling services maintains a clean city, reduces waste to landfill and facilitates 
recycling. 
 
A new Waste Management Strategy 2018-2028 was adopted by Council in December 2018 and implementation in 
2019 is progressing well. 


WCC 


Engineering and 
Environmental 
Services 


Other Councils 


3.1.4 
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Achievements 1 Jan 2018 – 30 Jun 2019 Partners and Lead 


Reference 
to Council 


Plan 
Approach 


Council continues to collaborate with other Councils and regionally for waste and sustainability service delivery 
and knowledge sharing. Current collaborations include recycling, landfill contracts, and advanced waste processing 
multi-Council procurement project. 


Increase access to shared spaces for physical activity and sports participation, in particular for the sports of 
soccer and cricket 


Achievements 


Works completed for Ballyshannassy Park and reopened for the Summer 2018/2019 season. Four cricket clubs 
shared the summer allocation and the ground was allocated for the 2019 winter season for soccer. 
 
Walker Park Pavilion Redevelopment works commenced. 


Sports ground lighting upgrades completed at East Burwood Reserve and Vermont Reserve. 


WCC 


Leisure and 
Recreation Services 


3.1.2 


Plan for the needs of multiple users of Council-managed open spaces to promote a shared, welcoming 
community 


Achievements 


Council’s Dog Off Lead provision was reviewed in 2018 with community input sought. In October Council endorsed 
the new Order which added three dog off-lead areas to the existing 19 and improved a number of definitions. The 
new Order became effective 1 November 2018. 
 
In 2019 a new Park at Chaucer Street, Box Hill South completed with features to maximise shared use of open 
space: 


 Development of gravel paths into the park; 


 Installation of park furniture; 


 Establishing informal grassed open space areas; and 


 Construction of a ‘small local’ level play space. 
 


WCC 


Leisure and 
Recreation Services 


ParksWide 


3.1.2 
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Strategic Direction Four: Provide strategic leadership and an open and accessible government 


Health and Wellbeing Goal: Communicating, actively engaged Council  


 


Priorities 


 Access to information 


 Engagement with community 


 City resilience 


Achievements 


Achievements 1 Jan 2018 – 30 Jun 2019 
Partners and 


Lead 


Reference 
to Council 


Plan 
Approach 


Continuously improve Council customer services making it easier for people with diverse needs and abilities to do business 
with us 


Achievements 


Ensured Complaints and Complements mechanisms meet customer needs through regular review of policies, procedures 
and monitoring on a regular and ongoing basis. Policies are amended as required 


The Snap Send and Solve program was implemented, assisting our community to communicate issues to Council. 


Children with anxiety disorders and autism have been able to access social stories in which simple language and images 
explain what happens at pool based parties in Council facilities. The availability of social stories has been promoted through 
Council networks and media.  
 
Customer Feedback Guidelines which include assistance options for customers who are unable to submit their feedback in 
writing, have been developed. 


WCC 


Civic Services 


Community 
Development 


 


4.2.4 
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Achievements 1 Jan 2018 – 30 Jun 2019 
Partners and 


Lead 


Reference 
to Council 


Plan 
Approach 


 
Council officers professional development in working with people with diverse needs and abilities included Disability 
Awareness training and Accessible Communication training. 
 


Develop and implement a digital transformation initiative to broaden the range of people across the municipality with 
whom Council engages, improving access and reducing environmental impacts 


Achievements 


The introduction of Council’s new digital platforms are nearing completion and herald increased engagement with our 
community. Council’s new website has improved search function and language translation, among other features, to 
increase access. 


The “Your Say Whitehorse” community engagement portal is being utilised across Council. 


WCC 


Digital and 
Business 
Technology 


Communications 


 


4.3.2 


Progressively implement new technology to increase access for the community to Council 


Achievements 


Online livestreaming and recordings of Council meetings are available and being utilised by our community. Between100-
200 people listen to the livestream each meeting. This together with an average of 100 downloads per month demonstrates 
the value of this initiative for our community. 


WCC 


Civic Services 


 


4.1.2 


Communicate health and wellbeing information in community languages through Council customer services to increase 
health literacy and access to services 


Achievements 


Council has created dedicated spaces for health and wellbeing information in its Service Centres. A pilot display was 
implemented at Forest Hill service centre in a prominent space beside the counter. The display is generating interest, with 
customers reading and regularly taking brochures. Customer Services gathered feedback from customers who find this 
useful. Future access will be investigated through Council’s new digital platforms. 
 


WCC 


Civic Services 


Community 
Development  


4.3.1 
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Achievements 1 Jan 2018 – 30 Jun 2019 
Partners and 


Lead 


Reference 
to Council 


Plan 
Approach 


Currently Customer Services have access to the Health Translations Service that has more than 18,000 resources available in 
more than 105 languages. 
 


Investigate ways to reduce mortgage stress and non-payment of Council rates 


Achievements 


Implemented Council’s Rate Hardship Policy and debt collection practices which are aaligned with Victorian Government 
model litigant guidelines 


WCC 


Property and 
Rates 


 


4.2.4 


Continue to enhance the health and performance of Council’s workforce (employees and volunteers) through 
organisational development initiatives 


Achievements 


Ongoing support for workforce with a dedicated health and wellbeing focus within the Risk, Health and Safety Team of 
Council.  Council achieved 4 out 5 benchmarks in the Healthy Workplace Achievement program, and is the first organisation 
to achieve the Drugs and Alcohol recognition. 
 
Implementation of needs based training across Council focused on identified areas of need. A reduction in work related 
Injury in the targeted areas continues to be observed and further expansion of this needs based training will be 
implemented. 
 
The Annual Report describes employee health and wellbeing, injury management and safety activities. 
 


WCC 


People and 
Culture 


 


4.2.2 


Support staff experiencing family violence in line with Collective Agreement 


Achievements 


Implementation of Collective Agreement provisions regarding family violence leave as required. 


WCC 


People and 
Culture 


4.2.2 
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Achievements 1 Jan 2018 – 30 Jun 2019 
Partners and 


Lead 


Reference 
to Council 


Plan 
Approach 


Implement learnings from participation in Resilient Melbourne’s Neighbourhood Project in future Community-Led Place 
Making initiatives 


Achievements 


The pilot place making project This Space Your Place was carried out.  


A Place Making Coordinator role has been created and recruited to support the cross-Council activity for place-making 
initiatives. 


WCC 


Strategic 
Planning 


4.2.3 
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Strategic Direction Five: Support a healthy local economy 


 Health and Wellbeing Goal: Economic opportunity for people 


 


Priorities 


 Employment opportunity for young people 


 Women and new entrepreneurs in business  


 Health and wellbeing is good business 


 Cultural diversity is good business 


Achievements 


Achievements 1 Jan 2018 – 30 Jun 2019 Partners and Lead 


Reference 
to Council 


Plan 
Approach 


Revitalise small business precincts to create hubs for community gathering and opportunities for employment 


Achievements 


Council promoted utilisation of public spaces by providing information to existing and potential business owners of 
restaurants and cafes about merchandising or trading their products, looking at outdoor seating on the footpath etc. 
through: 


 Council’s Outdoor Trading Policy  


 “Operating a Business in Whitehorse” information sheet  


 The Business Guide 


 Down to Business  


 Council's Business Website: 


WCC 


Investment and 
Economic 
Development 


 


5.1.1 
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Achievements 1 Jan 2018 – 30 Jun 2019 Partners and Lead 


Reference 
to Council 


Plan 
Approach 


 www.wbiz.com.au 


Councils Visual Merchandising booklet is regularly promoted in Down to Business, business events, customer service 
centres, festive window decorating competition and is distributed directly to businesses during consultations in retail 
precincts.  


Council also encourages community gathering in our retail precinct by making available free of charge, Pop Up Furniture 


Promote innovative and creative small business models and practices to increase business activity and sustainability 


Achievements 


In the City of Whitehorse, there are currently two privately run Serviced Shared Office providers. The old ATO building 
(Whitehorse Road) and Regus (Prospect Street) both in Box Hill. 


Preliminary discussions with partner organisations to develop an entrepreneurship hub for the creative industries were 
conducted. 


Council has an ongoing and positive relationship with many small businesses in Whitehorse. In 2019 Council was 
approached by Small Business Victoria to nominate interesting businesses for their Small Business Secrets promotion. Two 
local businesses received mentoring and free marketing as a result. 


WCC 


Investment and 
Economic 
Development 


Small Business 
Mentoring Service 


Deakin University 


Small Business 
Victoria 


Destination 
Melbourne 


Box Hill Institute  


Whitehorse Business 
Group 


Asian Business 
Association of 
Whitehorse 


5.1.1 
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Achievements 1 Jan 2018 – 30 Jun 2019 Partners and Lead 


Reference 
to Council 


Plan 
Approach 


Explore opportunities for partnerships and involvement of local businesses, community organisations and educational 
institutions in initiatives and sponsorship which promote a sense of place, such as community-led place-making and 
activation events 


Achievements 


Council liaised with local businesses regarding opportunities for involvement in business events and initiatives that 
promote a sense of place. Retail precinct champions are routinely invited to the full range of programs run by the 
Investment & Economic Development Unit.  


Throughout 2018 a number of Council  initiatives saw partnerships and local business involvement in : 


 How to Approach Performance Management business breakfast, (in November) held in collaboration with VECCI and 
Manningham City Council. 


 Whitehorse Business Week Breakfast, August, “Discover the Dynamic Transitional Economy of Melbourne East” held in 
collaboration with Melbourne East Councils (160 registrations). 


 Collaborated with other LGAs to produce a Living, Working and Playing in the Melbourne East video that showcases 
the benefits of the East, and features Box Hill. 


 Council partnered with the Whitehorse Business Group to host Networking workshops as part of the Boost Program  
(in March). A fully booked event. Council regularly promotes the Whitehorse Business Group events program in Down 
to Business, the Wbiz website and E- bulletin. 


The 2018 Festive Window Competition was a reinvigorated competition run through the Instagram platform for the first 
time, where shoppers were encouraged to upload a photo of their favourite festive window to win the competition. 
Nominated businesses also became eligible to win, with over $6,000 of prizes given away. 76 different businesses were 
nominated and 67 eligible businesses judged. 


The 2018/19 Think Local Buy Local campaign focus was on the benefits of spending $100 locally. It featured a competition 
inviting shoppers to tell us their favourite Whitehorse business to win and why.  129 entries were received. 


In the first half of 2019 Council: 


WCC 


Investment and 
Economic 
Development 


Whitehorse-
Manningham 
Libraries 


Box Hill Institute 


Deakin University 


Whitehorse Business 
Group Network 


Community Groups 


5.1.5 
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Achievements 1 Jan 2018 – 30 Jun 2019 Partners and Lead 


Reference 
to Council 


Plan 
Approach 


 Further established relationship with LightFM by regularly attending its business breakfast and connecting with local 
businesses. 


 Collaborated with other Eastern LGAs to deliver the 2019 Melbourne East Regional Breakfast “Digital Horizons – the 
next big things to impact your business” in May, with 161 attendees.  


 Cohosted the Networking workshop at Boost Your Business in March with the Whitehorse Business Group. The 
Business Group gave presentations to the attendees about the benefits of joining their network. 


 Ran the Box Hill Logo competition ran during March – April and received 65 submissions from Whitehorse tertiary 
institutions, secondary schools, businesses and residents.  The Judging Panel members were representatives from the 
local community. The new logo incorporates multiple colours representing different elements of Box Hill as a business, 
education, transport, health and social hub. The competition was sponsored by Deakin University and Box Hill 
Institute.   


 Hosted Regional Economic Development Information Exchange event topic ‘Partnerships and Collaboration’. 


Increase employment opportunities for young people, including those from diverse backgrounds, by leading the 
Whitehorse Tertiary Business Skills Program  


Achievements 


Council collaborated with Deakin University to continue to run the successful Whitehorse Tertiary Skills Program with 26 
student/business placements. 80% of participants were international students. 2018 was the 10 year anniversary of the 
program and it received an award in the National Government Innovation Awards.  
 
Council partnered with Gateway LLEN to run Speed X Industry Immersion session in May 2018. This education retention 
program targeted at risk or disengaged youth to encourage continuing education through VCAL or VETis pathways. Twenty 
businesses/organisations engaged with 61 students from six participating schools. 
 
The Down to Business newsletter keeps Whitehorse businesses informed about events and activities, business excellence, 
as well as information to manage a business. Produced and distributed three times per year, Issue 2 in 2018, featured a 
full page advertisement about the Australian Network on Disability “Illness, Injury or Disability is Diverse” and listed  
Whitehorse Business Groups event “Mums Return to work “. The newsletter has a distribution of 4000. 
 


WCC 


Investment and 
Economic 
Development 


Deakin University 


Business and NFP 
organisations 


5.1.1 
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Achievements 1 Jan 2018 – 30 Jun 2019 Partners and Lead 


Reference 
to Council 


Plan 
Approach 


Facilitate opportunities for young people to engage with employment, training and education, including targeted 
support for vulnerable young people 


Achievements 


Young people, including those with learning and behavioural challenges, were support by the Youth services team and the 
School Focussed Youth Services Coordinator to maintain engagement with education.  
At Youth Connexions the Youth Team also supported young people to access work experience through volunteering, 
training and apprenticeships, as well as assisting with resume writing and job seeking. 
 


WCC 


Whitehorse Youth 
Issues Network 


Secondary Schools 


Employers 


Tertiary institutions 


MIC 


5.1.1 


Promote investment in mixed use/multi-purpose development to increase local employment opportunity 


Achievements 


The scale of proposals increased considerably in 2018, providing significant opportunities to shape our City, including 
advocacy for Health & Wellbeing objectives. Some examples include the proposed redevelopment of Box Hill Central, large 
mixed use development on Whitehorse Road and Station Streets in Box Hill, Greenwood Office park in Burwood and HP 
site in Forest Hill with advocacy for improved transport and infrastructure. The Victorian Government’s commitment to 
building the Suburban Rail Loop, will connect Box Hill and Whitehorse with the northern and southern suburbs, the 
airport, universities, jobs and economic opportunities. 
 


WCC 


Investment and 
Economic 
Development 


 


5.1.1 


Design and deliver affordable business skills education and mentoring opportunities for new and emerging business 
people, with a focus on women returning to the workforce, work-life balance and the promotion of entrepreneurship 


Achievements 


The 2018 Boost Your Business Program in March featured a range of low cost/free educational opportunities with a total 
of 110 registrants: 


 Tapping into Tourism 


 Effective Business Networking 


WCC 


Investment and 
Economic 
Development 


Financial Literacy 
Australia  


5.1.1 
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Achievements 1 Jan 2018 – 30 Jun 2019 Partners and Lead 


Reference 
to Council 


Plan 
Approach 


 Attracting Customers through Creative Retail Merchandising Design 


 Keeping The Right Staff: How to Employ Good People 


 How to Increase traffic to your Website 


In 2019 the Boost Your Business Program attracted 103 registrations in sessions about: 


 Marketing Your Business  


 Single Touch Payroll for Business 


 Effective Networking  


 Business Planning Essentials 


 Cyber Security For Small Business  


 Taking Your Business Online 


Council collaborated with Small Business Victoria and hosted multiple initiatives to deliver affordable business skills 
education and mentoring opportunities in 2018 and the first half of 2019 :  


 The Small Business Bus in which businesses can access a free 45 minutes sessions with an experienced mentor at 
one of five different sessions across the year 


 Five different sessions to access to a free and confidential small business mentoring service  


 Over the 18 months a number of low cost workshops with over 90 registrants, facilitated by experienced 
professionals. Topics include Starting Your Business, Taking Your Business Online, Record Keeping for GST 


The Whitehorse Business Groups event in 2018 “Mums Return to Work” was promoted in in Down to Business, with a 
distribution of 4000. 


In 2019 Council collaborated with other Councils of the Melbourne East & the Australia Small Business Advisory Services, 
to roll out the “Digital Solutions Program” further increasing access to opportunities for the promotion of 
entrepreneurship.  This low cost program provides access to 25 workshops, two mentoring sessions, webinars and a digital 
solutions portal. Workshops commenced in February 2019 to run through to November 2019. 


 


Small Business 
Mentoring Service 


Small Business 
Victoria 
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Achievements 1 Jan 2018 – 30 Jun 2019 Partners and Lead 


Reference 
to Council 


Plan 
Approach 


Continue to facilitate knowledge sharing for business people, including cross-cultural investment opportunities and the 
link between employee health and productivity 


Achievements 


In November 2018 Council collaborated with VECCI and Manningham City Council to host the How to Approach 
Performance Management business breakfast with 100 Registrations. This session included topics about employee health 
and wellbeing such as  


 Readings signs of depression, anti- social behaviour and underperformance 


 Domestic and family violence leave 


 Employee assistance programs 


The Investment and Economic Development Unit and Aqualink partnered with the Whitehorse Business Group to run the 
Active Networking Event in October.  Event sponsors were local health and wellbeing businesses. Keynote speaker was 
Matt Welsh who shared about the importance of health and wellbeing in business. 


As a part of 2018 Whitehorse Business Week, Council hosted the China Ready Checklist business lunch in August to equip 
participants with the necessary fundamental information for planning and commencing operations in or with China. (88 
Registrations) 


Council also collaborated with Melbourne East Councils and hosted a Business Breakfast “Discover the Dynamic 
Transitional Economy of Melbourne East” with 160 registrants. An insight to the transitional economy, effects on rapid 
advancements of technology and the changing nature of the workplace.  


Early 2019 the biennial Business Performance Survey was printed in Mandarin. Two-hundred surveys were sent via direct 
mail to Mandarin proprietors and a council officer fluent in Mandarin also distributed the survey face to face to Box Hill 
businesses.  


 


 


WCC 


Investment and 
Economic 
Development 


Australia China 
Business Association 


Whitehorse Business 
Group 


Asian Business 
Association of 
Whitehorse 


5.1.1 


Continue to promote Box Hill as a multi-cultural food destination, increasing value of community diversity WCC 5.1.3 
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Achievements 1 Jan 2018 – 30 Jun 2019 Partners and Lead 


Reference 
to Council 


Plan 
Approach 


Achievements 


The Whitehorse/Box Hill Visitor Guide was released in April 2018. The guide includes maps of Whitehorse and Box Hill with 
details of public transport, places of interest, key services, parks and reserves. Over 800 copies of the printed guide are 
now available from local accommodation providers, tertiary institutions, Council customer service centres, libraries and 
shopping centres. Mandarin and English versions of the map are available online at the websites www.wbiz.com.au and 
www.boxhill.com. 
 
In 2018 councils in the Melbourne East collaborated to produce a video showcasing the benefits of Living, Working and 
Playing in the Melbourne East. The video features Box Hill. 
 
As a result of Council’s ongoing partnership with Destination Melbourne, a blog “A Day Out in Box Hill” was featured in the 
Discover Your Own Back Yard website in March 2018.  
 


In 2019 the Box Hill website (boxhill.com.au) had a compete content review and new design created, ensuring its 
relevance to a range of the visitors to Box Hill – medical, visiting friends and family, students, business travel.  
The new Box Hill Logo incorporates multiple colours representing different elements of Box Hill as a business, education, 
transport, health, food and social hub. 
 


Investment and 
Economic 
Development 


 


Facilitate interest in new farmer’s market/s at additional locations across the municipality to increase people’s access to 
fresh fruit and vegetables and increase social interactions 


Achievements 


A new Community Market was established by Whitehorse Community Chest in Vermont South, running from October 
2018 to April 2019. 
 


WCC 


Community 
Development 


5.1.5 


 



http://www.boxhill.com/
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Introduction – Chief Executive Officer’s Overview 
 
I am pleased to present the Quarterly Performance Report for the first quarter ending 30 September 
2019. 
 
For this first quarter of the 2019/20 financial year we have commenced many activities from all areas of 
Council, including the following key highlights: 
 
 Nunawading Community Hub – Structural steel framing has been complete with excavation works 


underway for services, car parks and landscaping 


 Heritage Week – 15 programs were held across 12-19 September celebrating the progress of health 
programs and change in traditional health care services in Whitehorse over the last 100 years 


 North East Link Advocacy – Council’s position on the project was presented to the independent 
Inquiry and Advisory Committee, appointed to assess the environmental impacts of the project 


 Whitehorse Business Week 2019 – The 19th staging of the annual program provided opportunities 
and networking for the Whitehorse and Melbourne East business community to gain information on 
the latest trends 


 Renault Kangoo Z.E. Maxi Van – aligned with Council’s Sustainability Strategy, this electric vehicle 
was purchased to support the delivery of township cleaning services throughout Whitehorse and 
produces zero tailpipe emissions. 


 
The activities above, as well as many other activities outlined in this report, align directly with the strategic 
directions and goals (strategic objectives) of the Council Plan 2017-21. Of the 29 major initiatives and 
initiatives in the Adopted Budget 2019/20, one is complete, 23 on track, four behind schedule and one 
not yet started (see summary overleaf). 
 
These are some of the activities that improve the municipality and contribute to the community’s vision 
of the City of Whitehorse as a healthy, vibrant, prosperous and sustainable city, supported by strong 
leadership and community partnerships. 
 
Further details about all major initiatives and initiatives, including services provided by Council, can be 
found in Section 2 – Performance against Council Plan 2017-21. 
 
 
 
 
Simon McMillan 
Chief Executive Officer 
 
 
  







 


Performance against Major Initiatives and Initiatives in the Adopted Budget 2019/20 
 


July to September 2019  
 
 


ACTION STATUS ACTION PROGRESS AGAINST TARGETS 


 


 


 
  


29 Actions reported on  


20 At least 90% of action target achieved  


3 Between 70% and 90% of action target achieved 


4 Less than 70% of action target achieved 


2 Not Started 
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Section 2 – Performance against Council Plan 2017-
21 
 
This section provides a quarterly report against major initiatives, initiatives, 
and services, all of which are aligned to the strategic directions of the 
Council Plan 2017-21. 
 
To assist the reader, each strategic direction is colour coded as follows: 
 


1. Support a healthy, vibrant, inclusive and diverse community 
 
2. Maintain and enhance our built environment to ensure a liveable 


and sustainable city 
 
3. Protect and enhance our open spaces and natural environments 
 
4. Strategic leadership and open and accessible government 
 
5. Support a healthy local economy 


 
Each strategic direction section is structured as follows: 
 
 Initiatives – identified in the Annual Plan, which is part of the Adopted 


Budget 2019/20, form a combination of significant projects or actions 
that are once-off in nature and/or lead to improvements in service 
delivery that will directly contribute to the achievement of the Council 
Plan 2017-21 and have a major focus in the budget  
 


 Services – Council delivers more than 100 services to the community 
and this report provides a snapshot of service highlights and challenges 
for the quarter. 


 
For each major initiative and initiative, a ‘traffic light’ system is used to 
indicate trend against planned targets for the current financial year: 
 


🏁🏁 Complete 


 
 


 


Activity or action tracking within planned quarter target 
timeframes for current financial year 


 


Activity or action is at risk of falling behind planned 
quarter target timeframes for current financial year 


 


Activity or action is delayed or has not met planned 
quarter target timeframes for current financial year 


🚧🚧 
Activity or action is deferred or on hold until further notice 
but likely to recommence 


Not started Activity not yet due to commence. 
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Strategic Direction 1: Support a healthy, vibrant, inclusive and diverse community 
 
Annual Plan Major Initiatives and Initiatives Update 
 


Initiative Description  Responsible 
Department 


Current 
Status 


 Progress Comment Progress 
Against 
Target 


Nunawading 
Community Hub 
(multiyear) 


Complete construction of the Nunawading 
Community Hub to provide the community with an 
inviting, highly accessible facility with a range of 
flexible internal and external spaces for active and 
passive activities, catering for a broad range of 
groups and individuals now and into the future. 


Major Projects 
and Buildings 


In Progress Structural steel framing has been complete with other site works 
well underway that include excavation for services, car parks and 
landscaping. Refurbishment of the heritage building is in progress 
with underpinning structural works being designed and costed. 


 


 


 
 


Whitehorse 
Centre 
Redevelopment 


Redevelopment of the Whitehorse Centre to 
upgrade and expand facilities to meet current and 
future community needs for performing arts, 
exhibitions and functions activities. This will 
include an increase in audience capacity and stage 
size, an additional smaller theatre, increase in 
foyer space and improved disability access. 


Major Projects 
and Buildings 


In Progress Evaluations for the appointment of a Building Surveyor have 
concluded with endorsement pending. The project team are seeking 
technical advice on buildability of the multi-storey car park and 
working with architects and quantity surveyor to finalise the concept 
design. 


 


 


Elgar Park 
Masterplan 
Implementation 


Improvements to the Elgar Park southern ovals in 
accordance with the Elgar Park Masterplan 


Parkswide In Progress The tender has been awarded with preliminary preparation work 
commencing on site being the installation of temporary fencing 
around the southern ovals. 


 


 


Strathdon 
House 


Redevelopment of the Strathdon homestead and 
precinct 


Major Projects 
and Buildings 


In Progress Strathdon House restoration concept designs have been completed 
and are currently being reviewed by Quantity Surveyor for costing 
prior to project control group approval and commencement of the 
design development phase. 


 


 


Aqualink 
Nunawading 
Redevelopment 
Business Case 


Commence a review and preparation of concept 
plans and a Business Case considering the potential 
for future redevelopment of Aqualink Nunawading 


Leisure and 
Recreation 


Not started Review not due to commence until January 2020.  
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Quarterly Service Highlights 
 


Service Description Quarterly Service Highlights 


Libraries  Represents Council’s contribution 
to the Whitehorse Manningham 
Regional Library Corporation 
which provides public library 
services at four locations within 
the municipality. 


An event to officially mark the renaming of a meeting room at Box Hill Library to the Bert Lewis Room was held on 4 September. 
In attendance were the Chair of the Library Board, Cr Tina Liu and fellow Councillors; Cr Prue Cutts, Cr Sharon Ellis, Cr Denise 
Massoud and Cr Raylene Carr along with members of Bert Lewis’ family and Box Hill Historical Society. The renaming pays tribute 
to significant contribution made by Bert Lewis to local library services.  
WML’s volunteers were recognised at a morning tea held in September 2019 at Nunawading Library. It was a fantastic 
opportunity to thank all of our volunteers who help us to deliver programs throughout the region.  
Friends of Nunawading Library annual literary morning tea was held at Nunawading Library with author Lucy Treloar. 


Community 
Development 


Focuses on the development and 
implementation of policies and 
strategies, and programs and 
initiatives to respond to 
community wellbeing needs. It 
also provides community grants 
to local not-for-profit groups and 
organisations and offers support 
with community festivals. 


The Whitehorse Seniors Festival 2019 was launched 18 September with a morning tea and musical entertainment resulting in 
tickets provided to 160 residents. Additional community groups were invited to become hosts this year and has expanded the 
program variety. The Program consists of 81 events over 8 category types. Eighteen community organisations are hosting events 
in addition to various Council departments. The festival launch was held event on September 18th. Musical entertainment and 
high tea provided. Sold out event with tickets provided to 160 residents. 
The Commissioner for Senior Victorians Gerard Mansour sought to hear the community’s ideas about quality of life as we age 
asking, What does it mean to age well in Victoria? Community Consultation was held for the Eastern Metropolitan Region with 
Whitehorse represented by Whitehorse Activities Group, Whitehorse DAC, Nuna U3A, Box Hill U3A, Mitcham Senior Citizens club, 
seven WHACS clients, Italian Club of Nunawading, Vice President Melbourne Chinese U3A Melbourne Korean Senior Citizens 
Community 
Staff attended Dementia Inspiring Change Forum to support a ‘Forest Hill Dementia Friendly Community’ community member 
speak about the project and coordinate filming for a project promotion video. 
Intergenerational Grants were offered to Whitehorse childcare, early learning, kindergartens, primary and secondary schools. 
Projects will be implemented over the next 12 month.  
We saw 13 culturally and linguistically diverse (CALD) seniors groups participate in the Seniors Cultural Meals Subsidy program 
and received a meals subsidy. 
 
Council continues its contribution in the prevention of elder abuse through participation in the Eastern Elder Abuse Network 
meetings and the Prevention of Elder Abuse Project (OPERA). 
There were 97 community members representing faith groups and community organisations at the Inner East Faith Communities 
Unite for Safety and Respect “Call to Action” forum 24 July at Box Hill Town Hall.   
Whitehorse Reconciliation Advisory Committee met to discuss Council's Acknowledgement of Country on its documents and at 
meetings with recommendations to be developed.  
As part of the Prevention of Family Violence initiative and TFER (Together for Respect & Equality) Regional initiative, work is 
underway to develop a draft Whitehorse Family Violence Prevention Action Plan. 
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Service Description Quarterly Service Highlights 
A submission was prepared by the Eastern Affordable Housing Alliance to the Ministerial Advisory Committee on Planning 
Mechanisms for Affordable Housing, detailing the scale and distribution of social and affordable housing need in the Eastern 
Metropolitan Region and the supply of affordable housing likely to be realised through the planning system under the current 
policy settings.  The submission talks about the key affordable housing policy positions of member councils and the number of 
successfully negotiated voluntary agreements (S173 agreements) and the number of affordable dwellings either proposed, 
approved or built. 
 
There have been 4 public consultation projects in the July - September Quarter via the Your Say Whitehorse portal.  The 
Floodlighting Policy Consultation received 243 responses, while the Domestic Animal Management Survey received 141 
responses and the Amendment C219 Permanent Tree Protection Controls Survey received 143 submissions.  The first phase of 
the Box Hill Integrated Transport Strategy Consultation also received 20 pinned comments, 28 ideas and 16 votes. 


Arts and 
Cultural 
Services 


Provides a diverse and ongoing 
program of arts, cultural and 
heritage events as well as access 
to the Whitehorse Art Collection, 
meeting room hire and function 
services. 


Box Hill Community Arts Centre School Holiday Programs continue to attract good enrolments and positive feedback from 
attendees. In recognition of Mental Health Week, Artist in Residence Emma Finch involved with the community to produce work 
that was presented in a well-received exhibition in the Centre’s gallery. A photographic exhibition from local photographer Mark 
Hopper entitled “Only in Box Hill” also attracted many visitors to the Centre.  
 


Heritage Week was a major event series in the heritage calendar delivering 15 programs across 12-19 September. The 2019 
Heritage theme was titled ‘Healthy Heritage’ and celebrated the progress of health programs and changes in traditional health 
care services in Whitehorse over the last 100 years. The success of Heritage Week is made possible through the collaborative 
contributions of local historical societies, library and other agencies.  
 


Box Hill Town Hall hosted a number of events including the annual Uniting Church conference, Whitehorse Business Week 
events, Oxfam Concerts as well as a number of Citizenship ceremonies, and the regular Photographic and Collectable markets 
Festival Program for 2019/20 was released and includes the Spring Festival theme of STEM (Science, Tech, Engineering and 
Maths), Marina Prior, David Hobson and Michael Cormick headlining Whitehorse Carols, and Chocolate Starfish leading the 
Australia Day Concert. Global Fiesta is back at the Box Hill Gardens in March, and Swing Pop Boom will see the outdoor cinema 
move to Livingstone Primary School in Vermont South, the Box Hill Town Hall will host songs from key women of the 60’s, and 
Shake at the Lake will feature jazz, soul and rock ’n’ roll at Blackburn Lake Sanctuary.  
Whitehorse Artspace (Art Collection & Programs) Whitehorse Artspace hosted two touring exhibitions this quarter. Be Persuaded 
– Jane Austen was well attended with 1,000 visitors. The following exhibition was Hearts and Minds – Wartime Propaganda and 
had good group visitation from Town Hall Tours.  
Whitehorse Centre The 2019 Main Season and Midweek Matinee Season maintained high patron numbers this quarter including 
sold out performances of The Sapphires and Melbourne Chamber Orchestra’s Flute and Harp. Attendances were also strong for 
community theatre hire clients including three multicultural groups and three primary schools, with positive feedback from all 
regarding the level of service offered by the Centre.  
Strathdon House A heritage assessment of the Strathdon Collection has been undertaken and a digital archive created of the 
Collection. The grafts of the existing apple trees have taken and will continue to grow in order to rejuvenate the Orchard in the 
coming years.  







5 
Quarterly Performance Report for the quarter ended 30 September 2019 


 HP Records Manager – Record Number: 19/248848 (19/264338 PDF) 


Service Description Quarterly Service Highlights 


Leisure 
Facilities  


Provides a range of leisure 
facilities including Morack Golf 
Course, Aqualink Box Hill and 
Aqualink Nunawading, Sportlink 
and Nunawading Community 
Centre. 


An Aqualink membership promotion ran from the 1st to the 8th August bringing 128 new members to Aqualink.  This promotion 
was primarily on line with Facebook and Google advertising complimented with posters displayed in the Centre’s. 
Aqualink Nunawading Gym received new treadmills and completed an upgrade in flooring in the free weights area.  This provided 
an opportunity to change the layout of the area providing more space for users to undertake functional training. 
Aqualink Box Hill stadium hosted a number of groups in the July School holidays with 5 externally run School Holiday programs. 
Netfit, Toptenn Tennis Academy, Tomorrow Star’s Basketball, Team Kids and No Limits Basketball all held camps, ranging from 
half day programs to full day camps running for the duration of the holiday period. Netfit was particularly successful in July 
recording its largest attendance to date with 121 children and 22 staff involved in the one day program. This assisted off peak 
court usage which increased from 34.87% in June to 49.09% in July. 
The tender for Morack Golf Course improvement works was advertised. A contractor is to be appointed with works anticipated to 
commence by beginning of November 2019. 


Active 
Communities 


Manages community sport and 
recreation operations, use and 
development including the 
utilisation of sporting grounds 
and pavilions and provides 
support to community groups 
including club development 
opportunities. 


The annual Parkland Community Forum was held at the Whitehorse Centre on 9 July. The purpose of the Forum is to provide the 
opportunity for Parkland Advisory Committees and other park related volunteer groups to come together to acknowledge the 
support they provide for Council's parks and reserves. Approximately 80 people attended and feedback from the volunteers 
indicated that the forum was worthwhile and well received. This initiative was delivered in partnership with ParksWide. 
Initial community consultation was undertaken to inform the development of a Floodlighting Policy – Outdoor Sports and 
Recreation. This policy will govern all aspects of floodlighting for outdoor sports and recreation, including night competition. 
Opportunities to contribute feedback through online surveys and other submissions was provided to key stakeholders including 
sporting clubs, regional associations, the Whitehorse Sport and Recreation Network (WSRN), local residents living in close 
proximity to existing floodlit sports fields and the broader community.  Over 200 submissions were received and the development 
of the Policy utilising this feedback is in progress. 
The Sporting Facilities Guide – Seasonal and Casual Users (SFG) provides the operational framework for the use and development 
of Council’s sports fields and pavilions over both the summer and winter seasons. An extensive review of the SFG was undertaken 
which included proposed changes. The revised SFG was released for community comment and a consultation process 
undertaken. Feedback was considered and the document was endorsed by Council in July 2019.  
Seasonal Allocations of Council's sports fields and pavilions for the 2019/20 Summer Season were finalised involving 30 sporting 
clubs, 52 sports fields and 29 pavilions. 


Recreation 
and Open 
Space 
Development 


Provides planning and strategy 
development for open space and 
recreation facilities and 
infrastructure 


Reconstruction of the Mont Albert Reserve Basketball and Netball courts were completed including minor landscaping 
enhancement, sports ground lights at East Burwood Reserve were upgraded to bring the facility in line with current Australian 
standards and Morton Park Car Park was upgraded with a new asphalt surface and line-marking. 


Sports Fields Responsible for the design, 
installation, maintenance and 
renewal of sports field 
infrastructure and project 


We completed the installation of a new cricket pitch at Mahoney's reserve, new synthetic at Mirrabooka, Surrey Park & 
Springfield reserve gates, under rail fencing completed at Surrey park & Koonung East and purchase of 2 new wicket water 
soakers. 







6 
Quarterly Performance Report for the quarter ended 30 September 2019 


 HP Records Manager – Record Number: 19/248848 (19/264338 PDF) 


Service Description Quarterly Service Highlights 
management of sports field 
capital projects. 


Coaches boxes have been installed at Forest Hill Reserve with rectification works on surrounding path and boundary fence to be 
completed by the end of October 2019. 


Home and 
Community 
Services  


Provides home delivered and 
community-based meals, 
personal and respite care, 
transport, domestic and home 
maintenance, planned activities 
and social support 


The following service outputs were achieved: 
Regional Assessment Service (RAS) 1,820 assessments (2,998 hours) 
Occupational Therapy 480  hours 
Domestic Assistance 18,872 hours 
Personal Care 5,452 hours 
Respite Care    890  hours 
Home Modifications & Home Maintenance 1,474  hours 
Food Services 13,272 meals 
Assistance with food preparation 670  hours 
Social Support Groups 7,522 hours 
Assisted Transport 1,101   hours 
Transport (community) 3,372 trips         
Escorted Activities (e.g shopping etc) 3,133 hours 


  


• Over 120 Support Workers  who provide care and independence support to our older adult residents participated in training 
on supporting Forgotten Australians, the estimated 500,000 children and child migrants who experienced care in Australian 
institutions  


• In collaboration with Eastern Region Local Government Aged and Disability Manager and Municipal Association of Victoria 
advocated to the Federal Government retaining benefits of the Victorian strength-based aged care assessment practices 
focusing on the capacity building, community links and local knowledge in system navigation 


• In collaboration with Eastern Region Local Government Aged and Disability Services planned and conducted a “Dementia-
Inspiring Change” forum with over 120 attendees form Eastern Region local governments, community and health 
organisations. The forum facilitated enhanced knowledge and understanding of the dementia from a Human Rights 
prospective and challenged attitudes and care delivery strategies  within person-centred model of service delivery 


• 66 clients of the Active Living Programs were supported to attend the Social Support Program Function in September 2019 
that provided an opportunity for social connections over a nutritious lunch and entertainment  


• Continued Intergenerational Partnership Projects between Mountainview Cottage, Star Fish Child Care Centre and St Phillip’s 
Primary school. Participants shared craft skills, as well as created their life story books with children. Participants were also 
able to visit St Phillip’s school and share stories of the school in the olden days.  


• Health Week conducted with the focus on good nutrition, importance of exercise and falls prevention strategies. 
Presentations facilitated by the WHACS Occupational Therapist with 62 participants attending. Positive feedback received 
form the participants indicating that the information will enhance their independent management skills  


• Successful tender of the food services resulted in appointment of the Ranahans provider for the next three years.  Meals 
recipients had an opportunity to meet with representatives from Ranahans, voice their suggestions, ask questions and get an 
insight on the process of meals production.  
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Service Description Quarterly Service Highlights 
• Food Services Volunteers were  provided with training on Privacy and Confidentiality  Improving  their awareness of 


responsibilities relating to clients and staff  and to ensure compliance with privacy obligations 
Family 
Services  


Provides centre-based childcare 
at Whitehorse Early Learning 
Services (WELS), integrated 
kindergarten, inclusion support, 
maternal and child health and 
youth support services. 


Maternal and Child Health received 427 Birth notices for the quarter, which is a slight increase on the same time last year 
resulting in 4500 consultations offered by the service, providing support to 2800 families. Participation rates continue to be above 
95% for most Key Ages and Stages (KAS) visits, with the 2 year old rate at 91% and the 3.5 year old rate at 84%  
Early Childhood Services is seeing utilisation currently hovering between 89-90% with good attendance rates for the four year old 
2019 WELS kindergarten program seeing 82 funded children across the four centres.  
Youth Services can report that the State Government has confirmed the continuation of the School Focussed Youth Service (SFYS) 
for a further year (to the end of 2020). This allows Whitehorse SFYS to continue supporting students at risk at disengaging from 
education. The Whitehorse Youth Representative Committee (WYRC) initiative for a support (therapy) dog to be present at Youth 
Connexions on a monthly basis has been realised. There is clear evidence of the benefits of the therapy dog on a person’s 
wellbeing. The Whitehorse Youth Representative Committee facilitated their annual Youth Forum at the Box Hill Town hall 
addressing the issues of body image, career pathways, community safety, relationships /domestic violence prevention, mental 
health and healthy lifestyle choices.  
Community Programs has seen playgroup sessions up and running again with the appointment of a Supported Playgroup 
Facilitator. Three successful Parenting Information Forums were delivered and we now have 1069 registered users of FlexiBuzz 
software application. 


Environmental 
Health 


Provides health education and 
protection services such as 
immunisations, food safety 
management, communicable 
disease surveillance, tobacco 
control and environmental 
protection. 


This quarter saw a total of 2338 vaccinations administered to 1071 children as part of Council’s public childhood immunisation 
program and 1361 vaccinations administered as part of Council’s school immunisation program. 
As per Council's statutory requirements under the Food Act and Public Health & Wellbeing Act we undertook 421 Mandatory 
Assessments/Inspections, 44 Complaint Inspections, 77 Routine Inspections, 83 Non Compliance/Follow Up inspections and 
issued 14 Formal Orders/Notices which includes Planning Infringement Notices (PINs) and Seizures.•  
We met targets under MAV Service Agreement for Tobacco control activities including education visits, responding to complaints 
and conducting test purchases for cigarette sales to minors. 


Compliance This service delivers regulatory 
functions including: domestic 
animal management, school 
crossing supervision, Council’s 
local law framework and 
managing parking controls across 
the municipality. 


Approximately 73% of animals collected have been reunited with their owners and additional 14% animals being adopted.  
Successful parking patrols around schools have created more awareness and changed driver behaviour reducing the number of 
infringements being issued around schools during school times. 
New parking meters in place since April last year providing additional payment methods including pay be phone and expanding 
credit card options to the fleet providing easy and secure payment options which in turn will encourage better compliance. 47% 
of all payments are now electronic with the trend increasing  
The new Residential Parking Permit 'Pay and Apply' online service has had great response from residents. Residents now have 
24/7 access to this service and a secure payment option. The framework and learnings would help in introducing more permits 
types online. 
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Strategic Direction 2: Maintain and enhance our built environment to ensure a liveable and sustainable city 


Annual Plan Major Initiatives and Initiatives Update 
 


Initiative Description  Responsible 
Department 


Current 
Status 


 Progress Comment Progress 
Against 
Target 


Pavilion 
Redevelopments 


Redevelopment of the Elgar Park South 
Pavilion, Morton Park Reserve Pavilion, 
Walker Park Reserve Pavilion, Terrara Park 
Pavilion and to commence development 


Major Projects 
and Buildings  


In 
Progress 


 


Terrara Park 
Design development completed and preliminary documentation being reviewed 
for sign off and costing 


 


 


   In 
Progress 


Elgar Park South 
A permit for demolition has been approved and execution of contracts 
underway. Services to the pavilion have been decommissioned with the site 
being prepared for demolition. 


 
 


   In 
Progress 


Sparks Reserve West 
Site investigations have been complete. Council Planning, Cultural Heritage 
Advice, Vic Roads and Melbourne Water Pre-Planning advice requested. An 
architect has provided concept plans to progress discussions through ongoing 
fortnightly consultation with the club to scope end user requirements. 


 
 


   Behind 
Schedule 


Morton Park 
Commencement of project delayed due to difficulties sourcing temporary 
facilities and additional requirements by Building Surveyor to ensure compliance 
with the Disability Discrimination Act of those temporary facilities. Demolition of 
existing Pavilion delayed until alternate facilities were ready for occupation. Site 
has been set up for demolition with works to commence early October. 


 
 


   Behind 
Schedule 


Walker Park 
Commencement of project delayed due to difficulties sourcing temporary 
facilities and additional requirements by Building Surveyor to ensure compliance 
with the Disability Discrimination Act of those temporary facilities. Demolition of 
existing Pavilion delayed until alternate facilities were ready for occupation. 
Footing and concrete works are complete, with structural steel partially 
constructed. Cladding has been fabricated but not yet ready for installation 
onsite. 


 
 







9 
Quarterly Performance Report for the quarter ended 30 September 2019 


 HP Records Manager – Record Number: 19/248848 (19/264338 PDF) 


Initiative Description  Responsible 
Department 


Current 
Status 


 Progress Comment Progress 
Against 
Target 


Morack Golf 
Course 


Commence development for Morack Golf 
Course Pavilion, Driving Range and Mini 
Golf Facility Construction 


Major Projects 
and Buildings 


In 
Progress 


Preliminary concept plans have been developed with discussions still underway 
to determine the areas, physical requirements and relationships of all the 
required building spaces and components and the total project budget. 
 


 
 


Sustainability 
Strategy – Energy 
Performance 
Contract 


Implementation of an Energy 
Performance Contract to deliver a 
comprehensive suite of energy 
conservation measures across six Council 
sites in the aim of achieving carbon 
neutrality. 


Engineering 
and 
Environmental 
Services 


In 
Progress 


A project manager was recruited with contract details finalised and signed. A 
meeting between energy contractor and key stakeholders and saw Council sign a 
$2M Energy Performance Contract (EPC) to install energy-efficient measures in 8 
Council buildings over the next 2 years. These measures such as more efficient 
heating and cooling systems, solar panels, energy-efficient lighting and smart 
technology controls will ensure each of the buildings is more energy-efficient, 
reducing energy bills and greenhouse gas emissions. The contract arrangement 
is such that the savings are guaranteed by the contractor and this project makes 
a material contribution towards Council's emission reduction targets and goal to 
be carbon neutral by 2022. Preparation for the design and specification of these 
measures has commenced. 


 


North East Link 
Advocacy 


Council intends to strongly advocate for 
improved outcomes for the Whitehorse 
community resulting from the North East 
Link project 


Engineering 
and 
Environmental 
Services 


In 
Progress 


We continued strong advocacy to the State Government for improved 
community outcomes relating to the North East Link project.  Council’s position 
on the project was presented to the independent Inquiry and Advisory 
Committee, appointed to assess the environmental impacts of the project.  
Concerns about transport, ecology, open space and community amenity were 
raised at the hearing along with recommendations for improved community 
outcomes. Council is represented on a number of technical and community 
committees and involved in publishing information in print, web and social 
media. 


 


 


Transport 
Strategy for Box 
Hill Metropolitan 
Activity Centre 
(MAC) 


Development of an integrated transport 
strategy for the Box Hill MAC and 
surrounds to address current and future 
transport and traffic issues. 


Engineering 
and 
Environmental 
Services 


In 
Progress 


AECOM was appointed to lead the development of the Box Hill Integrated 
Transport Strategy. We have completed a Place Score engagement that looked 
at community values about place, including 481 responses collected by face-to-
face surveying. 
Council undertook two ‘Issues and Opportunities’ workshops with key 
stakeholders, one round of community consultation using the Our Say Platform 
and a ‘Movement and Place’ workshop with VicRoads/Department of Transport 
representatives. 
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Initiative Description  Responsible 
Department 


Current 
Status 


 Progress Comment Progress 
Against 
Target 


Flood Modelling Modelling of the drainage network in the 
municipality in collaboration with 
Melbourne Water, implementing an 
action from the Asset Management 
Strategy 2017-2021. 


Engineering 
and 
Environmental 
Services 


In 
Progress 


Council commenced its joint project with Melbourne Water for the update of 
Melbourne Water flood mapping information and Flood Risk Assessment, as well 
as flood mapping of the Council drainage networks. The catchments to be flood 
mapped were determined as the Blackburn South Drain, Fulton Road Drain and 
Vermont Project Area. The study is compliant with ARR2016 and is conducted in 
collaboration with both Melbourne Water and Council. 
 
Melbourne Water prepared the relevant specification and invited proposals 
from the Floodplain Management subpanel of the Technical Service Panel to 
undertake the flood mapping project.  The evaluation process is currently in 
progress and a preferred consultant is expected to be announced in October 
2019. Council’s representatives have been in discussion with Melbourne Water 
about the project requirements and timeframes for the project delivery.  Further 
discussions are proposed upon appointment of the consultant in October 2019. 
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Quarterly Service Highlights 
 


Service Description Quarterly Service Highlights 


Planning Provides statutory and strategic land use 
planning functions, ensuring 
compliance of land use and developments 
under the Whitehorse Planning 
Scheme. 


Statutory  
Council has seen an increase in the total number of applications received since previous quarter. We have seen 461 
applications lodged (both amendments and new applications), which is an 11% increase. This is significantly more 
than the metropolitan average of 257 applications. Of these, 173 have been VicSmart applications which continues 
to demonstrate the volume of this application type, and the continuing trend of Whitehorse receiving significantly 
more VicSmart apps than the metro average of 60. 
The large number of amendments also continues the trend of many permit holders seeking to make changes to 
existing permits to enable these permits to reflect changing market demand.  
Of the applications determined, 49% have been made within 60 days, and whilst this is less than the metro average 
of 61%, it is greatly increased from the last quarter which reflected 38% of decisions being made within time. 
Strategic 
- Exhibition of amendment for permanent tree protection controls across the municipality (Significant Landscape 
Overlay, Schedule 9) following further work and liaison with State government. 
- Exhibition of Student Accommodation policy update (Amendment C213); no submissions received 
- Completion of Analysis and Options Report as part of the Box Hill Metropolitan Activity Centre Structure Plan 
Update and release of the report for community consultation. 
- Council decided to release the Tally Ho Review of the Commercial 1 Zone report for consultation. 


Building Services Provides the administration, education and 
enforcement of public safety, provision of a 
community-focused building permit service, 
maintenance of registers and records as 
required by the Building Act 1993. 


Preparation is underway for proposed changes to new swimming pool and spa safety barrier legislation and the 
impacts it will have on Council and our community. 


Engineering 
Services 


Provides strategic traffic and sustainable 
transport planning and traffic investigations 
and reports; capital works project scoping, 
design and construction supervision; civil 
asset protection; and the strategic 
management of 
Council roads and drainage assets. 


Design and Construction 
Completed Morton Park Sealed Car Park Upgrade, Mont Albert Reserve Court Reconstruction, Grace Street Road 
Reconstruction works and commenced the drainage rehabilitation program. Awarded detail survey designs for play 
space upgrade projects including a tender for Vermont Recreation Reserve. Finalised detailed sports field lighting 
design for Springfield Park (West Oval), Walker Park and Morton Park (West and East) Oval. 
Engineering Assets 
Financial modelling completed for Stormwater Drainage Asset Management Plan and also road pavement required 
for Roads Asset Management Plan. Financial modelling commenced for footpaths, kerb and channel, off-road paths 
and carparks required for completion of the Roads Asset Management Plan. 
There has been an increase in the number of construction management plan (CMP) applications relating to major 
developments across Whitehorse. 
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Service Description Quarterly Service Highlights 
Inspections and assessments are underway for the historic Asset Protection Permits, Consent for Works in the road 
reserve and drainage easements and assets. 
Transport 
Speed observation trailers were placed in 78 locations across Whitehorse reminding motorists to slow down, be 
aware of other road users and advertising events including Tree day and Schwerkolt Heritage Family Day. 
The Manningham Whitehorse, TAC L2P Learner Driver Mentor program received a further four years funding 
(2019-2023) from VicRoads with 10 places for eligible learner drivers in Whitehorse.  The new agreement allows for 
Council to apply for additional places and funding annually. This program is run by Manningham City Council on our 
behalf. An agreement between Whitehorse and Manningham has been drafted and will be signed off in the coming 
months. 


City Works Provides for the ongoing cleanliness and 
maintenance of Council’s roads, footpaths, 
kerb and channel, stormwater drainage pits 
and pipes, roadside furniture, bridges, path 
structures and shopping centres within the 
municipality including street sweeping, litter 
bin collection, removal of dumped rubbish 
and the provision of an after-hours 
emergency response service. 


City Works continued to provide services for the inspection, maintenance, repair and cleansing of Council’s civil 
infrastructure assets, including roads, pathways, drainage and townships. A project was awarded to undertake 
major refurbishment works on the bridge across Dandenong Creek, near Abbey Walk, Vermont. The construction 
works will commence in October 2019. 


Fleet and 
Workshop 


Manages Council's fleet of vehicles, plant 
and equipment items including the 
operation of a workshop and overall 
management of the functions of the 
Operations Centre. 


A number of passenger vehicles and commercial vehicles have been ordered and deliveries have commence. A fully 
electric van was purchased and delivered. The van will be used for township cleaning services throughout the 
municipality. The range of 220 kilometres is suited to an urban environment and operational needs. The project is 
part of Council’s overall Sustainability Strategy, which involves a range of initiatives in reducing Council’s carbon 
footprint and introducing more sustainable vehicle options. 


Major Projects 
and Buildings 


Responsible for the project management of 
capital building projects and the facilitation 
of major projects. 


Activities detailed in Initiative sections of Strategic Directions 1 and 2 of this quarterly performance report. 


Assets and 
Capital Works 


Responsible for the development, 
monitoring and performance reporting of 
Council's Capital Works Program, and the 
planning and implementation of asset 
management improvement initiatives 
across the organisation including Council's 
Asset Management System. 


The Open Space Asset Management Plan was completed and pre-planning activities for Phase 3 of the Asset 
Management Mobility Project are underway. 
 
The 2019/20 Capital Works Program includes 187 projects and programs to be delivered over the financial year 
with an adopted budget of $71.9m. Majority of activities are detailed in Section 4 - Capital Works Report of this 
quarterly performance report. 


Public Street 
Lighting 


Provides street lighting throughout 
Whitehorse. 


Some additional lights and shields installed. Community consultations have been undertaken for additional lighting 
opportunities. 
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Service Description Quarterly Service Highlights 


Facilities 
Maintenance 


Provides reactive and preventative 
maintenance and minor capital renewal of 
Council's many buildings and structures. It 
also includes scheduled inspections and 
maintenance to satisfy Building Code 
Essential Safety Measures Regulations. 


Installation of replacement CCTV cameras were undertaken at the Box Hill Gardens, Box Hill Mall, Mitcham Mall 
and Box Hill Community Arts Centre.  
Building renewal works were completed to East Burwood South Pavilion, Mitcham Family Centre and Haliday Park 
Public Toilets/ Community centre
. 
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Strategic Direction 3: Protect and enhance our open spaces and natural environments 
 
Annual Plan Major Initiatives and Initiatives Update 
 


Initiative Description  Responsible 
Department 


Current 
Status 


 Progress Comment Progress 
Against 
Target 


Implement 
Municipal Wide 
Tree Study 
Recommendati
ons 


Implementation of Municipal Wide Tree Study 
recommendations. This includes an additional $0.06 
million for expert witness and legal costs for an 
independent planning panel to consider an amendment 
to the Whitehorse Planning Scheme to implement an 
extension to the Significant Landscape Overlay to all 
residential zoned land in the municipality. 


Planning and 
Building 


In Progress Amendment C219 to apply the Significant Landscape Overlay, 
Schedule 9 was exhibited from 18 July to 19 August 2019.  The 
307 submissions received were considered by Council on 16 
September 2019 and together with the amendment, have been 
referred to an independent Planning Panel. 


 


 


 
 


Play Space 
Renewal 
Program 


Renewal and upgrade to various play spaces across the 
municipality 
 


Engineering 
and 
Environmental 
Services 


In Progress Surveys have been awarded. Vermont Recreation Reserve has 
been awarded and reviewing quotation submissions for ten (10) 
other play space upgrades. 


 


 


Review of 
Potential Waste 
Services Charge 


Preparation for the potential introduction of a waste 
services charge that allows for the cost of all kerbside 
waste and recycling services to be covered by waste 
charges levied to those properties that use Council’s 
kerbside waste and recycling services. Implementation 
will be subject to Council decision and any changes will be 
in full compliance with a review by the Essential Services 
Commission and will not result in any net increase in 
rates. 


Engineering 
and 
Environmental 
Services 


In Progress Preliminary database gap identification has been completed with 
analysis undertaken to better identify total number of bins on 
properties, bin combinations and land uses. 
 


 
 


eWaste 
Collection 


Establishment of e-waste collection infrastructure at the 
Whitehorse Recycling and Waste Centre 


City Works Behind 
Schedule 


Commencement of project delayed due to staff resourcing 
pressures. A building contractor has been appointed with 
preliminary meetings completed. Structural steel shop drawings 
have commenced. 


 
 


Significant Tree 
Assistance Fund 


To establish a significant tree assistance fund and 
guidelines for providing grants to property owners to 
assist with maintenance costs associated with trees on 
the significant tree register. 


Planning and 
Building 


In Progress Background research has been undertaken including review of 
other Council's programs. 
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Quarterly Service Highlights 
 


Service Description Quarterly Service Highlights 


Sustainability, Waste 
and Recycling 


Facilitates planning for energy and water reduction 
programs and waste management strategic 
planning. This service also includes contracts for 
waste collection including domestic garbage 
collection, kerbside recycling, and hard and green 
waste collection. 


Completed 751,848 kerbside garbage bin collections, resulting in 6566 tonnes of garbage being taken 
to landfill.  
Completed 513,353 kerbside recycling bin collections, resulting in 3614 tonnes of recyclables being 
processed for recycling.  
Completed 138,859 kerbside garden organics bin collections, resulting in 2930 tonnes of garden 
organics being processed for compost.  
Collected 7,247 hard waste bookings from across the City, resulting in a total of 1067 tonnes of hard 
waste.  
Council resolved to participate in a Local Government Power Purchase Agreement project to buy up to 
67% of its electricity from renewable energy sources from July 2020 onwards. The project is a 
collaborative arrangement with 46 Councils across Victoria, and is expected to result in financial 
savings and environmental benefits through reduced greenhouse emissions.  
Council resolved to participate in a multi-Council procurement project for a new landfill contract post 
2021, when the current landfill contract expires. This will ensure that the waste from Council's 
Whitehorse Recycling and Waste Centre and kerbside garbage collection service can be disposed of for 
the interim period until more advanced technology forms of processing waste become available in 
metropolitan Melbourne.  
Council hosted 3 information sessions for 276 residents interested in installing solar panels and 
accessing the new state government rebates. The sessions were presented by Positive Charge, who 
provide advice and assistance to residents about all aspects of household energy efficiency.  
Council participated in and encouraged the community to participate in 'Plastic-Free July' campaign.  
Council, in partnership with Manningham City Council, presented three community workshops as part 
of the Smarter Living program. Around 400 people attended the three events, which included an 
engaging talk ‘The Story of OzHarvest’ focusing on reducing food waste nationally by OzHarvest 
founder Ronni Kahn, a practical and inspiring talk on reducing your carbon footprint by the founder 
and CEO of 1 Million Women, Natalie Isaacs, and in September a family-focused interactive evening 
‘Family Recycling Roadshow’ for children to learn about all things recycling in a fun-filled way 


Whitehorse Recycling 
and Waste Centre 


Responsible for recycling and disposal of general or 
bulky nonhazardous waste, encouraging recycling 
and the reduction of waste transported to landfill. 


The Whitehorse Recycling and Waste Centre performed 32,766 transactions and received a total of 
14,559 tonnes of material to the site for recycling, reuse and the remainder transferred to landfill. 
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Service Description Quarterly Service Highlights 


Open Space 
Maintenance 


Responsible for the management of Council’s 
bushland, open space and parklands including 
developing plant stock, landscaping, pruning, grass 
cutting and fire management. The service also 
provides an education program on ecological and 
environmental issues largely centred on Blackburn 
Lake Sanctuary. 


Various items of park furniture have been ordered in anticipation for renewal furniture works in 
locations such as Box Hill Gardens. 


Tree Management Manages Council’s street and park trees to meet 
community expectations as well as statutory and 
safety obligations. It includes planning for increasing 
the quantity and quality of trees within Whitehorse 
as well as maintaining the health and amenity of 
existing trees. 


Locations have been identified for future tree planting with stock ordered in readiness for Spring 
planting. 
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Strategic Direction 4: Strategic leadership and open and accessible government 
 
Annual Plan Major Initiatives and Initiatives Update 
 


Initiative Description  Responsible 
Department 


Current 
Status 


 Progress Comment Progress 
Against 
Target 


Digital 
Transformation 
Strategy 


Implement year three of the Digital Strategy 2017 with 
a continued focus on making it easier for residents to 
access information and to transact online. This will be 
achieved through developing new and improved 
Council web sites, new social media sites and making 
more transactions types available to apply and pay 
online. By integrating these with Council internal 
systems it will also improve accuracy and operational 
efficiency. 


Digital and 
Business 
Technology 


In Progress Leveraging the configurations deployed and the accumulated 
project team knowledge gained from the Morack Golf pilot, WBIZ 
and Box Hill sites, early Q1 saw the launch of the corporate 
Whitehorse website and the rollout of new intranet for staff. 
Enabling a vastly improved customer experience comprising 
colourful, clean and intuitive page layouts, coupled with efficient 
search and simple access to an ever expanding suite of ‘Apply and 
Pay Online’ services, the site has already seen multiple performance 
metrics trending in a positive direction.  Helping to make these 
launches possible, internal Content Champions across the 
organisation reviewed and refreshed content.  In the period, work 
also commenced on the remaining satellite sites such as Box Hill 
Town Hall and the Whitehorse Centre.   
Council’s Social Media presence and followers are continuing to 
build both the Social Media Strategy and the Digital Marketing 
Strategy are in progress and will be informed by the results of the 
Customer Panel focus group held in July and the current 
consultation on online preferences and behaviours. 
The first phase, ‘Data Quality Audit’, of the Single View of the 
Customer project continued with Council receiving a comprehensive 
report into the data held within two key corporate databases. 
Working with key departmental data owners, the Digital Team will 
determine the next steps to ensure the completeness, consistency 
and standardisation of data to ultimately facilitate personalised 
online interactions for our customers. 
Online payments for immunisations is now live and work is 
progressing on interactive emails for payment of rates. 


 


 


 
 







19 
Quarterly Performance Report for the quarter ended 30 September 2019 


 HP Records Manager – Record Number: 19/248848 (19/264338 PDF) 


Initiative Description  Responsible 
Department 


Current 
Status 


 Progress Comment Progress 
Against 
Target 


Community 
Vision 2020-
2030 


Review and update the Council Vision to represent the 
community vision for Whitehorse for the next 10 years 


Finance and 
Corporate 
Performance 


In progress A project brief has been prepared for review.  


Continuous 
Improvement 
Program 


Continue to grow the continuous improvement 
program reflecting 34 Improvement Champions and 
2 Black Belts by 2019/20 close. There will be a focus 
on embedding Continuous Improvement into 
Council Plans and Strategies for recording, tracking 
and reporting of realised benefits for our community 
through a new Continuous Improvement Analyst. 


Finance and 
Corporate 
Performance 


In progress A Continuous Improvement Analyst was appointed this quarter in 
addition to two staff commencing training and certification as a 
Black Belt where they will learn Lean Six-Sigma strategies and 
methodologies to support the development of the Whitehorse 
Continuous Improvement Program. 
Continuous Improvement champions are working across 22 projects 
and have completed six while we continue to monitor and track the 
benefits of 23 projects completed in prior years. 


 
 


Implementation 
of requirements 
of the Local 
Government 
Act Review 


Staged implementation in accordance with the State 
Government timeline subject to legislation being 
passed. This includes a three year initiative focused on 
workforce planning. 


Civic 
Services 


Not Started Local Government Act has not yet been adopted.  Proposed 
supporting regulations are not yet available.    


 


IT Strategy 
2020-2023 


Update of Council’s Information Technology Strategy 
for 2020-2023 to improve service delivery. 


Information 
Technology 


In Progress Consulted with procurement regarding appropriate template for 
obtaining vendor interest with an initial conceptual focus, high level 
outcomes and scope of work drafted. 
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Quarterly Service Highlights 
 


Service Service Description Quarterly Service Highlights 


Council Support Manages citizenship ceremonies, legal 
expenses, Council receptions and functions, 
general office expenses, councillor 
development and training and the conduct 
of Council elections. 


Support provided to Councillors. Conduct of Citizenship ceremonies and a community dinner during this quarter, 
registrations for councillor conference and training attendance. 


Civic Services Includes customer service provision at 
Council's three service centres and 
governance services; fostering 
international relations; and cleaning and 
maintaining the municipal offices. 


Support provided for three Ordinary Council meetings and three special Committee of Council meetings. Freedom of 
Information awareness sessions conducted for staff. Consultation undertaken for street and laneway naming. 
Preparation underway for the Mayoral Election 2019, inclusive of Mayoral Induction plan. 


Strategic 
Marketing and 
Communications 


Manages the production of Council 
publications, graphic design, media liaison, 
strategic communications plans and 
produces printed and electronic 
communication for the community, 
Councillors and the organisation. 


New corporate website launched end of July 2019 and a new intranet launched 15 August 2019. 


People and 
Culture 


Provides human resource management 
services including staff recruitment, 
corporate training and development, 
industrial relations and volunteer advisory 
services. 


Successful candidate appointed to 3 year project role. Workforce Plan commenced with Engineering and 
Environmental Services. Continued development of ParksWide Workforce Plan. Implementation of action items 
continued with Information Technology. Implementation of action items continued with Statutory Planning. 


Risk, Health and 
Safety 


Administers Council’s Occupational Health 
and Safety Program, ensures compliance 
with occupational health and safety 
legislation, manages Council’s insurance 
program and implements the risk 
management framework. 


All insurance policies to assist Council mitigate it financial impacts have been placed for the 2019-2020 year. There 
has been a hardening insurance market for Industrial Special Risks (Councils Building Insurance) which has seen an 
increase in insurance premiums. Council has had another reduction in its workers compensation policy resulting in a 
42% better than industry standard due to increased efforts to improve safety and encourage early intervention if an 
injury occurs. 


Finance and 
Corporate 
Performance 


Manages Council's corporate planning and 
reporting, continuous improvement, 
financial management, payroll, and 
procurement, tendering and contract 
administration. 


The Annual Report 2018/19 was sent to the Minister for Local Government on 26 September 2019.  
Procurement has successfully implemented a new Corporate Credit Card Program and Expense Management System.  
The memorandum of audit planning scope document for the upcoming Immunisation Management Review, and 
Local Law Enforcement and Tendering internal audit reports were presented to the Audit Advisory Committee at the 
September 2019 meeting. 
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Service Service Description Quarterly Service Highlights 


Corporate 
Information 


Manages and maintains Council's corporate 
record system and information across the 
organisation. 


Transferred over 14,000 boxes to Council’s offsite storage provider, Grace, as part of the Archives Transfer Project. 
Lodged Private Building Surveyor’s documentation in a timely manner and continued to monitor & maintain the 
Business Functional Classification Scheme in the records management system to ensure it serves its purpose and that 
it does not get out of date or fall into disuse.  


Information 
Technology 


Manages and maintains Council's computer 
systems and networks. 


Successfully recruited a Security and Systems Analyst within the IT team with a focus on cyber security training for 
Council staff Further Improved security and reduced the opportunity for cyber-attacks on Whitehorse City Council IT 
infrastructure and applications by updating perimeter firewall software Continued with end user device lifecycle 
management to maintain fleet robustness and minimise security vulnerabilities Continued to support the 
organisations IT applications support and business requirements. Supported the business with the implementation of 
new systems including Expense Management, Events and Bookings Management, Utilities Billing Management. 


Property  Manages Council properties, conducts 
property valuations, and maintains the 
Geographic Information System.  


Completed statutory process for Council to be the Crown Land Committee of Management for the 18th tee at 
Morack Public Golf Course, extensive work completed on significant sites strategic review, completed leases and 
licences for various Council properties and provided extensive due diligence for multiple Council properties. 


Rates Undertakes rate revenues and Fire Services 
Property Levy collection.  


Issued approximately 74,000 valuation and rate notices for $118.5M in rates with accompanying "Property 
Valuations for Rating Purposes" information flyer and 44,000 invoices for the additional bins. 
Completed supplementary rate valuations generating approximately $478,000 in supplementary rates income and 
completed the Fire Services Property Levy annual reconciliation. 


Box Hill multi-
deck carparks  


Provides multi-level car parking facilities in 
Watts Street and Harrow Street, Box Hill.  


Budget fees for 2019/20 have been adopted for both car parks. 
Harrow Street Car Park commenced trading on 31 July 2019 and officially opened in mid-September. The final 
signage is yet to be installed along the car park’s western wall.  
Watts Street Car Park for quarter one is trading above budget. 


Emergency 
Management 
and Business 
Continuity 


Implements Council's responsibilities as 
detailed in the Emergency Management 
Act 1986, the Municipal Emergency 
Management Plan and Business Continuity 
Policy.  


Review of Municipal Emergency Management Plans underway for the June 2020 audit. Emergency Management 
Community Engagement Plan drafted and now with Strategic Media and Communications for input Review of 
Departmental Recovery Plans underway. Interviews complete. Plan update in progress. 


Digital 
Transformation 


Provides the transition to digital platforms 
across the organisation. 


Activities undertaken as per the Digital Strategy 2017 are detailed in the Initiatives section of Strategic Direction 4 of 
this quarterly performance report. 
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Strategic Direction 5: Support a healthy and local economy 
 
Annual Plan Major Initiatives and Initiatives Update 
 


Initiative Description  Responsible 
Department 


Current 
Status 


 Progress Comment Progress 
Against 
Target 


Review Vision 
of Box Hill 
Metropolitan 
Activity Centre 


Preparation for an independent planning panel for a 
planning scheme amendment to implement the 
outcome of the Box Hill Visioning Project. 


Planning and 
Building 


In Progress Analysis and Options report completed and released for 
consultation from 1 July to 2 August 2019. Council received 221 
submissions which are being reviewed. 


 


 


 
 


Nunawading / 
Megamile West 
and Mitcham 
Structure Plan 
Review 


Progress the Structure Plan review Planning and 
Building  


Behind 
Schedule 


Development of a project brief is underway.  It is expected that 
consultants will be appointed to the project in December 2019 with 
a view to undertaking Phase 1 of the project by June 2020. 


 


 


Review of 
Economic 
Development 
Strategy 


Review and update Council’s Economic Development 
Strategy 


Investment 
and Economic 
Development  


In Progress Review of the content within our existing strategy has commenced. 
Desktop benchmarking exercise of other council Economic 
Development Strategies is underway including direct consultation 
with adjoining municipalities. 


 
 


Place making, 
arts and culture 
strategy 


Encourage space activation and place-making in Box 
Hill and other central activity areas 


Arts and 
Cultural 
Services 


Complete A resource has been recruited with planning underway to identify 
place making activation opportunities around Box Hill and other 
areas. This now forms part of the business as usual approach for 
Arts and Cultural Services while working in collaboration with other 
council services. 


 


🏁🏁
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Quarterly Service Highlights 
 


Service Description Quarterly Service Highlights 


Investment and 
Economic 
Development 


Works in partnership with a range of 
organisations to support a local economic 
environment that attracts investment. 


Continued to provide advice and contribute to various Council and regional advocacy campaigns and initiatives 
for identified priority projects and action. This included Direct Advocacy – Group Advocacy through regional 
partnership groups and interest groups e.g. Eastern Transport Coalition; Media Advocacy; and Project-specific 
Advocacy e.g. advocacy for City of Whitehorse in North East Link Project and early discussion on Suburban Rail 
Loop. 
Burwood Height Shopping Centre  
The business plan was finalised for a special rate renewal following a report to seek endorsement to commence 
the statutory process. 
Box Hill Logo Competition 
The new Box Hill logo was unveiled by the mayor at the Whitehorse Business Week 2019 Official Launch.  The 
competition was won by a local resident/graphic designer. 
Whitehorse Business Week 2019 
The 19th staging of the annual program was refreshed providing networking and opportunities for businesses to 
gain information on the latest trends.  The program included: 


• Whitehorse Business Week Launch and Networking event: 67 attendees 
• China Insights (co-hosted with Australia China Business Council): 65 attendees 
• Main Victoria Conference: 220 attendees 
• Women in Business Lunch: 194 attendees 
• Biz Day  


Digital Solutions Program  
In collaboration with Knox, Manningham, Maroondah, Monash and Yarra Ranges Council’s continued the Digital 
Solutions Program.  A low cost digital advisory services for small to medium businesses that includes workshops, 
monitoring and an information portals and webinars.   12 September: Social Media Marketing  
Interns in Industry – (formerly the Whitehorse Tertiary Skills Program)  
For the first time, the program was run with Knox City Council, with the vision of the program running across the 
Melbourne East Councils by 2021. There are 25 placements with 18 businesses. The program concluded in 
August 2019, with the graduation on the 24 September 2019 
Whitehorse Industrial Precinct - Economic Review 
Funding was secured through the North East link Project to conduct a review of the industrial precincts of 
Whitehorse.  The report will be used by the potentially displaced business in the Bulleen Industrial Precinct to 
identify relocation options within the City of Whitehorse. The final report went to the 15 July council for noting. 
Women on the Go 
Collaborated with Knox, Maroondah and Yarra Ranges Shire Councils to launch the Women on the Go business 
accelerator program.  The program offers a combination of flexible online and in –person delivery with real time 
mentoring support. Program started on 17th September and will run to November 2019. 
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Section 2 – Performance against Customer Service Targets 
 
 
The performance indicators against the Customer Service Targets are measured across the organisation and 
are captured through our 13 contact centres.  Call volumes offered to Council increased when compared to 
the previous quarter, and remained consistent with the same period last year. 
 


Performance Indicator Target Actual Status 


Percentage of calls answered within 20 seconds 80% 88.97% 


 


Percentage of total calls answered 95% 96.03% 


 


Enquiries resolved at first call 70% 67.39% 


 


Records management actions completed within allocated 
timeframes* 
(Records Manager) 


95% 97.04% 


 
 
 
* Although Council’s standard written correspondence response timeframe is seven working days, there are a number of processes 
which require longer response timeframes such as Freedom of Information requests. These timeframes have been built into the 
calculation. 
 
The data is an indicator of system actions performed on correspondence during this time. Not all correspondence generates an action 
while other correspondence generates multiple actions. As some correspondence could require more than one action, actions 
recorded against each department may not reflect the actual amount of correspondence dealt with. Another exception in relation to 
this report is if correspondence goes directly to an officer or no action is attached but the action officer responds to the incoming 
enquiry. 
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Section 3 – Continuous Improvement  
 


Our Continuous Improvement Program aims to provide a consistent customised methodology to support an 
engaged organisational culture of continuous improvement with reportable benefits for our Community. 
 
The Program offers training to staff customised for Whitehorse based on primarily Lean Principles that 
provide a consistent methodology and framework adaptable to the diversity of services Council offers.  
 
The existing 23 Whitehorse improvement champions have an active ongoing commitment to our 
Continuous Improvement Program to identify and improve processes, embed the technology made 
available through the Digital Strategy, increase capacity through hours saved and overall improve the 
customer experience. 
 
This approach increases our capacity to deliver ongoing business improvements embedded within business 
units with reportable benefits to our community. 
 
 


 
 


 


 


 


 


 


 


 


 
 


Customer Experience 


 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
                 Easier/Faster 


 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 


 
 
 
 


      Financial 


 
 
 
  


Continuous Improvement Program 
Summary of Benefits Year to Date 


July – September 2019 
 


2,117 Online Transactions 
812 Proactive Requests 
1,345 Snap/Send/Solve 


 
Registered Users; 


6,924 Email of rates 
1,033 Flexi Buzz 


 


 


 


 
 
 


2,727 
Hours saved 


 
Increased 
capacity 


 
 
 
  
 
 


$248,290 
Dollar benefits 
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Continuous Improvement Projects 
 


Continuous Improvement Projects Status  
Total projects in progress 22 
Projects completed in 2019/20 and reporting benefits 6 
Prior years’ completed projects being monitored with reported benefits 23 


 
 


22 PROJECTS IN PROGRESS FROM 2018/19 


1. Apply and Pay Online (Engineering/Environmental Services)        
2. Performance and Development Plans (PADP)  
3. Accounts Payable process  
4. Refunds Accounts Payable  
5. Merchant Fees – Black Belt Project         
6. Childhood Immunisation Process Review  
7. Construction Permit Process Review  
8. Debt Collection for Rates Arrears  
9. Standardised pre start vehicle plant inspections  
10. Early Childhood Services WELS software program     
11. Asset Protection Process Review  
12. Store Stock Inventory Process Review  
13. Engineering Vehicle Crossing Permits  
14. Programmed Works Process Review  
15. Animal Registrations Online  
16. Attendance Registers Process  
17. Down to Business Publication Process  
18. Graphic Design Process Review  
19. Postage Cost process review  
20. Procurement Vendor Process Review          
21. Intelligent Invoice Processing                    


22. Parking Optimisation – Black Belt Project               


6 COMPLETED PROJECTS 2019/20 – BENEFITS REPORTED 


1. Credit Cards        
2. Annual Client Service Review WHACS  


3.  Snap Send Solve Integration to Pathway - Stage 2   
4. Parking Permits Online  
5. WHACS Consumer Service Intake Process  
6. Online Infringements  


 
 Continuous Improvement Champion Projects 
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7 (4%)


180 (96%)


Projects Completed Projects in Progress


$8.31M


$63.58M


Budget Spent Budget Remaining


Section 4 – Capital Works Report 
 
Capital Projects 
 
The 2019/20 Capital Works Program includes 187 projects and programs to be delivered over the financial 
year with an adopted budget of $71.9m.  
 
Project Status                          Expenditure* 
 
 
 
   
 
  


 
  


 
 


 
*graph does not include continuing expenditure of $7.1M in project allocations from 2018/19 Capital Works Program budget 


 
Program highlights include: 
 


Harrow Street Carpark was completed early in  
the financial year and opened to the public on  
31 July 2019. The multi-level carpark includes 562 car 
parking bays, 12 bicycle racks and 12 motorcycle 
spaces. 
The carpark also includes four electric vehicle charge 
stations accessible to the public. 


 
 


 


 


Aligned with Council’s Sustainability Strategy, an Electric 
Renault Kangoo Maxi van has been purchased which 
produces zero tailpipe emissions. The Renault includes 
key safety features including reversing camera and 
audible reverse sensors. It has a 200 km range, suited to 
urban environments and is equipped with renewable 
solar power energy sources. The van will be used by 
Township cleaning services throughout the municipality. 
 


Elgar Park North and South Ovals are about to get a makeover. 
Both ovals will undergo a full ground renewal which will ensure a safer and better quality playing surface 
for resident clubs (Elgar Park Cricket Club, Box Hill North Football Club) and passive users throughout the 
community. With planning completed, works areready to commence in Q2. 
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Capital Expenditure 
 
As at 30 September, year to date capital expenditure is $8.3m (11.6% of Annual Budget).  


Three building projects have been flagged as being ‘behind schedule’ which has contributed to $5.7m YTD 
Actual vs Budget variance. These three projects are as follows:   


• Nunawading Community Hub Development 


• Whitehorse Centre Redevelopment 


• Walker Park Pavilion Upgrade 


Implementation of projects continues to progress with $27m worth of further expenditure committed for 
2019/20 projects. 


As indicated in the graph below, $23.8m in expenditure is projected for Quarter 2 (October-December), this 
is in addition to the $8.3m YTD expenditure in Quarter 1. 


 
                     


 
 
The blue line indicates the cumulative budgeted expenditure, totalling $71.9m (adopted budget). The 
orange line indicates the revised (forecast) cumulative expenditure which includes carryover funding and 
other adjustments, totalling $79.1m 
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Capital Expenditure by Asset Category 
 
  


YTD  
BUDGET 


000's 


YTD  
ACTUAL      


000's 


YTD 
VARIANCE   


000's    


   ANNUAL 
BUDGET    


000's  


 NEW 
ANNUAL 


FORECAST 
000's  


 Bridges  - 1 (1)   100 100 
 Drainage  321 407 (86)   1,835 1,835 
 Footpaths and Cycleways  260 655 (395)   2,938 2,938 
 Off Street Car Parks  404 270 134   1,484 1,635 
 Parks, Open Space and Streetscapes  567 179 388   5,453 5,453 
 Recreational, Leisure and Community  
Facilities  


524 330 194   3,880 3,987 


 Roads  75 331 (256)   5,057 5,057 
 Waste Management  130 3 127   343 358 
 INFRASTRUCTURE  2,281 2,175 106   21,090 21,362 
 Computers and Telecommunications  227 145 82   1,533 1,563 
 Fixtures, Fittings and Furniture  264 77 187   702 677 
 Plant, Machinery and Equipment  400 614 (214)   3,250 3,295 
 PLANT & EQUIPMENT  891 836 55   5,485 5,535 
 Buildings Improvement  916 759 157   6,686 6,917 
 Buildings  10,176 4,522 5,654   37,508 44,191 
 Land  - 20 (20)   1,130 1,130 
 PROPERTY  11,092 5,301 5,792   45,324 52,238        


 TOTAL  14,264 8,312 5,953   71,899 79,136 
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Section 5 – Financial Report 
 
Executive Summary 
 
The year to date financial result at 30 September was a surplus of $100.89m which was $1.12m favourable 
to budget. This primarily reflects favourable variances in employee costs ($543k), materials and services 
($430k), and the net gain on disposal of assets ($346k).  
 
The first forecast review has been completed and a surplus of $24.06m is now predicted for the year, 
representing a $1.04m decrease from the adopted Budget. This is mainly due to a $1.00 million increase in 
depreciation expenditure resulting from increases in asset values based on the drainage and building 
revaluations that were adopted by Council at 30 June 2019. 
 
Year-to-date Result 
 
As outlined in the Executive Summary above, the year to date result at 30 September reflects a favourable 
variance of $1.12m. The significant variances to budget were: 
 
(1) Rates were $207k lower than budget mainly due to a delay in the completion of a residential tower 


in Box Hill which was anticipated to be included in the July supplementary rates. 
 


(2) Statutory fees and fines were $280k higher than budget primarily reflecting increases in parking 
infringements ($290k) and animal infringements ($45k) due to increases in the number of 
infringements issued and a change in accounting assumptions from 1 July, resulting in the ‘gross up’ 
of income and expenditure. 


 
(3) Grants – operating were $199k favourable to budget largely reflecting an $81k increase in the school 


crossing subsidy for 2019/20 and a $67k increase in funding for Health and Family Services, mainly 
relating to childcare ($39k) and immunisation services ($25k). 


 
(4) Grants – capital were $100k lower than YTD budget reflecting a timing difference on funds expected 


for the Walker Park Pavilion redevelopment. 
 
(5) Contributions - monetary were $142k unfavourable to budget mainly relating to public open space 


contributions, which were $145k lower than YTD budget and $300k lower than at the same time last 
year, due to a slowdown in development activity within the municipality.  


 
(6) Interest income exceeded YTD budget by $111k due to the higher than budgeted cash balance held 


resulting from the better than expected surplus in the prior and current years, and the higher than 
budgeted average interest rate on Council’s current investment portfolio due to investments entered 
into before the recent rate drops. This will reduce throughout the year as investments with 
favourable interest rates mature. 


 
(7) Net gain on disposal of assets were $347k higher than budget mainly due to earlier than anticipated 


vehicle sales ($305k) and right of way land sales ($42k).  
 
(8) Employee costs were $542k favourable to budget mainly relating to the following significant 


variances: 


• salaries were $329k favourable to budget mainly reflecting vacant positions, unfilled new 
initiative positions and a lag in invoices from agencies. This variance is spread across a number 
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of departments, most significantly City Management ($82k), Parkswide ($78k), Finance and 
Corporate Performance ($63k) and Leisure Facilities ($56k), 


• Council’s 2019/20 Workcover premium was $113k lower than budget, and 


• training and development costs were $96k lower than budget, which is mostly considered to be 
a timing difference with training planned for later in the year. 


 
(9) Materials and services were $429k favourable to budget overall and included the following 


significant variances: 


• Digital and Business Technology was $336k favourable to budget mainly due to later than 
anticipated software/hosting and support ($275k) and contracts and services costs ($24k) in IT, 


• Leisure and Recreation Services were $175k lower than budget due to timing differences across 
several accounts including utilities ($35k), materials and supplies ($30k), merchandise ($27k), 
plant/equipment maintenance ($23k) and the investigation into pavilion usage project ($20k), 


• Arts and Cultural Services were $145k favourable to budget due to later than anticipated theatre 
programme expenses for the Whitehorse Centre ($84k) and Festivals ($33k) and Placemaking 
($30k) costs, 


• Compliance was $99k lower than budget mainly reflecting lower than anticipated court referral 
costs for infringements ($44k) and contracts and services expenditure ($37k); partly offset by 


• Engineering and Environmental Services were $208k higher than budget mainly reflecting a 
$380k increase in North East Link costs year to date, partly offset by favourable variances in 
garbage ($48k) and hard and green waste collection ($35k) costs, and public lighting ($38k), and 


• ParksWide was $187k higher than budget mainly reflecting a $125k increase in arbor costs 
reflecting earlier than anticipated specialist tree works ($53k), tree watering ($24k) and other 
contractor costs. 
 


(10) Depreciation was $215k higher than budget due to increases in the value of building and drainage 
assets resulting from the asset revaluations adopted in June 2019. 
 


(11) Other expenses were $234k unfavourable to budget mainly reflecting a $187k increase in bad and 
doubtful debts due to a change in accounting treatment of infringements resulting in a ‘gross up’ of 
income and expenditure, and is offset by additional infringement income as noted above (Note 2). 
Community grants were also $122k more than YTD budget reflecting a timing difference on the 
payment of grants. 


 
Projected Year-end Result 
 
The first forecast review has been completed by all Departments and the projected year-end result for 
2019/20 has decreased by $1.04m. A surplus of $24.06m is now predicted for the year. The major forecast 
changes were as follows: 


 
(12) Statutory fees and fines were $695k higher than budget primarily reflecting an estimated $556k 


increase in parking infringement income due to a change in accounting assumptions from 1 July, 
resulting in the ‘gross up’ of income and expenditure. This is matched by an increase in Other 
Expenditure as noted below. 
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(13) Grants – operating were $274k favourable to budget largely reflecting a $120k increase in funding 
for Home and Community Services, $100k of which relates to Home Care Package subsidies due to 
an increase in the number of clients with packages, and an $81k increase in the school crossing 
subsidy for 2019/20. 


 
(14) Interest income was $250k unfavourable to budget due to lower than expected term deposit rates. 


 
(15) Other income was $430k favourable to budget mainly reflecting increases across several accounts, 


most significantly expected North East Link reimbursements ($165k), swim school fees ($38k), metal 
sales income ($30k) and authority and builders’ reinstatement income ($30k). 
 


(16) Materials and services were $651k unfavourable to budget mainly relating to the following 
significant variances: 


• A $285k increase in legal costs associated with Council’s North East Link advocacy, 


• Home and Community Services increased by $242k mainly due to a $154k increase in Food 
Services costs relating to the new food services contract, and an $80k increase in Home Care 
Package costs to meet increased demand than was budgeted, which is offset by additional 
subsidies, 


• People and Culture increased by $146k due to increases in Council’s public liability ($86k) and 
industrial risk ($60k) insurance premiums for 2019/20, and 


• Property and Rates increased by $95k mainly due to a $105k increase in fees payable for land 
tax objection valuations, which is offset by an increase in fee income, partly offset by  


• a $150k decrease due to the transfer of budgeted funds to the capital works program relating 
to a project at Box Hill City Oval. 


 
(17) Depreciation was $1.00m higher than budget due to increases in the value of building and drainage 


assets resulting from the asset revaluations adopted in June 2019. 
 


(18) Other expenses were $556k unfavourable to budget mainly reflecting a $556k increase in bad and 
doubtful debts due to a change in accounting treatment of infringements resulting in a ‘gross up’ of 
income and expenditure. This increase is offset by additional infringement income as noted above 
(Note 12).  


 
Cash Position 
 
Total cash and investments (including other financial assets) totalled $232.85m at the end of September 
representing a $9.47m decrease since the beginning of the year. This mainly reflects an increase in payments 
to settle invoices including for the delivery of major projects. 
 
Debtors 
 
Council had collected $17.09m or 14.6% of 2019/20 rate debtors as at 30 September 2019. 
 
Other debtors (net of doubtful debt provisions) outstanding at 30 September amounted to $2.02m of 
which $179k has been outstanding for more than 90 days. 
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Income Statement for the period ending 30 September 2019 
 


 
 


Actual Budget Variance


New 
Annual 


Forecast Budget
 Variance
FCT v BUD 


$'000 $'000 $'000 Notes $'000 $'000 $'000 Notes
Income
Rates 119,184          119,391          (207)                 1 120,024     120,024          -              
Statutory fees and fines 2,556               2,276               280                   2 10,047       9,352               695             12
User fees 12,550             12,534             16                     40,878       40,816             62               
Grants - operating 5,297               5,098               199                   3 18,742       18,468             274             13
Grants - capital -                   100                   (100)                 4 1,431         1,431               -              
Contributions - monetary 1,418               1,559               (141)                 5 7,035         7,035               -              
Interest income 1,389               1,279               110                   6 4,257         4,507               (250)           14
Other income 823                   731                   92                     3,656         3,226               430             15
Net gain / (loss) on disposal of assets 474                   128                   346                   7 155             120                   35               
Total income 143,691          143,096          595                   206,225     204,979          1,246         


Expenditure
Employee costs 18,986             19,529             543                   8 80,436       80,357             (79)              
Materials and services 13,573             14,003             430                   9 66,263       65,612             (651)           16
Depreciation 6,630               6,415               (215)                 10 27,098       26,098             (1,000)        17
Interest expense -                   -                   -                   106             106                   -              
Other expenses 3,609               3,373               (236)                 11 8,267         7,711               (556)           18
Total expenditure 42,798             43,320             522                   182,170     179,884          (2,286)        


Net surplus / (deficit) 100,893          99,776             1,117               24,055       25,095             (1,040)        


Year-to-Date Full Year
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Balance Sheet as at 30 September 2019 
 


 
 


2019/20 2018/19
30-Sep-19 30-Jun-19


$'000 $'000
ASSETS


Current assets
Cash and cash equivalents 18,943                        22,468                        
Trade and other receivables 127,316                      13,567                        
Other financial assets 213,902                      219,849                      
Other assets 243                              1,215                           
Non-current assets held for sale -                               1,800                           
Total current assets 360,404                      258,899                      


Non-current assets
Trade and other receivables 39                                 39                                 
Investments in associates 5,848                           5,848                           
Property, infrastructure, plant & equipment 3,341,681                  3,339,851                  
Intangible assets 946                              1,046                           
Total non-current assets 3,348,514                  3,346,784                  


Total assets 3,708,918                  3,605,683                  


LIABILITIES


Current liabilities
Trade and other payables 23,844                        20,447                        
Trust funds and deposits 9,757                           10,964                        
Provisions 16,331                        16,451                        
Interest bearing loans and borrowings 5,060                           5,047                           
Total current liabilities 54,992                        52,909                        


Non-current liabilities
Provisions 1,532                           1,532                           
Interest bearing loans and borrowings 212                              -                               
Other liabilities 1,034                           1,034                           
Total non-current liabilities 2,778                           2,566                           


Total liabilities 57,770                        55,475                        


Net assets 3,651,148                  3,550,208                  


EQUITY
Accumulated surplus 1,585,423                  1,484,533                  
Reserves 2,065,725                  2,065,675                  
Total equity 3,651,148                  3,550,208                  
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Cash Flow Statement for the period ending 30 September 2019 
 


 
  


2019/20 2018/19
30-Sep-19 30-Sep-18
 Inflows/  Inflows/ 


 (Outflows)  (Outflows) 
$'000 $'000


Cash Flows from Operating Activities:


Rates 18,056                     15,518                     
Statutory fees and fines 2,556                       2,459                       
User fees 13,767                     12,471                     
Grants - operating 5,297                       4,861                       
Grants - capital -                           -                           
Contributions - monetary 1,418                       1,715                       
Interest received 1,389                       1,121                       
Other receipts 823                          1,116                       
Fire Services Property Levy collected 2,693                       2,245                       
Employee benefits (20,486)                   (17,227)                   
Materials and services (25,513)                   (22,832)                   
Other payments (3,608)                      (3,198)                      
Fire Services Property Levy paid -                                -                                
Net cash from operating activities (3,608)                      (1,751)                      


Cash Flows from Investing Activities:


Payment for property, infrastructure, plant and equipment (8,312)                      (3,387)                      
Proceeds from sale of property, infrastructure, plant and equipment 2,274                       66                             
(Purchases)/sales of financial assets 5,947                       5,949                       
Repayment of loans and advances from community organisations (51)                           2                               
Net cash used in investing activities (142)                         2,630                       


Cash Flows from Financing Activities


Repayment of interest bearing loans and borrowings 225                          (11)                           
Interest paid -                                -                                
Net cash used in financing activities 225                          (11)                           


Net Increase/(decrease) in cash and cash equivalents (3,525)                      868                          
Cash and cash equivalents at 1 July 22,468                     10,999                     
Cash and cash equivalents as at end of period 18,943                     11,867                     
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Operating Income and Expenditure 
 
Graph 1.1:  Year-to-date Operating Income Variance 
 


 
 
 
Graph 1.2:  Year to Date Operating Expenditure Variance 
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Cash and Investments  
 
Graph 2.1:  Cash Flow Comparison 


 
 
Note: Restricted Funds includes cash that is subject to external restrictions such as trust funds and deposits, Public Open Space 
Reserve and the Car Parking Reserve. It also includes funds allocated for specific future purposes such as the Aged and Disability 
Reserve, Community Development Reserve, Waste Management Reserve, Art Collection Reserve and the Energy Fund Reserve. 
 
 
Graph 2.2:  Investment by Institution 
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Graph 2.3:  Cash and Investment Credit Ratings 
 


 
 
 
Graph 2.4:  Cash and Investment Portfolio Term to Maturity 
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Graph 2.5:  Investment Benchmark Indicator 
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Rate and Other Debtors 
 
Table 3.1:  Current Rates Collected 
 


  30-Sep-19 30-Sep-18 31-Aug-19 
  $'000 $'000 $'000 
YTD Current Rates Collected 17,092 14,039 5,749 
% Current Rates Collected 14.6% 12.4% 4.9% 


 
 
Graph 3.1:  Percentage of Current Rates Collected 
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Table 3.2:  General and Sundry Debtors 
 


  30-Sep-19 30-Sep-18 31-Aug-19 
  $'000 $'000 $'000 
        
Current 1,542 2,233 1,226 
30-60 Days 260 129 370 
61-90 Days 41 158 289 
91+ Days 179 109 94 
Total Owing 2,022 2,629 1,979 
        
Total over 60 days 220 267 383 
% over 60 days 10.9% 10.2% 19.4% 
        
Total over 90 days 179 109 94 
% over 90 days 8.8% 4.1% 4.8% 


 
 
Graph 3.2:  General and Sundry Debtors – Aged Comparison 
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Employee Costs 
 
Table 4.1: Employee Costs by Division 
 


Division YTD Actual YTD Budget YTD Variance 
  $'000 $'000 $'000 
City Development 2,411 2,404 (7) 
Corporate Services 5,136 5,398 262 
Infrastructure 2,744 2,879 135 
Human services 8,696 8,849 153 
Total Employee Costs 18,986 19,529 542 


 
 
Graph 4.1: Employee Costs – Actual to Budget Comparison  
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Graph 4.2: Employee Costs – Workers Compensation Claims  
 


 
 


Graph 4.3: Employee Costs – Total Days Lost 
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Section 6 – Audit Advisory Committee Minutes 
 
This section contains the Audit Advisory Committee minutes for the first quarter of the financial year being 
1 July to 30 September 2019. 
 
There were two Audit Advisory Committee meetings held this quarter on 19 August 2019 and 16 
September 2019. 
 
 
 
Audit Advisory Committee Minutes      19 August 2019  
 
1 OPENING OF THE MEETING 


 
The meeting commenced at 10.30 am in Meeting Room 9. 
 


2 PRESENT 
 
Mr Michael Said 
Ms Lisa Woolmer 
Cr Denise Massoud 
Cr Raylene Carr 
 
IN ATTENDANCE 
 
Mr Tony De Fazio – Acting Chief Executive Officer 
Mr Peter Smith – General Manager Corporate Services 
Mr Stuart Cann – Head Finance & Corporate Performance 
Mr Sanchu Chummar – VAGO 
Mr Jonathan Kyvelidis – VAGO 
 


3 APOLOGIES – Nil 
 


4 CONFIRMATION OF MINUTES – 20 May 2019 
 
Committee Resolution 
That the Minutes of the Meeting of 20 May 2019 be confirmed. 
Moved Cr Carr, Seconded Cr Massoud CARRIED 
 


5 MATTERS ARISING FROM PREVIOUS MEETING – Nil 


6 AUDIT COMMITTEE PLAN – Nil 


7 DISCLOSURE OF ANY CONFLICTS OF INTEREST – Nil 
 


8 CEO DECLARATION OF LEGAL COMPLIANCE 
 
The Acting CEO declared that he was not aware of any breach of legislative compliance.  
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9 ADOPTION OF THE 2018/2019 ANNUAL FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND 


PERFORMANCE STATEMENT 


Mr Kyvelidis presented the closing report, reporting a satisfactory conclusion. Mr Kyvelidis also 
presented the management letter.  Mr Said led discussion of the statements and notes to the accounts.  
Council was congratulated on the high standard of work undertaken to meet the deadlines. 
 
Committee Resolution 
That the report be received and forwarded to Council recommending that Council resolve that: 
1. The Annual Financial Statements and Performance Statement for 2018/19 be approved in 


principle. 
2. The Principal Accounting Officer be authorised to make minor amendments to the Annual 


Financial Statements and Performance Statement for 2018/19 to meet the Victorian Auditor 
General’s requirements. 


3. Cr Massoud and Cr Carr be authorised to sign the Annual Financial Statements and Performance 
Statement for 2018/19. 


4. The Chief Executive Officer be authorised to sign the Annual Financial Statements and 
Performance Statement for 2018/19. 


5. The final audited Annual Financial Statements and audited Performance Statement for 2018/19 
be forwarded to the Minister for Local Government as part of the Annual Report by 30 September 
2019. 


6. On completion of 5 above, public notice be given of: 
a) The availability of the report of the auditor under Section 9 of the Audit Act 1994. 
b) A meeting to be held for the purpose of discussing the Annual Report under Section 134 of 


the Local Government Act 1989 at 7.00 pm on 21 October 2019. 
 
Moved Cr Massoud, Seconded Cr Carr CARRIED 
 


10 OFFICERS REPORTS 
 
10.1 Financial & Performance Reports 
 
Annual Reporting of Councillor Expenses 
Mr Cann spoke to the circulated report. 
 
Committee Resolution 
That the Committee note the report. 
Moved Ms Woolmer, Seconded Cr Carr CARRIED 
 


11 OTHER BUSINESS 
 
VAGO Fraud & Corruption Control – Local Government 
The recently released report and the self-assessment against the VAGO recommendations was 
discussed and noted.  The AAC work plan and Charter specifically reviews fraud controls, training 
and risk as a matter of course. The AAC also noted it was standard practice at Whitehorse for it to 
receive self-assessments against major VAGO audits throughout the year. 
 
The Committee then met in camera with VAGO representatives at 11.55 am. 
 


12 CONFIRMATION OF DATE OF NEXT MEETING 
 
The next meeting is to be held at 10.30 am on Monday 16 September 2019. 
 


13 CLOSURE OF MEETING 
 
The meeting closed at 12.15 pm. 
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Audit Advisory Committee Minutes     16 September 2019  
 
1 OPENING OF THE MEETING 


 
The meeting commenced at 10.35 am in Meeting Room 9. 
 


2 PRESENT 
 
Mr Michael Said 
Ms Lisa Woolmer 
Cr Denise Massoud 
Cr Raylene Carr 
 
IN ATTENDANCE 
 
Mr Simon McMillan – Chief Executive Officer 
Mr Peter Smith – General Manager Corporate Services 
Mr Stuart Cann – Head Finance & Corporate Performance 
Mr Andrew Zavitsanos – Crowe Australasia 
 


3 APOLOGIES – Nil 
 


4 CONFIRMATION OF MINUTES – 19 August 2019 
 
Correction to list of attendees – Acting CEO should read Tony De Fazio, Sam Dixon was absent. 
Correction to Item 9, point 3 should read Cr Carr, not Stennett. 
 
Committee Resolution 
That the Minutes of the Meeting of 19 August 2019, as amended, be confirmed. 
Moved Cr Carr, Seconded Cr Massoud CARRIED 
 


5 MATTERS ARISING FROM PREVIOUS MEETING – Nil 


6 AUDIT COMMITTEE PLAN – Nil 


7 DISCLOSURE OF ANY CONFLICTS OF INTEREST – Nil  
 


8 CEO DECLARATION OF LEGAL COMPLIANCE 
 
The CEO declared that he was not aware of any breach of legislative compliance.  
 


9 INTERNAL AUDIT 
 
9.1 Status Report 
 
IA Progress Report September 
Mr Zavitsanos presented the progress report. 
 
Committee Resolution 
That the Committee note the report. 
Moved Ms Woolmer, Seconded Cr Carr CARRIED 
 
Reports & Publications Quarterly Update 
Mr Zavitsanos presented the quarterly update and highlighted key items of interest. 
 
Committee Resolution 
That the Committee note the report and management comments. 
Moved Cr Carr, Seconded Cr Massoud CARRIED 
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9.2 Audit Reports 
 
Procurement (Tendering) Review 
Mr Zavitsanos presented the internal audit report. It was noted that the one high risk matter had already 
been resolved. 
 
Committee Resolution 
That the Committee note the report. 
Moved Cr Massoud, Seconded Ms Woolmer CARRIED 
 
Local Laws Enforcement Review 
Mr Zavitsanos presented the internal audit report. There were no high risk issues noted. 
 
Committee Resolution 
That the Committee note the report. 
Moved Cr Carr, Seconded Cr Massoud CARRIED 
 
9.3 Audit Scopes 
 
Immunisation Management MAP 
Mr Zavitsanos presented the scope document. 
 
Committee Resolution 
That the Committee endorse the MAP. 
Moved Ms Woolmer, Seconded Cr Carr CARRIED 
 
9.4 Other (including matters scheduled from Audit Committee Plan) – Nil 
 


10 EXTERNAL AUDIT 
 
10.1 Reports – Nil 
 
10.2 Other (including matters scheduled from Audit Committee Plan) – Nil 
 


11 STATUS/FOLLOW UP OUTSTANDING 
 
11.1 Audit Report Items 
 
Progress on Internal Audit Report Recommendations 
The progress report on outstanding Internal Audit Report actions for the period was presented. 
 
The Committee noted that the completed items be removed from outstanding items subject to Crowe 
recommendation.  AAC accepts recommendation for removal of items noted as complete.  
 
Committee Resolution 
That the Committee endorse the progress report recommendations. 
Moved Cr Carr, Seconded Cr Massoud CARRIED 
 
11.2 Audit Committee Matters – Nil 
 


12 OFFICERS REPORTS 
 
12.1 Risk Management – Nil 
 
12.2 Financial & Performance Reports 
 
Draft Annual Report of Operations 2018/19 
Mr Cann spoke to the circulated report.  
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Committee Resolution 
That the Committee note the performance report. 
Moved Cr Carr, Seconded Cr Massoud CARRIED 
 
12.3 Fraud Control & Special Investigations – Nil 
 
12.4 Other (including matters scheduled from Audit Committee Plan) 
 
Corporate Policies Review 
The following policies circulated for review were discussed. 


 Corporate Credit Card Usage 
 Procurement 


 
It was suggested that point 4.2 of the Procurement Policy – the $0-$10,000 requirement for verbal 
quotes – only be reviewed, otherwise all aspects agreed. 
 
Committee Resolution 
That the Committee noted the circulated corporate policies. 
Moved Cr Massoud, Seconded Ms Woolmer CARRIED 
 


13 CORRESPONDENCE 
 
13.1 VAGO – Nil 
 
13.2 LGV 
 
Local Government Bill 2019 
The report was noted. 
 
13.3 MAV 
 
LAS Defined Benefit Plan VBI Update 
The update for the quarter was noted. 
 


14 OTHER BUSINESS – Nil 
 
Internal Auditors Contract Extension – Verbal Report 
Mr Cann reported that the IA contract was due and the option to extend the contract for up to 3 
further years, with authorisation given to the CEO to award an extension of the contract subject to a 
review of their performance at the conclusion of the initial 3 year contract term.  Mr Cann to arrange 
survey assessment for all AAC members and EMT. 
 


15 CONFIRMATION OF DATE OF NEXT MEETING 
 
The next meeting is to be held at 10.30 am on Monday 18 November 2019. 
 


16 CLOSURE OF MEETING 
 
The meeting closed at 12.00 pm. 
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WHITEHORSE CITY COUNCIL 
 


ORDER NO. 8 
 


COMPULSORY CAT DESEXING 
 


Section 10A (1) of the  
 


DOMESTIC ANIMALS ACT 1994 
 
 


  
1.  This Order repeals Whitehorse City Council Order No 3 made under section 


26(2) of the Domestic Animals Act 1994.  
 
2. Animal Registration 


Whitehorse City Council will not after April 9 2020 register a cat for the first 
time, unless the cat is desexed or is exempted under Section 10B (1) 
Domestic Animals Act 1994. 


 
3. Owner’s obligations 


An owner of a cat being registered for the first time with Whitehorse City 
Council must provide proof of desexing or proof of exemption as it applies to 
Section 10B (1) Domestic Animals Act 1994. 


 
4. Meaning of word 


In this order: 
a.  Owner has the same meaning as in the Domestic Animals Act 1994 
b.  First time registration means an application to register a domestic 


animal that is not currently registered with the Whitehorse City Council 
or any other municipal district in accordance with section 10 of the 
Domestic Animals Act 1994 


c.  Exemption is defined under Section 10B (1) Domestic Animals Act 
1994.  


 
This Order becomes effective April 9, 2020 
 
 
 
Simon McMillan 
CHIEF EXECUTIVE OFFICER 








WHITEHORSE CITY COUNCIL 
 


CAT CONFINEMENT 
 


ORDER NO. 9 
 


Section 25(2) 
 


DOMESTIC ANIMALS ACT 1994 
 
1. This Order repeals Whitehorse City Council Order No 4 made under section 


26(2) of the Domestic Animals Act 1994. 
 
2.  Cats must be confined 


The Owner of any cat/s kept in the Whitehorse City Council municipal district 
must keep the cat/s confined at night. 


 
3.  Owner’s obligations 


The owner of a cat kept in the Whitehorse City Council municipal district must 
confine their cat/s within a dwelling or an escape proof enclosure between the 
hours of 8.00pm and 6.00am. 


 
4.  Meaning of word 


In this order Owner has the same meaning as in the Domestic Animals Act 
1994 
 
 


This Order becomes effective January 1, 2020 
 
 
 
Simon McMillan 
CHIEF EXECUTIVE OFFICER 








WHITEHORSE CITY COUNCIL 
 


ORDER NO. 10 
 


DESIGNATED CAT PROHIBITED BUSHLAND RESERVES 
 


Section 26 (2) 
 


DOMESTIC ANIMALS ACT 1994 
 


1. This Order repeals Whitehorse City Council Order No 5 made under section 
26(2) of the Domestic Animals Act 1994. 
 


2. Areas Cats are Prohibited from entering 
The Owner of a cat must keep their cat from any designated Council 
Bushland reserve. 
 


3.  Owner’s obligations 
Cats are not permitted whether restrained or otherwise from entering any 
designated Council bushland reserve. 
 
4. Meaning of words 
In this order: 


 Owner has the same meaning as in the Domestic Animals Act 1994 


 Designated Council Bushland Reserves means any of the following 
reserves or part of the reserves listed below: 


 
 


Antonio Park 
 


Joseph Street Reserve 


Blackburn Creeklands  
 


Koonung Creek Parklands 
 


Blackburn Lake Sanctuary 
 


R E Gray Reserve 


Bellbird Dell 
 


Wandinong Sanctuary 
 


Campbells Croft 
 


Yarran Dheran 
 


Cootamundra Walk 
 


 


 
 
This Order becomes effective January 1, 2020 
 
 
 
Simon McMillan 
CHIEF EXECUTIVE OFFICER 





